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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION


Washington, D.C. 20549


F ORM 10-Q


QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934


For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007


Commission file number 0-24710


SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)


Delaware 52-1700207
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)


1221 Avenue of the Americas, 36th Floor
New York, New York 10020


(Address of principal executive offices)
(Zip code)


212-584-5100
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)


Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2)
has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [] No []


Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer (as defined in
Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).


Large Accelerated Filer []    Accelerated Filer []    Non-Accelerated Filer []


Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes [] No []


Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.


Common Stock, $0.001 par value 1,462,174,913 shares
(Class) (Outstanding as of April 30, 2007)
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS


(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)


Revenue:
Subscriber revenue, including effects of mail-in rebates
Advertising revenue, net of agency fees
Equipment revenue
Other revenue


Total revenue


For the Three Months
Ended March 31~


2007            2006


190,796 $ 115,181
6,721 7,338
4,671 3,692
1,849 453


204,037 126,664


Operating expenses (excludes depreciation shown separately below) (l) :
Cost of services:


Satellite and transmission
Programming and content
Revenue share and royalties
Customer service and billing
Cost of equipment


Sales and marketing
Subscriber acquisition costs
General and administrative
Engineering, design and development
Depreciation


a’otal operating expenses
Loss from operations


Other income (expense):
Interest and investment income
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized
Equity in net loss of affiliate
Other income


Total other expense
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense


Net loss
Net loss per share (basic and diluted)


Weighted average common shares outstanding (basic and diluted)


7,986 8,203
59,998 299,734
27,134 13,527
21,853 17,862
9,292 3,465


38,162 34,481
100,117 119,043
35,343 31,873
12,411 19,712
26,786 24 933


339,082 572,833
(135,045)


6,042 9,937
(15,192) (17,124)


(4,445)
5 10


(9,145) (11,622)
(144,190) (457,791)


(555) ’(753)


s (0.10)
1 ~457~011 1 ~386~982


(1) Amounts related to stock-based compensation included in other operating expenses were as follows:


Satellite and transmission
Programming and content


Customer service and billing
Sales and marketing


Subscriber acquisition costs


General and administrative


Engineering, design and development


Total stock-based compensation


See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements


656 $ 902


2,935 249,800


199 244


5,644 2,202


1,880 9,899


11,940 14,506


1,006 7,033


$ 24,260 $ 284,586







SIRIUSSATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS


(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)


ASSETS
Current assets:


Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of
$4,634 and $3,183 at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006,
respectively
Receivables from distribution partners
Inventory, net
Prepaid expenses
Restricted investments


Other current assets
Total current assets


Property and equipment, net
FCC license
Restricted investments, net of current portion
Deferred financing fees
Other long-term assets


Total assets


March 31~ 2007


(Unaudited)


December 31� 2006


$ 259,162 $ 393,421
4,650 15,500


15,462
54,394
34,975
53,939
25,310
31,910


479,802
795,018
83,654
52,850
12,401
82,422


$ 1,506,147


24,189
46,825
34,502
52,588
25,000
25,241


617,266
810,389
83,654
52,850
13,166
81,203


1~658,528


LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:


Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest
Deferred revenue


Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Other long-term liabilities


Total liabilities
Commitments and eontingeneies’(Note 11)
Stockholders’ equity:


Common stock, $0.001 par value: 2,500,000,000 shares authorized,
1,461,371,331 and 1,434,635,501 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2007 and De.ember 31, 2006, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit


Total stockholders’ deficit


Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit


$ 301,060
13,015


436,627
750,702


1,067,339
74,054
35,962


1~928,057


$ 437,913
24,782


412,370


875,065
1,068,249


76,580
27,705


2~047,599


1,461 1,435
3,555,094 3,443,214


(3,978,465) (3,833,720)
, (421,910) (389,071)
$    1,506,147 $    1,658,528


See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.







Balances, December 3 I, 2006


Net loss


Issuance of common stock to
employees and employee benefit plans


Issuance of common stock to
¯ i~d panics


Compensation in connection with the
issuance of stock-based awards


Exercise of options, $0.65 to $3.30 per share


Exercise of warrantS, $2.392 per share


Exchange of 3 1/2 % Convertible Notes due


2008, including accrued interest


Exohange of 2 1/2 % Convertible Notes due


2009, including accrued interest


Balances, March 31, 2007


SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY


(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)


Additional


Common Stock Paid-In


Share~ Amount Capital


1,434,635,501 $ 1,435 $    3,443,214


3,026,403


22,058,824


286,202


705,978


657,970


453


1,461,371~331


3 11,558


22 82,919


16,144


356


(i)


902


2


$ 1~461 $    3~555,094


See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements


Accumulated


Deficit


(3,833,720)


(144,745)


$ 43,978,465)


Total


(389,071)


(144,745)


11,561


82,941


16,144


356


902







SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS


(In thousands)
(Unaudited)


Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:


Depreciation
Non-cash interest expense
Provision for doubtful accounts
Non-cash equity in net loss of affiliate
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes


Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Receivables from distribution partners
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest
Deferred revenue
Other long-term liabilities


Net cash used in operating activities
~,. ~ash flows from investing activities:


Additions to property and equipment
Sales of property and equipment
Purchases of restricted and other investments
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Sales of available-for-sale securities


Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:


Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by investing activities


Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period


For the Three Months Ended March 31~
2007 2006


(144,745) $ (458,544)


26,786 24,933
754 761


2,088 1,777
4,445


(4) 221
24,260 284,586


555 753


6,639 9,952
(473) (1,198)


(7,569) (8,687)
(9,173) (13,071)
(2,924) 579


(47,811) (45,220)
(11,763) (10,460)
21,731 44,458
7,702 7,543


(133,947) (157,172)


(12,458) (5,496)
96 52


(310) (2,869)
- (71,600)


10,850 104,450
(1,822) 24,537


1~510 1,459
1~510 1,459


(134,259) (131,176)
393,421 762,007
259,162 $    630,831







SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS


(In thousands)
(Unaudited)


Supplemental Disclosure of Cash and Non-Cash Flow Information:


Cash paid during the period for:


Interest, net of amounts capitalized


Income taxes


Non-cash operating activities:


Common stock issued in satisfaction of accrued compensation


Non-cash investing and financing activities:


Common stock issued in exchange of 3 ½% Convertible Notes due 2008,


including accrued interest


Common stock issued in exchange of 2 ½% Convertible Notes due 2009,


including accrued interest


Common stock issued to third parties


See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements


For the Three Months Ended
March 31~


2007 2006


26,200


123


7,949


26,819


474


7,243


902


2


82,941


502


224,833







Business


SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stated)
(Unaudited)


We are a satellite radio provider in the United States. We currently broadcast over 130 channels of programming to listeners across the
country. We offer 69 channels of 100% commercial-free music and feature 65 channels of sports, news, talk, entertainment, traffic and weather
for a monthly subscription fee of $12.95.


We broadcast through our proprietary satellite radio system, which currently consists of three orbiting satellites, 127 terrestrial repeaters
that receive and retransmit our signal, a satellite uplink facility and our studios. Subscribers receive our service through SIRIUS radios, which
are sold by automakers, consumer electronics retailers, mobile audio dealers and through our website. Subscribers can also receive our music
channels and certain other channels over the Internet. As of March 31, 2007, we had 6,581,045 subscribers.


Our music channels are available to DISH satellite television subscribers and certain of our music channels are offered to Sprint
subscribers over multi-media handsets. We also offer traffic and weather data services for a separate fee. Subscribers to DISH satellite
television, Sprint and our traffic and weather data services are not included in our subscriber count.


In 2005, SIRIUS Canada Inc., a Canadian corporation owned by us, Canadian Broadcasting Corporation and Standard Radio Inc.,
received a license from the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission to offer a satellite radio service in Canada. In
December 2005, SIRIUS Canada launched service in Canada with 110 channels of commercial-free music and news, sports, talk and
entertainment programming, including 11 channels of Canadian content. Subscribers to the SIRIUS Canada service are not included in our
subscriber count.


We and XM Radio announced on February 19, 2007 a definitive agreement, under which we will combine in a tax-free, all-stock merger
of equals. Under the terms of the agreement, XM Radio stockholders will receive 4.6 shares of our common stock for each share of XM Radio
they own. XM Radio and our stockholders will each own approximately 50% of the combined company. The transaction is subject to approval
by XM Radio and our stockholders, the satisfaction of customary closing conditions and regulatory review and approvals, including antitrust


and the FCC. We and XM Radio expect the transaction to be completed by the end of the year.


.... . Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation


The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. and subsidiaries have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted aceonnting principles and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X for interim
financial reporting. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles for complete financial statements. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.


In presenting unaudited consolidated financial statements, management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported and related disclosures. Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgment and available information. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. In the opinion of management, all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements as of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, and for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 have been recorded. The
results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full
year. Our unandited consolidated financial statements should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and footnotes
contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2006.


3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies


Revenue Recognition


Revenue from subscribers consists of subscription fees; revenue derived from our agreement with Hertz; non-refundable activation fees;
and the effects of mail-in rebates.


I II







SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued


(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stated)
.o (Unaudited)


~
We recognize subscription fees as our service is provided to a subscriber. We record deferred revenue for prepaid subscription fees and


amortize these prepayments to revenue ratably over the term of the respective subscription plan.


At the time of sale, vehicle owners purchasing or leasing a vehicle with a subscription to our service typically receive between a six
month and one year prepaid subscription. We receive payment from automakers for these subscriptions in advance of our service being
activated. Such prepayments are recorded to deferred revenue and amortized ratably over the service period upon activation and sale to a
customer. We also reimburse automakers for certain costs associated with the SIRIUS radio installed in the applicable vehicle at the time the
vehicle is manufactured. The associated payments to the automakers are included in subscriber acquisition costs. Although we receive
payments from the automakers, they do not resell our service; rather, automakers facilitate the sale of our service to our customers, acting
similar to an agent. We believe this is the appropriate characterization of our relationship since we are responsible for providing service to our
customers including being obligated to the customer if there was interruption of service.


Activation fees are recognized ratably over the estimated term of a subscriber relationship, currently estimated to be 3.5 years. The
estimated term of a subscriber relationship is based on market research and management’s judgment and, if necessary, will be refined in the
future as historical data becomes available.


As required by Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") No. 01-09, "Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer
(Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products)," an estimate of mail-in rebates that are paid by us directly to subscribers is recorded as a
reduction to revenue in the period the subscriber activates our service. For certain mail-in rebate promotions, a subscriber must remain active
for a specified period of time to be considered eligible. In those instances, such estimate is recorded as a reduction to revenue over the required
activation period. We estimate the effects of mail-in rebates based on actual take-rates for rebate incentives offered in prior periods, adjusted as
deemed necessary based on current take-rate data available at the time. In subsequent periods, estimates are adjusted when necessary.


We recognize revenues from the sale of advertising on some of our non-music channels as the advertising is broadcast. Agency fees are
calculated based on a stated percentage applied to gross billing revenue for our advertising inventory and are reported as a reduction of
advertising revenue. Advertising revenue includes advertising sold in exchange for goods or services (barter) recorded at fair value. Revenue
~’om barter transactions is recognized when the advertising is broadcast and goods or services exchanged are received. Goods or services


~eived are charged to expense when received and/or used. Barter transactions are not significant to our unaudited consolidated financial
statements. We pay certain third parties a percentage of advertising revenue. Advertising revenue is recorded gross of such revenue share
payments in accordance with EITF No. 99-19, "Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent," as we are the primary obliger
in the transaction. Advertising revenue share is recorded in the period the advertising is broadcast.


Equipment revenue from the direct sale of SIRIUS radios and accessories is recognized upon shipment. Shipping and handling costs
billed to customers are recorded as revenue. Shipping and handling costs associated with shipping goods to customers are recorded to cost of
equipment.


EITF No. 00-21, "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables," provides guidance on how and when to
recognize revenues for arrangements that may involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use assets.
Revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables are required to be divided into separate units of accounting if the deliverables in the
arrangement meet certain criteria. Arrangement consideration must be allocated among the separate units of accounting based on their relative
fair values.


We determined that the sale of our service through our direct to consumer channel with accompanying equipment constitutes a revenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables. In these types of arrangements, amounts received for equipment are recognized as equipment revenue;
amounts received for service are recognized as subscription revenue; and amounts received for the non-refundable, up-front activation fee that
are not contingent on the delivery of the service are allocated to equipment revenue. Activation fees are recorded to equipment revenue only to
the extent that the aggregate equipment and activation fee proceeds do not exceed the fair value of the equipment. Any activation fees not
allocated to the equipment are deferred upon activation and recognized as subscriber revenue on a straight-line basis over the estimated term of
a subscriber relationship.







SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued


(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stated)
(Unaudited)


Stock-Based Compensation


Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment" ("SFAS No. 123R"),
using the modified prospective transition method. The stock-based compensation cost recognized beginning January 1, 2006 includes
compensation cost for all stock-based awards granted to employees and members of our board of directors (i) prior to, but not vested as of,
January 1, 2006 based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation," and (ii) subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123R.


Compensation cost under SFAS No. 123R is recognized ratably using the straight-line attribution method over the expected vesting
period.


SFAS No. 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated on the grant date and revised in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. As of January 1, 2006, the cumulative
effect of adopting the estimated forfeiture method was not significant.


Pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, we recognized $16,935 and $21,950 of compensation cost for stock-based awards granted to employees
and members of our board of directors for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Total unrecognized compensation
related to unvested stock-based awards granted to employees and members of our board of directors at March 31, 2007, net of estimated
forfeitures, is $114,259 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of three years.


Effective January 1, 2006, we account for stock-based awards granted to non-employees, other than non-employee members of our
board of directors, at fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 123R and SEC guidance contained in Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No.
107. The fair value of equity instruments granted to non-employees is measured in accordance with EITF No. 96-18, "Accounting for Equity
Instruments That are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services." The final


~ asurement date of equity instruments with performance criteria is the date that each performance commitment for such equity instrument is
isfied or there is a significant disincentive for non-performance.


Stock-based awards granted to employees, non-employees and members of our board of directors generally include warrants, stock
options, restricted stock and restricted stock units.


We estimate the fair value of stock-based awards using the Black-Scholes option valuation model ("Blaek-Scholes"). Black-Seholes was
developed to estimate the fair market value of traded options, which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option valuation
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. Because our stock-based awards have characteristics significantly different from
those of traded options and because changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the fair market value estimate, the existing
option valuation models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of our stock-based awards.


Fair value determined using Blaek-Scholes varies based on assumptions used for the expected life, expected stock price volatility and
risk-free interest rates. For stock-based awards granted prior to 2006, we used historical volatility of our stock over a period equal to the
expected life of such awards to estimate their fair value. We estimated the fair value of awards granted since January 1, 2006 using the implied
volatility of actively traded options on our stock. We believe that implied volatility is more representative of future stock price trends than
historical volatility. The expected life assumption represents the weighted-average period stock-based awards are expected to remain
outstanding. These expected life assumptions are established through a review of historical exercise behavior of stock-based award grants with
similar vesting periods. Where historical patterns do not exist contractual terms are used. The risk-free interest rate represents the daily treasury
yield curve rate at the reporting date based on the closing market bid yields on actively traded U.S. treasury securities in the over-the-counter
market for the expected term. Our assumptions may change in future periods.


The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions used to compute reported stock-based compensation to employees
and members of our board of directors for the periods set forth below:







SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued


(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stated)
(Unaudited)


Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of options - years
Expected stock price volatility
Expected dividend yield


For the Three Months
Ended March 31~


2007 2006
4.8% 4.1%
4.45 4.45%
60% 60%
N/A N/A


The following table summarizes the range of assumptions used to compute reported stock-based compensation to third parties, other
than non-employee members of our board of directors, for the periods set forth below:


Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of options - years
Expected stock price volatility
Expected dividend yield


For the Three Months
Ended March 31~


2007 2006
4.5 - 4.9% 4.3 - 4.9%
2.50 - 8.91 1.67 - 10.00


60% 60%
N/A N/A


SFAS No. 123R changes the presentation of realized excess tax benefits associated with the exercise of stock options in the statements
of cash flows. Excess tax benefits are realized tax benefits from tax deductions for the exercise of stock options in excess of the deferred tax
asset attributable to stock-based compensation expense for such options. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, such realized tax benefits
were required to be presented as operating cash flows. SFAS No. 123R requires such realized tax benefits to be presented as part of cash flows
from financing activities. No income tax benefits have been realized from stock option exercises during the three months ended March 31,


~07 and 2006 because a valuation allowance was maintained for all net deferred tax assets.


Subscriber Acquisition Costs


Subscriber acquisition costs include hardware subsidies paid to radio manufacturers, distributors and automakers, including subsidies
paid to automakers who include a SIRIUS radio and a prepaid subscription to our service in the sale or lease price of a new vehicle; subsidies
paid for chip sets and certain other components used in manufacturing radios; commissions paid to retailers and automakers as incentives to
purchase, install and activate SIRIUS radios; product warranty obligations; provisions for inventory allowance; and compensation costs
associated with stock-based awards granted in connection with certain distribution agreements. The majority of subscriber acquisition costs are
incurred in advance of acquiring a subscriber. Subscriber acquisition costs do not include advertising, loyalty payments to distributors and
dealers of SIRIUS radios and revenue share payments to automakers and retailers of SIRIUS radios. Subscriber acquisition costs also do not
include amounts capitalized in connection with our agreement with Hertz, as we retain ownership of certain SIRIUS radios used by Hertz.


Subsidies paid to radio manufacturers and automakers are expensed upon shipment or installation. Commissions paid to retailers and
automakers are expensed either upon activation or sale of the SIRIUS radio. Chip sets that are shipped to radio manufacturers and held on
consignment are recorded as inventory and expensed as subscriber acquisition costs when placed into production by radio manufacturers. Costs
for chip sets not held on consignment are expensed as subscriber acquisition costs when the chip sets are shipped to radio manufacturers.


We record product warranty obligations in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation ("FIN") No. 45,
"Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34." FIN No. 45 requires a guarantor to
recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken by issuing the guarantee. We warrant that
certain products sold through our retail and direct to consumer distribution channels will perform in all material respects in accordance with
specifications in effect at the time of the purchase of the products by the customer. We provide a 12-month warranty on our products from
purchase date for repair or replacement of components and/or products that
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued


(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stated)
(Unaudited)


~ ntain defects of material or workmanship. Customers may exchange products directly to the retailer within 30 days of purchase. We record a
liability for an estimate of costs that we expect to incur under our warranty when the product is shipped from the manufacturer. Factors
affecting our warranty liability include the number of units sold and historical and anticipated rates of claims and costs per claim. We
periodically assess the adequacy of our warranty liability based on changes in these factors.


The following table reconciles the beginning and ending aggregate product warranty liability:


Balance, December 31, 2006
Accrual for warranties issued during the period
Settlements during the period
Balance, March 31, 2007


Product
Warranty
Liability


$ 5,041
433


(3,110)


Research and Development Costs


Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development Oosts for the three months ended March 31, 2007
and 2006 were $10,050 and $14,428, respectively. These costs are included in engineering, design and development expenses in our
accompanying unandited consolidated statements of operations.


Income Taxes


We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" and FIN No. 48, "Accounting for
in Income Taxes." Deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences related to temporary differences between the


trying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes at each year-end, based on
-enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. A valuation
allowance is established when necessary based on the weight of available evidence, if it is considered more likely than not, that all or some
portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Income tax expense is the sum of current income tax plus the change in deferred tax
assets and liabilities.


Net (Loss) Income Per Share


We compute net (loss) income per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share." Basic net (loss) income per share is
calculated using the weighted average common shares outstanding during each reporting period. Diluted net (loss) income per share adjusts the
weighted average common shares outstanding for the potential dilution that could occur if common stock equivalents (convertible debt,
warrants, stock options and restricted stock units) were exercised or converted into common stock. Common stock equivalents of
approximately 167,000,000 and 210,000,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, were not considered in the
calculation of diluted net loss per share as the effect would have been anti-dilutive.


Comprehensive (Loss) Income


We report comprehensive (loss) income in accordance with SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income." SFAS No. 130
established a standard for reporting and displaying other comprehensive (loss) income and its components within financial statements. Net
income (loss) and unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are the only components of our other comprehensive loss.
Comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 was $144,745 and $458,544, respectively.


Inventory


Inventory consists of finished goods, chip sets and other raw material components used in manufacturing radios. Included in our finished
inventory are certain new products not shipped by our distributor to its customers within 90 days of receipt of goods. Such products are


repurchased by our distributor upon receipt of a customer order.
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Inventory is stated at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, or market. We record an estimated allowance for
inventory that is considered slow moving and obsolete or whose carrying value is in excess of net realizable value. The allowance provision
related to product purchased for our direct to consumer distribution channel is recorded to cost of equipment in our unaudited consolidated
statements of operations. The remaining allowance provision is recorded to subscriber acquisition costs in our unaudited consolidated
statements of operations. The total allowance for inventory was $11,158 and $2,851 as of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006,
respectively.


At times we provide equipment to existing subscribers free of charge as part of retention efforts. The cost of the equipment is charged to
cost of equipment in our unaudited consolidated statements of operations.


Inventory consists of the following:


March 31~ 2007 December 31~ 2006
Raw materials $ 15,600 $ 16,459
Finished goods 19,375 18~043
Total inventory $ 34,975 $ 34,502


Investments


Our investments consist of the following:


Marketable securities
Restricted investments
Investment, stated at cost


Total investments


March 31, 2007 D eeember 31~ 2006
$ 4,650 $ 15,500


78,160 77,850
5,000 5,000


$ 87,810 $ 98,350


Marketable Securities


We account for marketable securities in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities." Marketable securities consist of certificates of deposit and auction rate securities. As of March 31, 2007 and December
31, 2006, certificates of deposit were $4,650 for both periods, and auction rate securities were $0 and $10,850, respectively. The basic
objectives of our investment policy are the preservation of capital, maintaining suffleient liquidity to meet operating requirements and
maximizing yield. We classify our marketable securities as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair market
value. Unrealized gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income as a separate component of stockholders’
equity. Realized gains and losses, dividends and interest income, including amortization of the premium and discount arising at purchase, are
included in interest and investment income. The specific-identification method is used to determine the cost of all securities and the basis by
which amounts are reclassified from accumulated comprehensive (loss) income into earnings. While the underlying securities of auction rate
securities have contractual maturities of more than 20 years, the interest rates on such securities reset at intervals of 28 or 35 days. Auction rate
securities are priced and trade as short-term investments because of such interest rate reset feature.


We received proceeds from the sale or maturity of marketable securities of $10,850, and $104,450 for the three months ended March 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. There were no unrealized holding gains or losses on marketable securities as of March 31, 2007 and December
31, 2006.


Restricted Investments


As of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, short-term restricted investments of $25,310 and $25,000, respectively, primarily
included certificates of deposit placed in escrow for the benefit of a third party pursuant to a programming agreement.
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to programming agreements and certificates of deposit placed in escrow to secure our reimbursement obligations under letters of credit issued
for the benefit of lessors of office space.


Cost Method Investment


In September 2006, we invested in a third party for strategic purposes. We account for this investment under the cost method. The
carrying value of our investment was $5,000 at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 and is included in other long-term assets in our
accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheet.


Equity Method Investment


We have a 49.9% economic interest in SIRIUS Canada. Our investment in SIRIUS Canada is recorded using the equity method since we
have significant influence, but less than a controlling voting interest. Under this method, our investment in SIRIUS Canada, originally recorded
at cost, is adjusted to recognize our share of net earnings or losses as they occur rather than as dividends or other distributions are received,
limited to the extent of our investment in, advances to and commitments to fund SIRIUS Canada. Our share of net earnings or losses of SIRIUS
Canada is recorded to equity in net loss of affiliate in our accompanying unandited consolidated statements of operations. We recorded $0 and
$4,445 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, for our share of SIRIUS Canada’s net loss.


Merger Costs


We have incurred approximately $4.6 million in direct costs for the three months ended March 31, 2007 in connection with our pending
merger with XM Radio. In accordance with SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations," which specifies that the cost of an entity acquired in a
business combination include the direct costs of the business combination, we have capitalized and included such costs in other long-term
assets in our accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheet.


O Reclassifications


~’- Certain amounts in the prior period unaudited consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period
presentation. Specifically, we reclassified both broadcast and webstreaming royalties from programming and content expenses and revenue
share from programming and content expenses and sales and marketing expenses to a separate line item, revenue share and royalties. In
addition, we reclassified bad debt expense from general and administrative expenses to customer service and billing expenses.


Recent Accounting Pronouncements


In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements," which defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007 and for interim periods within those years. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption, if any, that SFAS No. 157 will have on
our consolidated results of operations and financial position.


In September 2006, the FASB issued EITF No. 06-01, "Accounting for Consideration Given by a Service Provider to Manufacturers or
Resellers of Equipment Necessary for an End-Customer to Receive Service from the Service Provider." The EITF concluded that if
consideration given by a service provider to a third-party manufacturer or reseller that is not the service provider’s customer can be linked
contractually to the benefit received by the service provider’s customer, a service provider should account for the consideration in accordance
with EITF No. 01-09, "Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer." EITF No. 06-01 is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning after June 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effects that EITF No. 06-01 will have on our consolidated results of
operations and financial position.


In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities," which
permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective of SFAS No. 159 is to
provide entities a method to mitigate volatility in reporting earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently without
having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. SFAS
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~,4o. 159 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effects that SFAS No.
159 will have on our consolidated results of operations and financial position.


4. Subscriber Revenue


Subscriber revenue consists of subscription fees, revenue derived from our agreement with Hertz, non-refundable activation fees and the
effects of mail-in rebates. Revenues received from automakers for prepaid subscriptions included in the sale or lease price of a new vehicle are
also included in subscriber revenue over the service period upon activation and sale to the customer.


Subscriber revenue consists of the following:


For the Three Months Ended March 31,
2007          2006


Subscription fees $ 189,969 $ 117,991
Activation fees 5,319 3,724
Effects of mail-in rebates (4~492) (6~534)


Total subscriber revenue $ 190,796 $ 115,181


5. Interest Costs


We capitalize a portion of the interest on funds borrowed to finance the construction and launch of our new satellite. The following is a
summary of our interest cost:


Interest costs charged to expense


Interest costs capitalized


Total interest costs incurred


For the Three Months Ended March 31~
2007 2006


$ 15,192 $ 17,124
1,814 -


6. Related Party Transactions


In 2005, we entered into a license and services agreement with SIRIUS Canada. Pursuant to such agreement, we are reimbursed for
certain costs incurred by us to provide SIRIUS Canada service, including certain costs we incur for the production and distribution of radios
used by its subscribers as well as information technology support costs. In consideration for the rights granted pursuant to the license and
services agreement, SIRIUS Canada Inc. pays us a royalty based on a percentage of its annual gross revenues. Additionally, the initial
financing we provided to SIRIUS Canada is by way of subscription to non-voting shares which carry an 8% cumulative dividend.


Total costs reimbursed by SIRIUS Canada for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 were $1,877 and $2,566, respectively.
We recorded $516 and $103 in royalty income for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Such royalty income was
recorded to other income in our accompanying unaudited consolidated statements of operations. We also recorded dividend income of $206
and $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, which was included in interest and investment income in our
accompanying unaudited consolidated statements of operations.


Amounts due from SIRIUS Canada at March 31, 2007 were $3,755, of which $1,379 and $2,376 are included in other current assets and
other long-term assets, respectively, on our accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheets. Amounts due from SIRIUS Canada at
December 31, 2006 were $4,157, of which $2,502 and $1,655 are included in other current assets and other long-term assets, respectively, on
our accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amounts payable to SIRIUS Canada at March 31, 2007 and December 31,2006 to fund
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-.    emaining capital requirements were $1,148 and are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying unaudited
consolidated balance sheets.


7. Long-Term Debt


Long-term debt consists of the following:


9 5/8 % Senior Notes due 2013
3 %% Convertible Notes due 2011
2½% Convertible Notes due 2009
3 ½% Convertible Notes due 2008
8%% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009


Total long-term debt


Conversion
Price


(per share)
N/A


$ 5.30
4.41
1.38


28.4625


March 31, 2007
$ 500,000 $


230,000
299,998
35,597


1,744
$ 1~067~339


As of
December 3!~ 2006


500,000
230,000
300,000
36,505


1,744
$ 1 068 249


9 s/s % Senior Notes due 2013


In August 2005, we issued $500,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 9 5/8 % Senior Notes due 2013 resulting in net proceeds of
$493,005. Our 9 5 / 8 % Senior Notes due 2013 mature on August 1, 2013 and interest is payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of
each year. The obligations under our 9 5 / 8 % Senior Notes due 2013 are not secured by any of our assets.


3¼% Convertible Notes due 2011


In October 2004, we issued $230,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 3 %% Convertible Notes due 2011 resulting in net proceeds of
$224,813. These notes are convertible, at the option of the holder, into shares of our common stock at any time at a conversion rate of 188.6792
shares of common stock for each $1,000.00 principal amount, or $5.30 per share of common stock, subject to certain adjustments. Our 3 ¼%
Convertible Notes due 2011 mature on October 15, 2011 and interest is payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year. The
obligations under our 3¼% Convertible Notes due 2011 are not secured by any of our assets.


2½% Convertible Notes due 2009


In February 2004, we issued $250,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 2½% Convertible Notes due 2009 resulting in net proceeds
of $244,625. In March 2004, we issued an additional $50,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 2½% Convertible Notes due 2009 pursuant
to an option granted in connection with the initial offering of the notes, resulting in net proceeds of $48,975. These notes are convertible, at the
option of the holder, into shares of our common stock at any time at a conversion rate of 226,7574 shares of common stock for each $1,000.00
principal amount, or $4.41 per share of common stock, subject to certain adjustments. Our 2½% Convertible Notes due 2009 mature on
February 15, 2009 and interest is payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year. The obligations under our 2 ½%
Convertible Notes due 2009 are not secured by any of our assets.


During the three months ended March 31, 2007, holders of $2 in aggregate principal amount of our 2½% Convertible Notes due 2009
presented such notes for conversion in accordance with the terms of the indenture. We issued 453 shares of our common stock upon conversion
of these notes.


3½ % Convertible Notes due 2008


In May 2003, we issued $201,250 in aggregate principal amount of our 3½% Convertible Notes due 2008 resulting in net proceeds of
$194,224. These notes are convertible, at the option of the holder, into shares of our common stock at any time at a conversion rate of 724.6377
shares of common stock for each $1,000.00 principal amount, or $1.38 per share of common stock, subject to certain adjustments. Our 3 ½%


Notes due 2008 mature on June 1, 2008 and interest is payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The
,ligations under our 3½% Convertible Notes due 2008 are not secured by any of our assets.
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During the three months ended March 31, 2007, holders of $908 in aggregate principal amount of our 3 ½% Convertible Notes due 2008
presented such notes for conversion in accordance with the terms of the indenture. We issued 657,970 shares of our common stock upon
conversion of these notes. During the three months ended March 31, 2006, holders of $508 in aggregate principal amount of our 3½%
Convertible Notes due 2008 presented such notes for conversion in accordance with the terms of the indenture. We issued 368,115 shares of
our common stock upon conversion of these notes.


Space Systems/Loral Credit Agreement


In June 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement with Space Systems/Loral (the "Credit Agreement"). Under the Credit Agreement,
Space Systems/Loral has agreed to make loans to us in an aggregate principal amount of up to $100,000 to finance the purchase of our new
satellite. Loans made under the Credit Agreement will be secured by our rights under the Satellite Purchase Agreement with Space
Systems/Loral, including our rights to the new satellite. The loans are also entitled to the benefits era subsidiary guarantee from Satellite CD
Radio, Inc., our subsidiary that holds our FCC license, and any future material subsidiary that may be formed by us. The maturity date of the
loans is the earliest to occur of(i) April 6, 2009, (ii) 90 days after the new satellite becomes available for shipment and (iii) 30 days prior to the
scheduled launch of the new satellite. Any loans made under the Credit Agreement generally will bear interest at a variable rate equal to three-
month LIBOR plus 4.75%. The daily unused balance bears interest at a rate per annum equal to 0.50%, payable quarterly on the last day of
each March, June, September and December. The Credit Agreement permits us to prepay all or a portion of the loans outstanding without
penalty. We have not borrowed under this Credit Agreement as of March 31, 2007.


Covenants and Restrictions


Our 9 5 / 8 % Senior Notes due 2013 and our Credit Agreement with Space Systems/Loral require us to comply with certain covenants
that restrict our ability to, among other things, (i) incur additional indebtedness, (ii) incur liens, (iii) pay dividends or make certain other
restricted payments, investments or acquisitions, (iv) enter into certain transactions with affiliates, (v) merge or consolidate with another
person, (vi) sell, assign, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets, and (vii) make voluntary prepayments of certain debt,
in each case subject to exceptions as provided in the 9 5 / s % Senior Notes due 2013 indenture and the Credit Agreement. If we fail to comply


.... ~th these covenants, our 9 5 / s % Senior Notes due 2013 and any loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement could become immediately


..... .yable and the Credit Agreement could be terminated. At March 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all such covenants.


8. Stockholders’ Equity


Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share


We are authorized to issue 2,500,000,000 shares of our common stock as of March 31, 2007. As of March 31, 2007, approximately
387,477,000 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance in connection with outstanding convertible debt, warrants, incentive stock
plans and common stock to be granted to third parties upon satisfaction of performance targets. During the three months ended March 31, 2007,
employees exercised 286,202 stock options at exercise prices ranging from $0.65 to $3.30 per share, resulting in proceeds to us of $356. Of this
amount, $335 was collected as of March 31, 2007. We also collected $1,175 in 2007 related to stock option exercises that occurred in 2006.


In January 2007, Howard Stern and his agent were granted an aggregate of 22,058,824 shares of our common stock as a result of certain
performance targets that were satisfied on December 31, 2006. We recognized expense associated with these shares of $0 and $20,625,
respectively, during the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006.


In January 2006, Howard Stern and his agent were granted an aggregate of 34,375,000 shares of our common stock as a result of certain
performance targets that were satisfied in January 2006. We recognized expense associated with these shares of $224,813 during the three
months ended March 31, 2006.


In January 2004, we signed a seven-year agreement with the NFL. We delivered to the NFL 15,173,070 shares of our common stock
valued at $40,967 upon execution of this agreement. These shares of common stock are subject to transfer restrictions which lapse over time.
We recognized expense associated with these shares of $1,641
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ng each of the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006. Of the remaining $23,336 in common stock value, $5,852 and $17,484 are
included in other current assets and other long-term assets, respectively, on our accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheets as of
March 31, 2007.


Warrants


We have issued warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in connection with distribution and programming agreements and
certain debt issuances. As of March 31, 2007, warrants to acquire 88,717,626 shares of our common stock with an average exercise price of
$3.34 were outstanding. These warrants vest over time or upon the achievement of milestones and expire at various times through June 2014.
For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, we recognized expense of $5,199 and $14,371, respectively, in connection with these
warrants.


9. BenefitPlans


Stock-Based Awards


In January 2003, our board of directors adopted the Sirius Satellite Radio 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (the "2003 Plan"), and
on March 4, 2003 our stockholders approved this plan. On May 25, 2004, our stockholders approved an amendment to the 2003 Plan to include
members of our board of directors as eligible participants. Employees, consultants and members of our board of directors are eligible to receive
awards under the 2003 Plan. The 2003 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other stock-based
awards that the compensation committee of our board of directors may deem appropriate.


Vesting and other terms of stock-based awards are set forth in the agreements with the individuals receiving the awards. Stock-based
awards granted under the 2003 Plan are generally subject to a vesting requirement that includes one or all of the following: (1) over time,
generally three to five years from the date of grant; (2) on a specific date in future periods, with acceleration to earlier periods if performance


are satisfied; or (3) as certain performance targets set at the time of grant are achieved. Stock-based awards generally expire ten years
!3m the date of grant. Each restricted stock unit entitles the holder to receive one share of our common stock upon vesting.


As of March 31, 2007, approximately 86,213,000 stock options, shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units were outstanding. As
of March 31, 2007, approximately 74,235,000 shares of our common stock were available for grant under the 2003 Plan.


The following table summarizes stock option activity under our stock incentive plans for the three months ended March, 31 2007 (shares
in thousands):


Outstanding at December 31, 2006
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired


Outstanding at March 31, 2007


Exercisable at March 31, 2007


Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic


Shares Price Life (Years) Value
71,793 $ 5.56
10,457 3.70


(286) 1.24
(92) 5.56


81,872 5.33 7.09 $ 17,101
44~326 5.96 6.05 $ 16,183


The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the three months ended March 3 I, 2007 and 2006 was $1.96 and
$3.08, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 was $716 and
$3,884, respectively.


We recognized stock-compensation expense associated with stock options of $10,694 and $13,545 for the three months ended March 31,
and 2006, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the non-vested restricted stock unit activity under our stock incentive plans for the three months ended
March 31, 2007 (shares in thousands):


Shares
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 4,086
Granted 1,913
Vested (1,658)
Cancelled or expired


Outstanding at March 31, 2007


Weighted
Average


Grant Date
Fair Value


$ 4.64
3.70
5.19


4.04


The weighted average grant date fair value of restricted stock units granted during the three months ended March 3 I, 2007 and 2006 was
$3.70 and $5.73, respectively. The total intrinsic value of restricted stock units that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2007 and
2006 was $5,864 and $90,284, respectively.


We recognized stock compensation expense associated with restricted stock units and shares of restricted stock of $3,698 and $6,917 for
the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007, we also recognized stock compensation expense of $1,178 for restricted stock units
expected to be granted for services performed in 2007. For the three months ended March 31, 2006, we recognized stock compensation expense
of $21,581 for restricted stock units and common stock granted in 2007 for services performed in 2006 or upon the satisfaction of 2006
performance targets.


401(k) Savings Plan


We sponsor the Sirius Satellite Radio 401(k) Savings Plan (the "Plan") for eligible employees. The Plan allows eligible employees to
voluntarily contribute from 1% to 50% of their pre-tax salary subject to certain defined limits. Currently we match 50% of employee voluntary
contributions, up to 6% of an employee’s pre-tax salary, in the form of shares of our common stock. Our matching contribution vests at a rate
of 33 1 / 3 % for each year of employment and is fully vested after three years of employment. Expense resulting from our matching
contribution to the Plan was $498 and $412 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.


We may also elect to contribute to the profit sharing portion of the Plan based upon the total compensation of all eligible participants.
These additional contributions, referred to as profit-sharing contributions, are determined by the compensation committee of our board of
directors. Employees are only eligible to receive profit-sharing contributions during any year in which they are employed on the last day of the
year. Profit-sharing contribution expense was $1,352 and $1,306 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.


10. Income Taxes


We recorded income tax expense of $555 and $753 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Such expense
represents the recognition of a deferred tax liability related to the difference in accounting for our FCC license, which is amortized over 15
years for tax purposes but not amortized for book purposes.


We adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48 on January 1, 2007. FIN No. 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes
for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, as well as criteria on
derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The cumulative
effect of applying this interpretation did not result in any adjustment to retained earnings as of January 1, 2007.


We provide a valuation allowance for all of our deferred tax assets. Accordingly, unrecognized federal or state income tax positions
should not impact the face of our financial statements, but instead would reduce the gross tax benefit. As of March 31, 2007 and January 1,
"007, we did not have any unrecognized tax benefits.
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We have elected to record interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as interest expense and penalties as operating expense.
As of March 31, 2007, we recorded no interest expense or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. As of March 31, 2007, we are subject
to examination in the United States federal and various state tax jurisdictions for the 2003 to 2006 tax years.


11. Commitments and Contingencies


The following table summarizes our expected contractual cash commitments as of March 31, 2007:


Long-term debt obligations


Cash interest payments
Lease obligations


Satellite and transmission
Programming and oontent


Customer service and billing
Marketing and distribution


Chip set development and
production


Other
Total contractual cash


commitments


Remaining


2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total


$ 35,597 $ 301,742 $ $ 230,000 $ 500,000 $ 1,067,339


36,985 64,375 59,856 55,600 55,559 97,320 369,695


7,131 11,852 12,006 11,594 10,782 22,805 76,170
35,352 92,053 39,869 2,010 1,720 6,617 177,621


94, 542 132,256 153,668 151,310 4 i, 707 28, 806 602,289


1,456 45 1,501


75,208 31,690 22,743 26,153 18,173 5,500 179,467


7,315 7,315


4,779 12~921 17 17,717


$ 262,768 $ 380,789 $ 589,901 $ 246,667 $ 357,941 $


Long-Term Debt Obligations. Long-term debt obligations include principal payments on our outstanding debt.


Cash Interest Payments. Cash interest payments include interest due on our outstanding debt through maturity.


661,048 $ 2,499,114


Lease Obligations. We have entered into operating leases related to our studios, office space, terrestrial repeaters and equipment.


Satellite and Transmission. We have entered into agreements with third parties to operate and maintain our off-site satellite telemetry,
tracking and control facilities and certain components of our terrestrial repeater network. We have also entered into an agreement with Space
Systems/Loral to design and construct a new satellite. Construction of this satellite is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2008.
We plan to launch this satellite on a Proton rocket under our contract with International Launch Services.


Programming and Content. We have entered into agreements with licensors of programming and other content providers and, in certain
instances, are obligated to pay license fees and guarantee minimum advertising revenue share. In addition, we have agreements with various
rights organizations pursuant to which we pay royalties for public performances of music.


Customer Service and Billing. We have entered into agreements with third parties to provide billing and subscriber management
services.


Marketing and Distribution. We have entered into various marketing, sponsorship and distribution agreements to promote our brand and
are obligated to make payments to sponsors, retailers, automakers and radio manufacturers under these agreements. Certain programming and
content agreements also require us to purchase advertising on properties owned or controlled by the licensors. We also reimburse automakers
for certain engineering and development costs associated with the incorporation of SIRIUS radios into vehicles they manufacture. In addition,
in the event that certain new products are not shipped by our distributor to its customers within 90 days of receipt of goods, we have agreed to
purchase and take title to the product.


Chip Set Development and Production. We have entered into agreements with third parties to develop, produce and supply chip sets; to
? products; and in certain instances to license intellectual property related to chip sets.
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Other. We have entered into various agreements with third parties for general operating and strategic purposes.


In addition to the contractual cash commitments described above, we have entered into agreements with automakers, radio
manufacturers and others that include per-radio, per-subscriber, per-show and other variable cost arrangements. These future costs are
dependent upon many factors including our subscriber growth and are difficult to anticipate; however, these costs may be substantial. We may
enter into additional programming, distribution, marketing and other agreements that contain similar provisions.


Under the terms of a joint development agreement with XM Radio, the other holder of a FCC satellite radio license, each party is
obligated to fund one half of the development cost for a unified standard for satellite radios. The costs related to the joint development
agreement are being expensed as incurred to engineering, design and development expense in the accompanying unaudited consolidated
statements of operations. We are currently unable to determine the expenditures necessary to complete this process, but we do not expect that
these expenditures will be material.


We are required under the terms of certain agreements to provide letters of credit and deposit monies in escrow, which place restrictions
on our cash and cash equivalents. As of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, $78,160 was classified as restricted investments as a result of
our reimbursement obligations under these letters of credit and escrow deposits.


As of March 31, 2007, we have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements or transactions.


Legal Proceedings


FCC Inquiry. In April 2006, we learned that XM Radio and two manufacturers of SIRIUS radios had received inquiries from the
Federal Communications Commission as to whether the FM transmitters in their products complied with the FCC’s emissions and frequency
rules. We promptly began an internal review of the compliance of the FM transmitters in a number of our radios. In June 2006, we learned that
a third manufacturer of SIRIUS radios had received an inquiry from the Federal Communications Commission as to whether the FM
transmitters in its products complied with the FCC’s emissions and frequency rules. In June 2006, we received a letter from the FCC making
¯ ~nilar inquiries. In July 2006, we responded to the letter from the FCC in respect of the preliminary results of our review. In August 2006, we


~.~ .ceived a follow-up letter of inquiry from the FCC and responded to the FCC’s further inquiry. We continue to cooperate with the FCC’s
inquiry.


During our internal review, we determined that certain of our radios with FM transmitters were not compliant with FCC rules. We have
taken a series of actions to correct the problem.


In connection with our internal review, we discovered that certain SIRIUS personnel requested manufacturers to produce SIRIUS radios
that were not consistent with the FCC’s rules. As a result of this review, we are taking significant steps to ensure that this situation does not
happen again, including the adoption of a compliance plan, approved by our board of directors, to ensure that in the future our products comply
with all applicable FCC rules.


The FCC’s laboratory has tested a number of our products and found them to be compliant with the FCC’s rules. We believe our radios
that are currently in production comply with applicable FCC’s rules. No health or safety issues are involved with these SIRIUS radios and
radios which are factory-installed in new vehicles are not affected.


We have retained the services of an engineering compliance officer to report to our Vice President of Internal Audit, who reports to our
Audit Committee.


In October 2006, we ceased operating 11 of our terrestrial repeaters which we discovered had been operating at variance to the
specifications and applied to the FCC for new authority to resume operating these repeaters.


Copyright Royalty Board Proceeding. We are a party to a proceeding before the Copyright Royalty Board of the Library of Congress to
establish the royalty rate and terms for the sound recordings we use on our satellite radio service for the period for 2007 through 2012. In
October 2006, we and XM Radio filed our direct case in this proceeding with the Copyright Royalty Board and proposed a royalty rate of
0.88% of our satellite radio subscription revenue. SoundExchange, the organization that collects and distributes royalties from various digital
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued


(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stated)


~u (Unaudited)


sic~- . services on behalf of artists and music labels, simultaneously submitted its direct case in this proceeding and proposed an increasing
royalty rate, beginning at 10% of our gross revenues in the first year and culminating at 23% of our gross revenues in the sixth year. This
submission of direct eases is the beginning of a twelve to eighteen month process which, absent an agreement among the parties, will result in a
determination by the Copyright Royalty Board of an applicable royalty rate. Discovery in this matter is ongoing.


The Copyright Royalty Board must set a rate that is calculated to achieve four statutory objectives:


¯ to maximize the availability of creative works to the public;


¯ to afford the copyright owner a fair return for his creative work and the copyright user a fair income under existing economic
conditions;


¯ to reflect the relative roles of the copyright owner and the copyright user in the product made available to the public with respect to
relative creative contribution, technological contribution, capital investment, cost, risk and contribution to the opening of new markets
for creative expression and media for their communication; and


¯ to minimize any disruptive impact on the structure of the industries involved and on generally prevailing industry practices.


We believe that the fee we proposed achieves these objectives and is consistent in principle with the fee established under the same
standard for digital cable audio.


U.S. Electronics Arbitration. U.S. Electronics Inc., a licensed distributor and a former licensed manufacturer of SIRIUS radios, has
commenced an arbitration proceeding against us. U.S. Electronics alleges that we breached our contract; failed to pay monies owed under the
contract; tortiously interfered with U.S. Electronics’ relationships with retailers and manufacturers; withheld information relating to the FCC’s


.~.~n~uiring into SIRIUS radios that include FM modulators; and otherwise acted in bad faith. U.S. Electronics is seeking at least $48 million in
mages. We believe that a substantial portion of these damages are barred by the limitation of liability provisions contained in the contract
tween us and U.S. Electronics. U.S. Electronics contends, and will be permitted to try to prove in the arbitration, that these provisions do not
r its damages because of, among other reasons, our alleged bad faith and tortious conduct. We are vigorously defending this action.


Other Matters. In the ordinary course of business, we are a defendant in various lawsuits and arbitration proceedings, including actions
filed by former employees, parties to contracts or leases and owners of patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. None of
these actions are, in our opinion, likely to have a material adverse effect on our business or financial results.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations


(All dollar amounts are in thousands, unless otherwise stated)


,ecial Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements


The following cautionary statements identify important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
projected in forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in other reports and documents published by us from
time to time. Any statements about our beliefs, plans, objectives, expectations, assumptions, future events or performance are not historical
facts and may be forward-looking. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as "will likely
result," "are expected to," "will continue," "is anticipated," "estimated," "intend," "plan," "projection" and "outlook." Any forward-looking
statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the factors discussed throughout our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006 (the "Form 10-K") and in other reports and documents published by us from time to time, particularly the risk factors
described under "Business--Risk Factors" in Item IA of the Form 10-K.


Among the significant factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking
statements are:


¯ our pending merger with XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. ("XM Radio"), including related uncertainties and risks and the impact on
our business if the merger is not completed;


¯ the useful life of our satellites, which have experienced circuit failures on their solar arrays and other component failures and are not
insured;


¯ our dependence upon third parties, including manufacturers of SIRIUS radios, retailers, automakers and programming providers; and


¯ our competitive position versus other forms of audio and video entertainment, including terrestrial radio, HD radio, intemet radio,
mobile phones, XM Radio and emerging next generation networks and technologies.


Because the risk factors referred to above could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any
~’~rward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf, you should not place undue reliance on any of these forward-looking statements. In


5ition, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-
-~ooking statement or statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made, to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events or otherwise. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict which will arise or to assess
with any precision the impagt of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.
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Executive Summary


~fe
On February 19, 2007, we and XM Radio entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which


and X,M,~ Radio will combine our businesses through a merger of XM Radio and a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of us (the
rger ’). Our Board of Directors and the Board of Directors of XM Radio have approved the Merger and the Merger Agreement.


The completion of the Merger is subject to various closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of our stockholders and XM
Radio’s stockholders and receiving certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (including from the Federal Communications Commission and
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended). The information presented in this Quarterly Report on Form
I O-Q does not give effect to the Merger.


We are a satellite radio provider in the United States. We currently broadcast over 130 channels of programming to listeners across the
country. We offer 69 channels of 100% commercial-free music and feature 65 channels of sports, news, talk, entertainment, traffic and weather
for a monthly subscription fee of $12.95.


We broadcast through our proprietary satellite radio system, which currently consists of three orbiting satellites, 127 terrestrial repeaters
that receive and retransmit our signal, a satellite uplink facility and our studios. Subscribers receive our service through SIRIUS radios, which
are sold by automakers, consumer electronics retailers and mobile audio dealers and through our website. Subscribers can also receive our
music channels and certain other channels over the Interact.


Our music eharmels are available to DISH satellite television subscribers and certain of our music channels are offered to Sprint
subscribers over multi-media handsets. We also offer traffic and weather data services for a separate fee. Subscribers to DISH satellite
television, Sprint and our traffic and weather data services are not included in our subscriber count.


In 2005, SIRIUS Canada Inc., a Canadian corporation owned by us, Canadian Broadcasting Corporation and Standard Broadcasting
Corporation, received a license from the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission to offer a satellite radio service in
Canada. SIRIUS Canada offers 110 channels of commercial-free music and news, sports, talk and entertainment programming, including 11
channels of Canadian content. Subscribers to the SIRIUS Canada service are not included in our subscriber count.


SIRIUS radios are primarily distributed through retailers; automakers, or OEMs; and through our website. SIRIUS radios can be


Oichased at major retailers, including Best Buy; Circuit City; Crutchfield; Costco; Target; Wal-Mart; and on an exclusive basis through
dioShaek. On March 31, 2007, SIRIUS radios were available at more than 25,000 retail locations. We have exclusive agreements with
imlerChrysler, Ford, Kia, Mitsubishi, BMW, Rolls-Royce, Volkswagen and Bentley to offer SIRIUS radios as factory or dealer-installed


equipment. We also have relationships with Nissan, Infiniti, Toyota, Lexus, Scion and Subaru to offer SIRIUS radios as factory or dealer-
installed equipment. As of March 31, 2007, SIRIUS radios were available as a factory-installed option in 119 vehicle models and as a dealer-
installed option in 31 vehicle models. SIRIUS radios are also offered to renters of Hertz vehicles at airport locations nationwide.


As of March 31, 2007, we had 6,581,045 subscribers compared with 6,024,555 subscribers as of December 31, 2006 and 4,077,747
subscribers as of March 31, 2006. Our subscriber totals include subscribers under our regular pricing plans; subscribers that have prepaid,
including payments received from automakers for prepaid subscriptions included in the sale or lease pdee of a new vehicle; active SIRIUS
radios under our agreement with Hertz; and subscribers to SIRIUS Internet Radio, our Internet service.


We believe our ability to attract and retain subscribers depends in large part on creating and sustaining distribution channels for SIRIUS
radios, the strength of the SIRIUS brand, and on the quality and entertainment value of our programming. We expect to concentrate our future
efforts on enhancing and refining our programming, whether through additional agreements with third parties or our own creative efforts;
introducing SIRIUS radios with new features and functions; and expanding the distribution of SIRIUS radios through arrangements with
automakers and through additional retail points-of-sale.


Our primary source of revenue is subscription fees, with most of our customers subscribing to SIRIUS on either an annual or a monthly
basis. We offer discounts for prepaid and long-term subscriptions as well as discounts for multiple subscriptions. Currently we receive an
average of approximately eight months of prepaid revenue per subscriber upon activation. We also derive revenue from activation fees, the sale
of advertising on our non-music channels and the direct sale of SIRIUS radios and accessories.
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In certain cases, automakers include a subscription to our radio service in the sale or lease price of vehicles. The length of these prepaid
subscriptions varies, but is typically six months to one year. In many eases, we receive subscription payments from automakers in advance of
the activation of our service. We also reimburse various automakers for certain costs associated with SIRIUS radios installed in their vehicles.


Costs associated with acquiring subscribers are generally incurred and expensed in advance of acquiring a subscriber and are reco
as subscriber acquisition costs, or SAC. A disproportionate percentage of our annual gross subscriber additions are acquired in the fourth
quarter in connection with holiday sales. As a result, our SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition, a key operating metric for our
business, is generally higher in the first three quarters of our fiscal year and declines in the fourth quarter as we experience higher activation
rates.


Pending Merger with XM Radio


On February 19, 2007, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with XM Radio Holdings Inc. Pursuant to the Merger
Agreement, we and XM Radio will combine our businesses through a merger of XM Radio and a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of
o~rs.


Each of SIRIUS and XM has made customary representations and warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement. The completion
of the Merger is subject to various closing conditions, including obtaining approvals of certain of our and XM Radio’s stockholders and
receiving certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (including from the Federal Communications Commission and under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended). The Merger is intended to qualify as a reorganization for federal income tax purposes.


At the effective time of the Merger (the "Effective Time"), by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any
stockholder, each share of common stock of XM Radio (the "XM Common Stock") issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time will generally be converted into the fight to receive 4.6 shares of our common stock. Each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
of XM Radio issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time will be similarly converted at the Effective Time into the right to
receive 4.6 shares of a newly-designated seres of our preferred stock having substantially the same powers, designations, preferences, fights
and qualifications, limitations and restrictions as the stock so converted.


Mel Karmazin, currently our chief executive officer, will become chief executive officer of the combined company and Gary M.
Parsons, currently chairman of the board of directors of XM Radio, will become chairman of the board of directors of the combined company.
The combined company’s board of directors will consist of 12 directors, including Messrs. Karmazin and Parsons, four independent members


~
" signated by each of SIRIUS and XM Radio, as well as one representative of each of General Motors and American Honda.


The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for both us and XM Radio. If the Merger Agreement is terminated under
certain circumstances specified in the Merger Agreement, we or XM Radio, as the case may be, will be required to pay the other a termination
fee of $175,000.


Our Board of Directors and the Board of Directors of XM Radio have approved the Merger and the Merger Agreement.


This description of the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Merger
Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 21, 2007.


Results of Operations


Our discussion of our results of operations, along with the selected financial information in the tables that follow, includes the following
non-GAAP financial measures: average monthly chum; average monthly revenue per subscriber, or ARPU; SAC, as adjusted, per gross
subscriber addition; customer service and billing expenses, as adjusted, per average subscriber; free cash flow; and adjusted loss from
operations. We believe these non-GAAP financial measures provide meaningful supplemental information regarding our operating
performance and are used for internal management purposes, when publicly providing the business outlook, and as a means to evaluate period-
to-period comparisons. Please refer to the footnotes following our discussion of results of operations for the definitions and further discussion
of usefulness of such non-GAAP financial measures.


Certain amounts in the prior period unaudited consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period
presentation. Specifically, we reclassified both broadcast and webstreaming royalties from
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programming and content expenses and revenue share from programming and content expenses and sales and marketing expenses to a separate
line item, revenue share and royalties. In addition, we reclassified bad debt expense from general and administrative expenses to customer


and billing expenses.


;bscribers and Key Operating Metrics:


The following table contains a breakdown of our subscribers for the past five quarters:


March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2007 2006 2006 2006 2006


Beginning subscribers 6,024,555 5,119,308 4,678,207 4,077,747 3,316,560


Net additions 556,490 905,247 441,101 600,460 761,187


Ending subscribers 6,581~045 6,024,555 5~119,308 4,678,207 4,077,747


Retail 4,234,804 4,041,826 3,482,514 3,276,615 3,000,321
OEM 2,323,683 1,959,009 1,610,074 1,373,6 I0 1,049,036
Hertz 22,558 23,720 26,720 27,982 28,390


Ending subscribers 6~581~045 6~024~555 5~119,308 4~678~207 . 4~077~747


Retail 192,978 559,312 205,899 276,294 534,958
OEM 364,674 348,935 236,464 324,574 225,343
Hertz (1,162) (3,000) (1,262) (408) 886


Net additions 556 490 905~247 441,101 600~460 . 761~187


Subscribers. We ended the first quarter of 2007 with 6,581,045 subscribers, an increase of 9% since December 31, 2006 and 61% from
the 4,077,747 subscribers as of March 31, 2006. Since March 31, 2006, we added 1,234,483 net subscribers from our retail channel and


.~274,647 net subscribers from our OEM channel, resulting in a 41% and 122% increase in our retail and OEM subscriber base, respectively.The following table presents our key operating metrics for the past five quarters:


Gross subscriber additions
Deactivated subscribers
Average monthly chum (IX6)


ARPU (2)(6)


SAC, as adjusted, per gross
subscriber addition (3)(6)


Customer service and billing
expenses, as adjusted, per


average subscriber (4)(6)


Total revenue $


Free cash flow (5)(6) $


Adjusted loss from operations (7) $
Net loss $


For the Three Months Ended
March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31.


2007 2006 2006 2006 2006
988,458 1,234,576 732,406 830,571 960,610
431,968 329,329 291,305 230,111 199,423


2.3% 2.0% 2.0% 1.8% 1.8%


10.46 $ 10.92 $ 11.17 $ 11.16 $ 10.80


104 $ 103 $ 114 $ 131 $ 113


1.15 $ 1.60 $ 1.14 $ 1.20 $ 1.55
204,037 $ 193,380 $ 167,113 $ 150,078 $ 126,664


(146,715) $ 30,409 $ (232,356) $ (133,231) $ (165,537)


(83,999) $ (166,809) $ (83,153) $ (126,528) $ (136,650)
(144,745) $ (245,597) $ (162,898) $ (237,828) $ (458,544)
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ARPU. Total ARPU for the three months ended March 31, 2007 was $10.46 compared to $10.80 for the three months ended March 31,
2006. The decrease was primarily driven by the decline in net advertising revenue per average subscriber and the impact of plan mix due in part
to the increase in subscribers under multi-unit subscription plans, offset by the effects of mail-in rebates resulting from lower eligible
activations and activation period requirements. At March 31, 2007, approximately two thirds of our subscribers were on an annual or longer /


( "" bscription plan and approximately 16% were paying $6.99 per month under a multi-unit subscriber plan.


We expect ARPU to fluctuate based on the growth of our subscriber base, promotions, mail-in rebates offered to subscribers and
corresponding take-rates, plan mix, subscription prices, advertising sales and the identification of additional revenue streams from subscribers.


SAC, As Adjusted, Per Gross Subscriber Addition. SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition was $104 and $113 for the three
months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The decline was primarily attributable to lower average commission rates and decreased
average subsidy rates as we continued to reduce manufacturing and chip set costs.


We expect SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition to decline as the costs of subsidized components of SIRIUS radios decrease
in the future. If competitive forces and changes in retailer promotional strategies, including the elimination of mail-in rebates by certain
consumer electronics retailers, require us to increase hardware subsidies or promotions, SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition may
increase. Our SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition is generally higher in the first three quarters of our fiscal year and declines in the
fourth quarter as we experience higher activation rates.


Customer Service and Billing Expenses, As Adjusted, Per Average Subscriber Per Month. Customer service and billing expenses, as
adjusted, per average subscriber per month declined 26% to $1.15 for the first quarter of 2007 compared with $1.55 for the first quarter of
2006.


We expect our customer service and billing expenses, as adjusted, per average subscriber to decrease on an annual basis as our
subscriber base grows due to scale efficieneies in call center and other customer care and billing operations. Our customer service and billing
expenses, as adjusted, per average subscriber are generally lower in the first three quarters of our fiscal year and increase in the fourth quarter
due to the holiday selling season.


Adjusted Loss from Operations. For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, adjusted loss from operations was $83,999 and
136,650, respectively, a decrease of $52,651. The decrease was primarily driven by an increase in total revenue of $77,373 as a result of a
1% increase in our subscriber base, which more than offset increases in operating expenses of $24,722.


Net Loss. For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, net loss was $144,745 and $458,544, respectively, a decrease of
$313,799. The decrease was primarily driven by an increase in total revenue of $77,373 as a result of a 61% increase in our subscriber base and


decrease in stock-based compensation as a result of certain performance targets satisfied in January 2006.


ThreeMonths Ended March 31, 2007 Compared with Three Months Ended March 31, 2006


Total Revenue


Subscriber Revenue. Subscriber revenue includes subscription fees, activation fees and the effects of mail-in rebates.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, subscriber revenue was $190,796 and $115,181, respectively, an increase of 66%
or $75,615. The increase was attributable to the growth of subscribers to our service.


The following table contains a breakdown of our subscriber revenue for the periods presented:


For the Three Months
Ended March 31 ~


2007
Subscription fees $ 189,969
Activation fees 5,319
Effects of mail-in rebates (4,492)


Total subscriber revenue $ 190,796
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Future subscriber revenue will be dependent upon, among other things, the growth of our subscriber base, promotions, mail-in rebates
offered to subscribers and corresponding take-rates, plan mix, subscription prices and the identification of additional revenue streams from
subscribers.


~, Advertising Revenue. Advertising revenue includes the sale of advertising on our non-music channels, net of agency fees. Agency fees
~re based on a stated percentage per the advertising agreements applied to gross billing revenue.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, net advertising revenue was $6,721 and $7,338, respectively, a decrease of $617.


We expect advertising revenue to grow as our subscribers increase, as we continue to improve brand awareness and content, and as we
increase the size and effectiveness of our advertising sales force. Advertising revenue is also subject to fluctuation based on the overall radio
advertising environment, as well as the mix of businesses advertising their goods and services.


Equipment Revenue. Equipment revenue includes revenue from the direct sale of SIRIUS radios and accessories through our direct to
consumer distribution channel.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, equipment revenue was $4,671 and $3,692, respectively, an increase of $979. The
increase was the result of higher sales through our direct to consumer distribution channel, offset by the effects of promotional discounts.


We expect equipment revenue to increase as we continue to introduce new products and as sales grow through our direct to consumer
distribution channel.


Operating Expenses


Satellite and Transmission. Satellite and transmission expenses consist of costs associated with the operation and maintenance of our
satellites; satellite telemetry, tracking and control system; terrestrial repeater network; satellite uplink facility; and broadcast studios.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, satellite and transmission expenses were $7,986 and $8,203, respectively, a
decrease of $217. Excluding stock-based compensation of $656 and $902 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,


and transmission expenses increased $29 from $7,301 to $7,330. As of March 31, 2007 and 2006, we had 127 and 139 terrestrial
leaters, respectively, in operation.


Future increases in satellite and transmission expenses will primarily be attributable to the launch of new satellites, the addition of new
terrestrial repeaters and maintenance costs of existing terrestrial repeaters. We expect to deploy additional terrestrial repeaters in 2007 and 2008
subject to obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. Such expenses may also increase in future periods if we decide to reinstate our in-orbit
satellite insurance.


Programming and Content. Programming and content expenses include costs to acquire, create and produce content and on-air talent
costs. We have entered into various agreements with third parties for music and non-music programming. These agreements require us to pay
license fees, share advertising revenue, purchase advertising on media properties owned or controlled by the licensor and pay other guaranteed
amounts. Purchased advertising is recorded as a sales and marketing expense in the period the advertising is broadcast. Advertising revenue
share is recorded to revenue share and royalties also in the period the advertising is broadcast.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, programming and content expenses were $59,998 and $299,734, respectively, a
decrease of $239,736. Excluding stock-based compensation of $2,935 and $249,800 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, programming and content expenses increased $7,129 from $49,934, to $57,063. This increase of $7,129 was primarily attributable
to license fees associated with new programming and compensation related costs for additions to headcount. Stock-based compensation
decreased $246,865 primarily due to expense associated with shares of our common stock delivered to Howard Stem and his agent in January
2006 upon the satisfaction of performance targets in 2006.


Our programming and content expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense, will increase as we continue to develop and
enhance our channels. We regularly evaluate programming opportunities and may choose to acquire and develop new content or renew current
programming agreements in the future at substantial costs.
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Future expense associated with stock-based compensation is contingent upon a number of factors, including the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock, assumptions used in estimating the fair value of stock-based awards, estimates for forfeitures,
vesting provisions and the timing as to when certain performance criteria are met, and could materially change.


~’~°. Revenue Share and Royalties. Revenue share and royalties include distribution and content partner revenue share, residuals and
-" oroadcast and webstreaming royalties. Residuals are monthly fees paid based upon the number of subscribers using a SIRIUS radio purchased


from a retailer.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, revenue share and royalties were $27,134 and $13,527, respectively, an increase
of $13,607. This increase was primarily attributable to increased revenue share as a result of increased revenue from OEM subscriptions and
broadcast royalties as a result of higher total revenues.


We expect revenue share to increase as we continue to experience revenue growth and expand our distribution of SIRIUS radios through
automakers. In addition, we expect broadcast and webstreaming royalties, which are typically variable in nature, to increase as our subscriber
base grows. We are currently a party to a proceeding before the Copyright Royalty Board of the Library of Congress to establish the royalty
rate and terms for the sound recordings we use on our satellite radio service for the period 2007 through 2012.


Customer Service and Billing. Customer service and billing expenses include costs associated with the operation of our customer service
centers and subscriber management system as well as bad debt expense.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, customer service and billing expenses were $21,853 and $17,862, respectively, an
increase of $3,991. Excluding stock-based compensation of $199 and $244 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
customer service and billing expenses increased $4,036 from $17,618 to $21,654. This increase of $4,036 was primarily due to increased call
center operating costs necessary to accommodate our subscriber base and transaction fees due to the addition of new subscribers. Customer
service and billing expenses, excluding stock-based compensation, increased 23% compared with an increase in subscribers of 61% year over
year.


We expect our customer care and billing expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense, to increase as our subscriber base
grows due to increased call center operating costs, transaction fees necessary to serve a larger subscriber base and bad debt expense.


Cost of Equipment. Cost of equipment includes costs for SIRIUS radios and accessories sold through our direct to consumer distribution
annel.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, cost of equipment was $9,292 and $3,465, respectively, an increase of $5,827.
The increase was primarily attributable to higher sales volume, offset by a decline in per unit costs. In addition, we recorded $2,782 for the
three months ended March 31, 2007 to the inventory allowance primarily as a result of lower of cost or market adjustments and reserves for
slow moving inventory.


We expect cost of equipment to increase in the future as we introduce new products and as sales through our direct to consumer
distribution channel grow.


Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses include costs for advertising, media and production, including promotional events
and sponsorships; cooperative marketing; customer retention and compensation. Cooperative marketing costs include fixed and variable
payments to reimburse retailers and automakers for the cost of advertising and other product awareness activities.


For the three months ended March 3 I, 2007 and 2006, sales and marketing expenses were $38,162 and $34,481, respectively, an
increase of $3,681. Excluding stock-based compensation of $5,644 and $2,202 for the three months ended March 3 I, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, sales and marketing expenses increased $239 from $32,279 to $32,518. Sales and marketing expenses were relatively consistent
for the first quarter of 2007 as compared to the first quarter of 2006, despite a 61% increase in total revenue.


We expect sales and marketing expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense, to increase as we continue to build brand
awareness through national advertising and promotional activities and expand our subscriber retention efforts.


27







Future expense associated with stock-based compensation is contingent upon a number of factors, including the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock, assumptions used in estimating the fair value of stock-based awards, estimates for forfeitures,


¯ ions and the timing as to when certain performance criteria are met, and could materially change.


Subscriber Acquisition Costs¯ Subscriber acquisition costs include hardware subsidies paid to radio manufacturers, distributors and
-~utomakers, including subsidies paid to automakers who include a SIRIUS radio and a prepaid subscription to our service in the sale or lease
price of a new vehicle; subsidies paid for chip sets and certain other components used in manufacturing radios; commissions paid to retailers
and automakers as incentives to purchase, install and activate SIRIUS radios; product warranty obligations; provisions for inventory allowance;
and compensation costs associated with stock-based awards granted in connection with certain distribution agreements. The majority of
subscriber acquisition costs are incurred and expensed in advance of acquiring a subscriber. Subscriber acquisition costs do not include
advertising, loyalty payments to distributors and dealers of SIRIUS radios and revenue share payments to automakers and retailers of SIRIUS
radios. Subscriber acquisition costs also do not include amounts capitalized in connection with our agreement with Hertz, as we retain
ownership of certain SIRIUS radios used by Hertz.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, subscriber acquisition costs were $100,117 and $119,043, respectively, a
decrease of 16% or $18,926. Excluding stock-based compensation of $1,880 and $9,899 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, subscriber acquisition costs decreased 10%, or $10,907, from $109,144 to $98,237. This decrease of $10,907 was primarily
attributable to lower commissions and decreased aftermarket subsidies, as we continued to reduce manufacturing and chip set costs, offset by
increased OEM hardware subsidies due to higher production volume and provisions for inventory allowance. Stock-based compensation
decreased $8,019 primarily due to the timing of third parties achieving milestones and changes in the fair market value of such awards.


We expect total subscriber acquisition costs, excluding stock-based compensation expense, to decrease as increases in our gross
subscriber additions are offset by continuing declines in the costs of subsidized components of SIRIUS radios. We intend to continue to offer
subsidies, commissions and other incentives to acquire subscribers.


Future expense associated with stock-based compensation is contingent upon a number of factors, including the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock, assumptions used in estimating the fair value of stock-based awards, estimates for forfeitures,
vesting provisions and the timing as to when certain performance criteria are met, and could materially change.


General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses include rent and occupancy, finance, legal, human resources,
technology and investor relations costs.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, general and administrative expenses were $35,343 and $31,873, respectively, an
" increase of $3,470. Excluding stock-based compensation of $ I 1,940 and $14,506 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006,


respectively, general and administrative expenses increased $6,036 from $17,367 to $23,403. This increase of $6,036 was primarily a result of
legal fees and employment related and information technology costs to support the growth of our business. Stock-based compensation
decreased $2,566 primarily as a result of restricted stock units that vested in the first quarter of 2006.


We expect our general and administrative expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense, to increase in future periods as a
result of higher personnel, information technology, and facilities costs, as well as increased legal fees to support the growth of our business.


Future expense associated with stock-based compensation is contingent upon a number of factors, including the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock, assumptions used in estimating the fair value of stock-based awards, estimates for forfeitures,
vesting provisions and the timing as to when certain performance criteria are met, and could materially change.


Engineering, Design and Development. Engineering, design and development expenses include costs to develop our future generation of
chip sets and new products and costs associated with the incorporation of SIRIUS radios into vehicles manufactured by automakers.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, engineering, design and development expenses were $12,411 and $19,712,
respectively, a decrease of $7,301. Excluding stock-based compensation of $1,006 and $7,033 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, engineering, design and development expenses
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decreased $1,274 from $12,679 to $11,405. This decrease of $1,274 was primarily attributable to a decrease in costs associated with the
manufacturing of SIRIUS radios and OEM tooling and manufacturing upgrades, offset by increases in employment related costs. Stock-based
compensation decreased $6,027 primarily due to the timing of third parties achieving certain production milestones.


We expect engineering, design and development expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense, to decrease, as the work
,equired to incorporate SIRIUS radios and accessories in a significant number of vehicle models was completed in 2006.


Other Income (Expense)


Interest andlnvestment Income. Interest and investment income includes realized gains and losses, dividends and interest income,
including amortization of the premium and discount arising at purchase.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, interest and investment income was $6,042 and $9,937, respectively, a decrease
of $3,895. The decrease was attributable to a lower average cash balance.


lnterest Expense. Interest expense includes interest on outstanding debt, reduced by interest capitalized in connection with the
construction of our new satellite and launch vehicle.


For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, interest expense was $15,192 and $17,124, respectively, a decrease of $1,932.
The decrease was primarily the result of capitalized interest in 2007 associated with satellite construction and the related launch vehicle.


Equity in Net Loss of Affiliate. Equity in net loss of affiliate includes our share of SIRIUS Canada’s net loss.


We recorded $0 and $4,445 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, for our share of SIRIUS Canada’s net
loss.


As of March 31, 2007, our investment in SIRIUS Canada was $0 as we fully recognized our share of SIRIUS Canada’s net loss to the
extent we have funded it. We do not expect to recognize future net losses unless we commit to additional funding.


Income Taxes


Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense represents the recognition of a deferred tax liability related to the difference in accounting for
our FCC license, which is amortized over 15 years for tax purposes but not amortized for book purposes in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.


We recorded income tax expense of $555 and $753 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.


Footnotes to Results of Operations


(1) Average monthly churn represents the number of deactivated subscribers divided by average quarterly subscribers.


(2) ARPU is derived from total camed subscriber revenue and net advertising revenue divided by the daily weighted average number of subscribers for the period. ARPU is
calculated as follows:
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,~ct advertising revenue


Total subscriber and net advertising revenue


Daily weighted average number of subscribers


ARPU


$


$


$


March 31,


2007


190, 796


6,721


197,517


6,295,282


10.46


For the Three Months Ended


December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31.
2006 2006 2006 2006


$ 167,210 $ 155,373 $ 137,640 $ 115,181
8,451 7fl30 8fl25 7,338


$ 175,661 $ 162,503 $ 145,765 $ [22,519


5,361,322 4,848,293 4,354,447 3,782,543
$ 10.92 $ 11.17 $ 11.16 $ 10.80


SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition is derived from subscriber acquisition costs, excluding stock-based compensation, and margins from the direct sale of SIRIUS
radios and accessories divided by the number of gross subscriber additions for the period. SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition is calculated as follows:


Subscriber acquisition costs


Less: steck-based compensation


Add: margin from direct sale of SIRIUS


radios and accessories


SAC, as adjusted


Gross subscriber additions


SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition


(4)


For the Three Months Ended


March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31.


2007 2006 2006 2006 2006


100,117 $ 122,196 $ 79,812 $ 130,563 $ 119,043


(1,880) (1,150) t,051 (21,900) (9,899)


$


$


4,621 5,674 2,617 371 (227)
102,858 $ 126,720 $ 83,480 $ 109,034 $ 108,917
988,458 1,234,576 732~06 830,571 960,610


104 $ 103 $ 114 $     131 $ 113


Customer service and billing expenses, as adjusted, per average subscriber is derived from total customer service and billing expenses, excluding stock-based compensation,
divided by the daily weighted average number of subscribers for the period. Customer service and billing expenses, as adjusted, per average subscriber is calculated as
follows:


sterner service and billing°._ ~ expenses


Less: stock-based compensation


Customer service and billing expenses, as adjusted
Daily weighted average number of subscribers
Customer service and billing expenses,


as adjusted, per average subscriber


For the Three Months Ended


March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31.
2007 2006 2006 2006 2006


$    21,853 S 25,912 $ 16,822 $ 15,866 S 17,862
(199)              (167)            (197)           (204)           (244)


$ 21,654 $ 25,745 $ 16,625 $ 15,662 $ 17,618


6,295,282 5,361,322 4,848,293 4,354,447 3,782,543


$ 1.15 $ 1.60 $ 1.14 $ 1.20 $ 1.55


(5) Free cash flow is derived from cash flow (used in) provided by operating activities, capital expenditures and restricted and other investment activity. Free cash flow is
calculated as follows:


Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities


Additions to property and equipment
Restricted and other investment activity


Free cash flow


For the Three Months Ended


March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30,


2007 2006 2006 2006


$ (133,947) $ 34,868 $ (183,330) $ (108,915)


(12,458) (5,459) (66,588) (22,284)


(310) 1,000 17,562 (2,032)


$ (146,715) $ 30~409 $ (232~356) $ (133~231~


March 31.


2006


(157,172)


(5,496)


(2,869)


(165~537)
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(6)


(7)


Average monthly churn; ARPU; SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition; customer service and billing expenses, as adjusted, per average subscriber; and free cash flow
are not measures of financial performance under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). We believe these non-GAAP financial measures provide
meaningful supplemental information regarding our operating performance and are used by us for budgetary and planning purposes; when publicly providing our business
outlook; as a means to evaluate period-to-period comparisons; and to compare our performance to that of our competitors. We also believe that investors also use our current
and projected metrics to monitor the performance of our business and make investment decisions.


We believe the exclusion of stock-based compensation expense in our calculations of SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition and customer service and billing
expenses, as adjusted, per average subscriber is useful given the significant variation in expense that can result from changes in the fair market value of our common stock, the
effect of which is unrelated to the operational conditions that give rise to variations in the components of our subscriber acquisition costs and customer service and billing
expenses. Specifically, the exclusion of stock-based compensution expense in our calculation of SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition is critical in being able to
understand the economic impact of the direct costs incurred to acquire a subscriber and the effect over time as economies of scale are reached.


These non-GAAP financial measures are used in addition to and in conjunction with results presented in accordance with GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures may be
susceptible to varying calculations; may not be �omparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies; and should not b¢ considered in isolation, as a substitute for,
or superior to measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.


We refer to net loss before taxes; other income (expense)-including interest and investment income, interest expense, loss from redemption of debt and equity in net loss of
affiliate; depreciation; impairment charges; and stock-based compensation expense as adjusted loss from operations. Adjusted loss from operations is not a measure of
financial performance under U.S. OAAP. We believe adjusted loss from operations is a useful measure of our operating performance. We use adjusted loss from operations
for budgetary and planning purposes; to assess the relative profitability and on-going performance of our consolidated operations; to compare our performance from period to
period; and to compare our performance to that of our competitors. We also believe adjusted loss from operations is useful to investors to compare our operating performance
to the performance of other communications, entertainment and media companies. We believe that investors use current and projected adjusted loss from operations to
astimate our current or prospective enterprise value and make investment decisions.


Because we fund and build-out our satellite radio system through the periodic raising and expenditure of large amounts of capital, our results of operations reflect significant
charges for interest and depreciation expense. We believe adjusted loss from operations provides useful information about the operating performance of our business apart
from the costa associated with our capital structure and physical plant. The exclusion of interest and depreciation expense is useful given fluctuations in interest rates and
significant variation in depreciation expense that can resuR from the amount and timing of capital expenditures and potential variations in estimated useful lives, all of which
can vary widely across different industries or among companies within the same industry. We believe the exclusion of taxes is appropriate for comparability purposes as the
tax positions of companies can vary because of their differing abilities to take advantage of tax benefits and because of the tax poll�ins of the various jurisdictions in which
they operate. We also believe the exclusion of stock-basad compensation expense is useful given the significant variation in expense that can result from changes in the fair
market value of our common stock. Finally, we believe that the exclusion of our equity in net loss of affiliate (SIRIUS Canada Inc.) is useful to assess the performance of our
core consolidated operations in the continental United States. To compensate for the exclusion of taxes, other income (expense), depreciation, impairment charges and stock-
based compensation expense, we separately measure and budget for these items.


There are material limitations associated with the use of adjusted loss from operations in evaluating our company compared with net loss, which reflects overall financial
performance, including the effects of taxes, other income (expense), depreciation, impairment charges and stock-based compensation expense. We use adjusted loss from
operations to supplement GAAP results to provide a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting the business than GAAP results alone. Investors that
wish to compare and evaluate our operating results niter giving effect for these costs, should refer to net loss as disclosed in our unandited consolidated statements of
operations. Since adjusted loss from operations is a non-GAAP financial measure, our calculation of adjusted loss from operations may be susceptible to varying calculations;
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies; and should not be considered in isolation, as a substitute for, or superior to measures of financial
performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.


Adjusted loss from operations is calculated as follows:


For the Three Months Ended


March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31.


2007 2006 2006 2006 2006


Net loss $ (144,745) $ (245,597) $ (162,898) $ (237,828) $ (458,544)


Impairment loss 10,917


Depreciation 26,786 27,495 27,583 25,738 24,933


Stock-based compensation 24,260 42,625 43,41 g 67,289 284,586


Other expense 9,145 8,5 ! 2 8,166 6,778 11,622


Income tax expense 555 156 578 578 753


Adjusted loss from operations $ /S3,999~ $ 1166,809/ $ !83,153~ $ t126,528! $ ~136,6501
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Liquidity and Capital Resources


Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2007 Compared with the Three Months Ended March 31, 2006


As of March 31, 2007, we had $259,162 in cash and cash equivalents compared with $630,831 as of March 31, 2006 and $393,421 as of
December 31, 2006.


The following table presents a summary of our cash flow activity for the periods set forth below:


Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period


For the Three Months
Ended March 31~


2007 2006 Variance
$ (133,947) $ (157,172) $ 23,225


(1,822) 24,537 (26,359)
1,510 1,459 51


(134,259) (131,176) (3,083)
393,421 762,007 (368,586)


$ 259,162 $ 630,831 $ (371,669)


Net Cash Used in Operating Activities


Net cash used in operating activities decreased $23,225 to $133,947 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 from $157,172 for the
three months ended March 31, 2006. Such decrease in the net outflows of cash was attributable to an increase in the cash collected for
subscribers electing annual and other prepaid subscription programs, offset by payments for increased operating expenses and higher purchases
of inventory to support production of SIRIUS radios and higher sales volumes through our direct to consumer distribution channel.


Net Cash Used in Investing Activities


O Net cash used in investing activities was $1,822 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared with net cash provided by
cesting activities of $24,537 for the three months ended March 31, 2006. The $26,359 increase was primarily a result of higher net sales


activity of available-for-sale securities in the first quarter of 2006, offset by an increase in capital expenditures of $6,962 primarily as a result of
costs associated with our satellite construction and launch vehicle.


We will incur significant capital expenditures to construct and launch our new satellite and to improve our terrestrial repeater network
and broadcast and administrative infrastructure. These capital expenditures will support our growth and the resiliency of our operations, and
will also support the delivery of future new revenue streams.


Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities


Net cash provided by financing activities increased $51 to $1,510 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 from $1,459 for the three
months ended March 31, 2006. The increase was a result of increased proceeds from the exercise of stock options.


Financings and Capital Requirements


We have historically financed our operations through the sale of debt and equity securities. For the first three months ended March 31,
2007 and 2006, we did not enter into any new debt or equity financing transactions.


Future Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements


Based upon our current plans, we believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to cover our
estimated funding needs through cash flow breakeven, the point at which our revenues are sufficient to fund expected operating expenses,
capital expenditures, working capital requirements, interest and principal payments and taxes. In light of our pending merger with XM Radio,
and the uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial impact, we are no longer currently providing cash flow guidance for the year ending
December 31, 2007. Our financial projections are based on assumptions, which we believe are reasonable but contain significant uncertainties.
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Our business is in its early stages, and we regularly evaluate our plans and strategy. These evaluations often result in changes to our
plans and strategy, some of which may be material and significantly change our cash requirements or cause us to achieve cash flow breakeven
at a later date. These changes in our plans or strategy may include: the acquisition of unique or compelling programming; the introduction of


,.*aew features or services; significant new or enhanced distribution arrangements; investments in infrastructure, such as satellites, equipment or¯
lio spectrum; and acquisitions of third parties that own programming, distribution, infrastructure, assets, or any combination of the foregoing.


In June 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement with Space Systems/Loral (the "Credit Agreement"). Under the Credit Agreement,
Space Systems/Loral has agreed to make loans to us in an aggregate principal amount of up to $100,000 to finance the purchase of our new
satellite. Loans made under the Credit Agreement will be secured by our rights under the Satellite Purchase Agreement with Space
Systems/Loral, including our fights to the new satellite. The loans are also entitled to the benefits of a subsidiary guarantee from Satellite CD
Radio, Inc., our subsidiary that holds our FCC license, and any future material subsidiary that may be formed by us. The maturity date of the
loans is the earliest to occur of (i) April 6, 2009, (ii) 90 days after the new satellite becomes available for shipment, and (iii) 30 days prior to the
scheduled launch of the new satellite. Any loans made under the Credit Agreement generally will bear interest at a variable rate equal to three-
month LIBOR plus 4.75%. The Credit Agreement permits us to prepay all or a portion of the loans outstanding without penalty. We have no
current plans to draw under this Credit Agreement.


To fund incremental cash requirements, or as market opportunities arise, we may choose to raise additional funds through the sale of
additional debt securities, equity securities or a combination of debt and equity securities. The incurrence of additional indebtedness would
result in increased fiscal obligations and could contain restrictive covenants. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities may
result in dilution to our stockholders. These additional sources of funds may not be available or, if available, may not be available on terms
favorable to us. Our merger agreement with XM Radio restricts our ability to incur additional debt financing beyond our existing credit facility
(or equivalent funding) and limits the amount of new equity we can issue, in each case without approval from XM Radio.


2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan


In January 2003, our board of directors adopted the Sirius Satellite Radio 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (the "2003 Plan"), and
on March 4, 2003 our stockholders approved this plan. On May 25, 2004, our stockholders approved an amendment to the 2003 Plan to include
members of our board of directors as eligible participants. Employees, consultants and members of our board of directors are eligible to receive
awards under the 2003 Plan. The 2003 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other stock-based
awards that the compensation committee of our board of directors may deem appropriate.


Vesting and other terms of stock-based awards are set forth in the agreements with the individuals receiving the awards. Stock-based
ards granted under the 2003 Plan are generally subject to a vesting requirement that includes one or all of the following: (1) over time,


generally three to ftve years from the date of grant; (2) on a specific date in future periods, with acceleration to earlier periods if performance
criteria are satisfied; or (3) as certain performance targets set at the time of grant are achieved. Stock-based awards generally expire ten years
from date of grant. Each restricted stock unit entitles the holder to receive one share of our common stock upon vesting.


As of March 31, 2007, approximately 86,213,000 stock options, shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units were outstanding. As
of March 31, 2007, approximately 74,235,000 shares of our common stock were available for grant under the 2003 Plan. During the three
months ended March 31, 2007, employees exercised 286,202 stock options at exercise prices ranging from $0.65 to $3.30 per share, resulting
in proceeds to us of $356. The exercise of the remaining outstanding, vested options could result in an inflow of cash in future periods.


Contractual Cash Commitments


For a discussion of our "Contractual Cash Commitments" refer to Note 11 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements,
Commitments and Contingencies, of this Form 10-Q.


Critical Accounting Policies


For a description of our Critical Accounting Policies refer to "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" within our Annual Report on Form I 0-K for the year ended
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December 31, 2006 and Note 3 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of this Form
IO-Q.


Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk


As of March 31, 2007, we did not have any derivative financial instruments and we do not intend to use derivatives. We do not hold or
issue any free-standing derivatives. We hold investments in marketable securities, which consist of certificates of deposit and auction rate
securities. We classify our marketable securities as available-for-sale. These securities are consistent with the investment objectives contained
within our investment policy. The basic objectives of our investment policy are the preservation of capital, maintaining sufficient liquidity to
meet operating requirements and maximizing yield. Despite the underlying long-term maturity of auction rate securities, from the investor’s
perspective, such securities are priced and trade as short-term investments because of the interest rate reset feature. Interest rates are reset
through an auction process at predetermined periods of 28 or 35 days. Failed auctions rarely occur. As of March 31, 2007, we did not hold any
auction rate securities.


Our long-term debt includes fixed interest rates and the fair market value of the debt is sensitive to changes in interest rates. Under our
current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate fluctuations.


Item 4. Controls and Procedures


As of March 31, 2007, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including Mel
Karmazin, our Chief Executive Officer, and David J. Frear, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2007. There have
been no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that could materially affect, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting for the three months ended March 31, 2007.
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Part II


. ~m 1. Legal Proceedings


Other Information


FCC Inquiry. In April 2006, we learned that XM Radio and two manufacturers of SIRIUS radios had received inquiries from the
Federal Communications Commission as to whether the FM transmitters in their products complied with the FCC’s emissions and frequency
rules. We promptly began an internal review of the compliance of the FM transmitters in a number of our radios. In June 2006, we learned that
a third manufacturer of SIRIUS radios had received an inquiry from the Federal Communications Commission as to whether the FM
transmitters in its products complied with the FCC’s emissions and frequency rules. In June 2006, we received a letter from the FCC making
similar inquiries. In July 2006, we responded to the letter from the FCC in respect of the preliminary results of our review. In August 2006, we
received a follow-up letter of inquiry from the FCC and responded to the FCC’s further inquiry. We continue to cooperate with the FCC’s
inquiry.


During our internal review, we determined that certain of our radios with FM transmitters were not compliant with FCC rules. We have
taken a series of actions to correct the problem.


In connection with our internal review, we discovered that certain SIRIUS personnel requested manufacturers to produce SIRIUS radios
that were not consistent with the FCC’s rules. As a result of this review, we are taking significant steps to ensure that this situation does not
happen again, including the adoption of a compliance plan, approved by our board of directors, to ensure that in the future our products comply
with all applicable FCC rules.


The FCC’s laboratory has tested a number of our products and found them to be compliant with the FCC’s rules. We believe our radios
that are currently in production comply with applicable FCC’s rules. No health or safety issues are involved with these SIRIUS radios and
radios which are factory-installed in new vehicles are not affected.


We have retained the services of an engineering compliance officer to report to our Vice President of Internal Audit, who reports to our
Audit Committee.


In October 2006, we ceased operating 11 of our terrestrial repeaters which we discovered had been operating at variance to the
ecifieations and applied to the FCC for new authority to resume operating these repeaters.


Copyright Royal~y Board Proceeding. We are a party to a proceeding before the Copyright Royalty Board of the Library of Congress to
establish the royalty rate and terms for the sound recordings we use on our satellite radio service for the period for 2007 through 2012. In
October 2006, we and XM Radio filed our direct case in this proceeding with the Copyright Royalty Board and proposed a royalty rate of
0.88% of our satellite radio subscription revenue. SoundExchange, the organization that collects and distributes royalties from various digital
music services on behalf of artists and music labels, simultaneously submitted its direct case in this proceeding and proposed an increasing
royalty rate, beginning at 10% of our gross revenues in the first year and culminating at 23% of our gross revenues in the sixth year. This
submission of direct eases is the beginning of a twelve to eighteen month process which, absent an agreement among the parties, will result in a
determination by the Copyright Royalty Board of an applicable royalty rate. Discovery in this matter is ongoing.


The Copyright Royalty Board must set a rate that is calculated to achieve four statutory objectives:


¯ to maximize the availability of creative works to the public;


¯ to afford the copyright owner a fair return for his creative work and the copyright user a fair income under existing economic
conditions;


¯ to reflect the relative roles of the copyright owner and the copyright user in the product made available to the public with respect to
relative creative contribution, teelmologieal contribution, capital investment, cost, risk and contribution to the opening of new markets
for creative expression and media for their communication; and
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¯ to minimize any disruptive impact on the structure of the industries involved and on generally prevailing industry practices.


We believe that the fee we proposed achieves these objectives and is consistent in principle with the fee established under the same
for digital cable audio.


U.S. Electronics Arbitration. U.S. Electronics Inc., a licensed distributor and a former licensed manufacturer of SIRIUS radios, has
commenced an arbitration proceeding against us. U.S. Electronics alleges that we breached our contract; failed to pay monies owed under the
contract; tortiously interfered with U.S. Electronics’ relationships with retailers and manufacturers; withheld information relating to the FCC’s
inquiring into SIRIUS radios that include FM modulators; and otherwise acted in bad faith. U.S. Electronics is seeking at least $48 million in
damages. We believe that a substantial portion of these damages are barred by the limitation of liability provisions contained in the contract
between us and U.S. Electronics. U.S. Electronics contends, and will be permitted to try to prove in the arbitration, that these provisions do not
bar its damages because of, among other reasons, our alleged bad faith and tortious conduct. We are vigorously defending this action.


Other Matters. In the ordinary course of business, we are a defendant in various lawsuits and arbitration proceedings, including actions
filed by former employees, parties to contracts or leases and owners of patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. None of
these actions are, in our opinion, likely to have a material adverse effect on our business or financial results.


Item 1A. Risk Factors


Reference is made to the Risk Factors set forth in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.
The Risk Factors remain applicable from our Form 10-K.


Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds


Not applicable.


Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities


Not applicable.


Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders


Not applicable.


Item 5. Other Information


Not applicable.


Item 6. Exhibits


See Exhibit Index attached hereto.
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SIGNATURES


Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its


C-~half by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.                                                                        /


SIRIUS SATELLITE R. ADIO INC.


May 10, 2007
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EXHIBIT INDEX


Exhibit
2.1


3.1


3.2


4.1


4.2


4.3


4.4


4.5


4.6


4.7


4.8


4.9


4.10


Description
--Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 19, 2007, by and among the Company., Vernon


Merger Corporation and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 21, 2007).


--Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated March 4, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).


--Amended and Restated By-Laws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).


--Form of certificate for shares of Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-74782)).


--Warrant Agreement, dated as of May 15, 1999, between the Company and United States Trust Company
of New York, as warrant agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4.4 to the Company’s Registration


Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-82303)).


--Indenture, dated as of September 29, 1999, between the Company and United States Trust Company of
Texas, N.A., as trustee, relating to the Company’s 83,6% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October
13, 1999).


--First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 29, 1999, between the Company and United States
Trust Company of Texas, N.A., as trustee, relating to the Company’s 8¾% Convertible Subordinated
Notes due 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.01 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on October 1, 1999).


--Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 4, 2003, among the Company, The Bank of New York
(as successor to United States Trust Company of Texas, N.A.), as resigning trustee, and HSBC Bank
USA, as successor trustee, relating to the Company’s 8¾% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002).


--Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 7, 2003, between the Company and HSBC Bank USA,
as trustee, relating to the Company’s 8¾% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2002).


--Form of 8¾% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2009 (incorporated by reference to Article VII of Exhibit
4.01 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 1999).


--Indenture, dated as of May 23, 2003, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 30,
2003).


--First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 23, 2003, between the Company and The Bank of New York,
as trustee, relating to the Company’s 3½% Convertible Notes due 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 30, 2003).


--Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 20, 2004, between the Company and The Bank of
New York, as trustee, relating to the Company’s 2½% Convertible Notes due 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003).
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Exhibit
4.11


4.12


Description,.
--Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 13, 2004, between the Company and The Bank of New


York, as trustee, relating to the Company’s 3%% Convertible Notes due 2011 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 13, 2004).


--Indenture, dated as of August 9, 2005, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee relating
to the Company’s 9 5/8 % Senior Notes due 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2005).


4.13 -----Common Stock Purchase Warrant granted by the Company to DaimlerChrysler AG dated October 4, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2005).


4.14 ----Common Stock Purchase Warrant granted by the Company to Ford Motor Company dated October 7, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2002).


4.15 --Form of Media-Based Incentive Warrant dated February 3, 2004 issued by the Company to NFL Enterprises
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.25 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003).


4.16 --Bounty-Based Incentive Warrant dated February 3, 2004 issued by the Company to NFL Enterprises LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.26 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003).


4.17


4.18


--Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2000, between the Company and
United States Trust Company of New York, as warrant agent and escrow agent (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.27 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-65602)).


----Customer Credit Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2006, between the Company and Space Systems/Loral,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2006).


10.1.1 --Lease Agreement, dated as of March 31, 1998, between Rock-McGraw, Inc. and the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 1998).


10.1.2 --Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 22, 2000, between Rock-McGraw, Inc. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2000).


"10.2 --Employment Agreement dated November 18, 2004 between the Company and Mel Karmazin (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December


3 l, 2004).


"10.3 --Employment Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2003, between the Company and David J. Frear (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2003).


"10.4


"10.5


--First Amendment, dated as of August 10, 2005, to the Employment Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2003,
between the Company and David Frear (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated August 12, 2005).


--Employment Agreement, dated as of May 5, 2004, between the Company and Scott A. Greenstein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter


ended June 30, 2004).
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Exhibit
"10.6


* 10.7


"10.8


* 10.9


*10.10


~" 10.11


31.1


31.2


32.1


32.2


Description
--First Amendment, dated as of August 8, 2005, to the Employment Agreement, dated as of May 5, 2004,


between the Company and Scott Greenstein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 12, 2005).


--Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2005, between the Company and James E. Meyer
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 12,


2005).


--CD Radio Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-65473)).


--Amended and Restated Sirius Satellite Radio 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2004).


--Form of Option Agreement, dated as of December 29, 1997, between the Company and each Optionee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1998).


--Joint Development Agreement, dated as of February 16, 2000, between the Company and XM Satellite
Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2000).


--Certificate ofMel Karmazin, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)


--Certificate of David J. Frear, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).


-~Certificate ofMel Karmazin, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).


--Certificate of David J. Frear, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).


This document has been identified as a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.


Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Applications for Confidential treatment filed by the Company with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.+
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EXHIBIT 31.1


CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER


.del Karmazin, the Chief Executive Officer of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc., certify that:


I. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. for the period ended March 31, 2007;


Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;


3o Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;


4o The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:


(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;


(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;


(c)


(d)


Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and


Disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and


5o The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):


(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and


(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.


By: /s/M EL K ARMAZIN
Mel Karmazin
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)


May 10,2007







EXHIBIT 31.2


CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER


J. Frear, the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc., certify that:


1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. for the period ended March 31, 2007;


Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;


4o


Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(0) for the registrant and have:


(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;


Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;


(c)


(d)


Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and


Disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):


(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and


Co) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting.


By: /s! D AVID J. F REAR
David J. Frear
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


May 10, 2007







EXHIBIT 32.1


CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,


AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY


ACT OF 2002


In connection with the Quarterly Report of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof(the "Report"), I, Mel Karmazin, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:


(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and


(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.


By: /s/M EL K ARMAZIN
Mel Karmazin
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)


May 10, 2007


A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been
provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.







EXHIBIT 32.2


CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,


AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY


ACT OF 2002


In connection with the Quarterly Report of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 3 I,
2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof(the "Report"), I, David J. Frear, Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:


(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and


(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.


By: /s/D AVID J. F ~AR
David J. Frear
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Of-fleer
(Principal Financial Officer)


May 10, 2007


A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been


Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549


FORM 10-Q


QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934


For The Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2007


Commission I.ILS. Employer
File Identification


Number Exact name of Re[~i~trant A~ Specified in it~ Charter Number


000-27441 XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. 54-1878819
333-39178 XM SATELLITE RADIO INC. s2-1~102


DELAWARE
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of both registrantQ


1500 ECKINGTON PLACE, NE
WASHINGTON, DC 20002-2194


(AddrelJ of principal executive offices) (Zip code)


202-380-4000
(Registrants’ telephone number, including area code)


Indicate by check mark whether each registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes [] No []


Indicate by check mark whether each registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act).


XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.
XM Satellite Radio Inc.


Large Accelerated Filer []
Large Accelerated Filer []


Accelerated Filer []
Accelerated Filer []


Non-Accelerated Filer
Non-Accelerated Filer


Indicate by check mark whether each registrant is a shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b- 2). Yes [] No []


Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.


XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC.
CLASS A COMMON STOCK, $0.01 PAR VALUE


XM SATELLITE RADIO INC.
COMMON STOCK, $0.10 PAR VALUE


(all shares are issued to XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.)


(Outstanding a~ of March 31~ 2007)


306,082,407
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS


"Safe Harbor" Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: This Form 10,Q contains forward-looking statements intended to qualify for the
safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Without limitation, the words "anticipates," "believes," "estimates,"
"expects," "intends," "plans," "will" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All statements that address operating performance,
events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future -- including statements relating to growth, expected levels of expenditures and statements
expressing general optimism about future operating results -- are forward-looking statements. Similarly, statements that describe the Company’s business strategy,
outlook, objectives, plans, intentions or goals also are forward-looking statements. All such forward-looking statements including those presented elsewhere by our
management from time to time are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements.
These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described in Part I, "Item 1A. Risk Factors" of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006
filed with the SEC on March 1, 2007. These cautionary statements should not be construed by you to be exhaustive and are made only as of the date of this filing. The
Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE


This quarterly report on Form 10-Q is a combined report being filed by two separate registrants: XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. (the "Company", "Holdings", or
"XM") and XM Satellite Radio Inc. ("Inc."). Holdings’ principal wholly owned subsidiary is Inc., and as such, the information presented in this report regarding Inc.
also applies to Holdings. Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms "we," "our," "us," refers to Holdings. Holdings fully and unconditionally guarantees Inc.’s
registered debt securities. The combined report includes Holdings’ unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as the only set of financial statements; an
explanation of the differences between the companies is in the Notes to the anandited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements; and condensed consolidating
financial information regarding Inc. The management’s discussion and analysis section has also been combined, focusing on the financial condition and results of
operations of Holdings, which is consistent with the inclusion in the combined report of one set of financial statements.


We make available certain reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") that can be accessed, free of charge, through our website at
http://www.xmradio.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with the SEC.
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ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION


XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES


UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS


(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Revenue:


Subscription
Activation
Merchandise
N~ ad sal~
Other


Total revenue.
Operating expenses:


" Co~t of revenue (excludes depreciati6n & amortization, shown below):~
Revenue share & royalties
Customer care & billing operations(l)
Cost of merchandise
Ad sales(D
Satellite & terrestrial(l)
Broadcast & operations:                                     "


Broadcast(0


Operatien.sO) ¯
Total broadcast & operations
Programming & ~ontent0)


Total cost of revenue
Rese~i’~h. &’d.ev .e,lol~.h.t ~excl.udes depilation .~ aw~o,..rti~. ~o,n~ shi3, wn .bei~wXD ¯
General & administrative (excludes depreciation & amortization, shown belowXl)
Marketi~ig (excludes dt~re~iafion & amortization, shown below):          ¯


Retention & suppert(I)
Subsidies & distribution
Advertising & marketing


Marketing
Amortization of GM liability


Total marketing
Depreciation & amortization


Total operating expenses(I)
Operating loss


Three month~ended
March 31t


2007 20O6


$ 236,486 $ 188,102
4,654 3,579
5,297 3,551
7,478 6,5~’8


10,197 6,216
264~112


47,426 34,276
27,928 22,455
18~77 7,993


13,882 13,049


6,544 5,852
.... -" -’ . 9~716~." °~


16,260 14,739


"" 43~952" ’ ’ "


171,110 133,511


34,185 17,~630


9,756 8,047
43,6O2 55,473
32,809 33~925
86,167 97,445


6~504 9~313
92,671 106,758
46,882 39:882


352~|58 308~762
(88,046) (100,796)
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES


UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS - (Continued)


(in thousands, ex~ept share and per share dala)
Other income (expense): :. /


Interest income
Interestexpend.                                   .
Loss from de=leveraging transactions
Equity in net lo~s of affiliate
Minority interest


Net loss before income taxes
(lhovision for) benefit from deferred incon~ taxes


Net loss
8.25% Series B ~md C preferred Stock dividend rezlUircmcnt


Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per common shar~ - basic and diluted
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per common share - basic and diluted


$
$


Three months ended
March Sl~


2007 2006


3,544 6,573
(27,609) (33,236)
(2,965) (18,380)
(5,425)- (8,884)
(1,697) --


444 4,634
(121,754) (150,089)


(684) 868
(122,438) (149,221)


(122,438)    $ (151,370)


305,877,670         253,213,066


(I) These captions include non-cash stock-based compensation expense as follows:


On thousands)
Customer care & billing operations
Ad sales
Satellite & terrestrial
Broadcast
Operations -
Frogramming & content
Research & development
General & administrative
Retention & Support’        ¯ ¯


Total stock-based compensation


Three months ended Morch 31~
2007                   2006


$ 440 $ 86
356 428
520 46I
600 481
378 583"


2,166 1,892
1,72~6 1,457,
6,048 5,061


$ 14,131 $     12,061


See accompanying Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES


CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS


On thousands, except share and per share data)


ASSETS
Current assets:


Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,240 and $4,946
~ from related parties
Related party prepaid expenses
Prepaid programming content.
Prepaid and other current assets


Total cun’ent assets
Restricted investments
Systemimder¢onetmction                                                 . . - ~
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $814,339 and $767,768
DARS li~n~
Intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $8,533 and $8,222
D~f.~rred financing f~es, n~t ofaccumuleted amortization of $22,292 and $20,537              ..
Related party prepaid expenses, net of current portion
Inve .stm~ts
Prepaid and other assets, net o£ current portion


Total ess~ta
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT


Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accreed expenses
Accrued satellite liability
Accrued interest
Current portion of long-term debt
Due to related parties
Subecriber deferred revenue


Total current liabilities
Long-tarm debt, net of cun’ent po~un
Subscriber deferred revenue, net of current portion
De(~rr~. !n~_’me~ n~ 0fcunm por~on,
Other non-current liabilities


:. Tot~ iiabililies.i ¯


Commitments and contingencies
Minority interest -- "
Stockholders’ deficit:


Series A convertible preferred stock, par value $0.01 (liqul ~dation preference of $51,370 at March 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006); 15,000,000 shaves authorized, 5,393,252 shares issded and o .uts~anding at March 31, 2007
and December 31, 2006


Class A common stock, par value $0.01; 600,000,000 shares authorized, 306,082,407 shares and 305,781,515
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively


Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit


Total stockholders’ deficit
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit


March 31,
2007


(unaudited)


$ 319,391
54,914
8,672


71,021
71,835


568,651
396¯


138,760
814,683
141,387


4,329
40,273


155,388
75,015


4~282
$ L943~164


$ 44,232
131,464


2,145
34,704
14,365
48,805


358,974
91915


644,604
1,478,936


94,697
129,074-
40,829


2~388~140


59,397


54


3,061
3,545


3,109,881
(3,620,914)


(504~373)


December 31,
2006


$ 218,216
62,293
13,991
66,946
28,172
431040


432,65~8
2,098


126,049~:
849,662


4,640


160,712
80,592


41219
$ 1,840,618


$     51,844
147,591
64,875
1~482
!4,445
46,459


340,711
91915


694,322
1;286,17~


86~82
130,780
40,735


2~238,498


54


3,058
3,590


3,093,894
(3A98,476)


~397,880)
$ 1,840~618


See accompanying Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES


UNAUD1TED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS


Cash flows fro.m operating.a~tivities~
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net lossto net cash used in operating activitie[:


Provision for doubtful accounts
DepreciatiOn and lUnoilJzation
Amortization of deferred income related to XM Canada
LosS from de-levdraging transactions
Non-cash loss on equity in affiliate
Amortization of deferred financing fees and debt discount
Stock-based compensation
Provision for (benefit ,flOra) deferred income taxes
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Minorit~ interest ¯
Other
Changes in opera~ting assets and liabilities:’


Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease (inc~ase) in due from related parties
Increase in prepaid programming content
Decrease in prepaid and other asseLs
Decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Increase in accrued interest
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties
Increase in subscfil~e_r deferred rev~nu~     " "
Decrease in deferred income


Net cash used in Operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:


Purcha~ of prol~-a~d equipment     , - , -’ ~ ,~ "
Additions to system under construction
Pio~e~ds from sal~ of ass~i
Net maturity (purchase) of res~cted investments


Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:


Proceeds f~om exercise of warrants and stock options
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transaction
Payment of premiums On de-lever~ing transactions
Retirement of mortgages on corporate facilities
Payments on other borrowings
Deferred financing costs


Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of :l~od
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period


Three months ended
March 31~


2007 2006


(122,438) S (149,221)


3,202
46,882
(2,498)
2,965
5,425
2,602


14,131
684


1,693
(39)


3,055
39~88~
(2,523)


8,884


12)061


(4,378)


187


4,218
5,319


(43,662)
1,408


(8,866)
16,222
2,346


26,478
792


(43~132)


(73,132),


1 ~702
(96~302)


(4,550)
(2,392)


(17,646)
9,157


(11.3,826)
14,682~
(9,327}


- 7~’,~4o’,


(161r134)


(1~,9~
(22,225)
-6,~


2O
(3o,16o)


1,857
288,500


(2,965) ---
(38,877) --
(3,975) (2,012)
(3~931) --


240~609 1~123
101,175 (190,171)
218~216, 7i0,991"


$    319,391 $    520,820


See accompanying Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES


NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


(1) Nature of Business


XM Satellite Radio Inc. ("Inc.") was incorporated on December 15, 1992 in the State of Delaware for the purpose of operating a digital audio radio service ("DARS")
under a license from the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"). XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. ("Holdings") was formed as a holding company for Inc. on
May 16, 1997. The Company commenced commercial operations in two markets on September 25, 2001 and completed its national rollout on November 12, 2001.


As of March 31, 2007, the principal differences between the financial conditions of Holdings and Inc., were:


¯ the ownership by Holdings of the corporate headquarters and data center since August 2001 and September 2005, respectively, and the lease of these
buildings to Inc.;


XM-1, XM-2, and XM-3, except for the B702 bus portion of XM-3, are owned by Inc.; the transponders of XM-4, are owned by Satellite Leasing
(702-4) LLT, a separate legal entity subject to consolidation by the Company and leased to Inc.; and XM-5 and the B702 bus portion of XM-3 and
XM-4 are owned by Holdings;


the presence at Holdings of additional indebtedness, primarily the 1.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2009, not guaranteed by Inc.;


the investments by Holdings in Canadian Satellite Radio (including related revenue and deferred income) and WorldSpace, Inc.; and


¯ the existence of cash balances at Holdings.


Accordingly, the results of operations for Inc. and its subsidiaries are substantially the same as the results for Holdings and its subsidiaries except that Inc. has:


¯ additional rent, less depreciation and amortization expense and less other income, in each case principally related to Inc.’s rental of its corporate
headquarters and data center buildings from Holdings, which are intercompany transactions that have been eliminated in the consolidated Holdings
financial statements;


less interest expense principally related to the additional indebtedness at Holdings;


less revenue associated with the amortization of deferred income and equity in losses from Holdings’ investment in Canadian Satellite Radio;


no gains or losses on Holdings’ investments in Canadian Satellite Radio or WorldSpace, Inc.; and


less interest income because of additional cash balances at Holdings.


Proposed Merger


On February 19, 2007, XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. ("XM") and Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. ("Sirius") entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger
Agreement"), pursuant to which XM and Sirius will combine its businesses through a merger of XM and a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of Sirius (the
"Merger").


Each of XM and Sirius has made customary representations and warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement. The completion of the Merger is subject to various
closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of XM’s and Sirius’ stockholders and receiving certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (including from the
Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") and under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended).


XM filed a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended ("the HSR Act"), with respect to the
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement between XM and Sirius. On April 12, 2007, both XM and Sirius received from the Department of Justice requests
for additional information and documentary material relating to the merger, generally referred to as a "Second Request." The effect of the Second Request is to extend
the waiting period imposed by the HSR Act until 30 days after XM and Sirius have substantially complied with the Second Request.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)


On March 20, 2007, XM and Sirius filed a Consolidated Application for Authority to Transfer Control with the FCC with respect to the Merger Agreement. XM and
Sirius anticipate that the FCC will issue a public notice in the near future that sets a schedule to comment on the Merger. The public notice will trigger a comment
period followed by a reply period.


(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices


Principles of Consolidation and Basis of presentation


The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated. In addition, the Company evaluates its relationships with other entities to identify whether they are
variable interest entities as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Interpretation ("FIN") No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,
and to assess whether it is the primary beneficiary of such entities. If the determination is made that the Company is the primary beneficiary, then that entity is
consolidated in the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with FIN No. 46(R). Beginning March 31, 2007, the Company reported a
variable interest entity subject to consolidation by the Company pursuant to FIN No. 46(R). Satellite Leasing (702-4) LLT is a separate legal entity whose primary
beneficiary, as defined under FIN No. 46(R), is the Company. Satellite Leasing (702-4) LLC, an entity solely owned by the equity investors in the transaction, will be
entitled to the residual benefits, including ownership of the assets of the trust after repayment of the debt incurred by that entity.


The accompanying interim unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted
accounting principles. It is suggested that these interim unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements
and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed with the SEC on March 1, 2007. All edjaslments
that, in the opinion of managemant, are necessary for a fair presentation of the periods presented have been reflected as required by Regulation S-X, Rule 10-01.


Reclassifications


Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Amounts from Subsidies & distribution in the amount of $4.3 million
were reclassified to Advertising & marketing related to on-going loyalty payments.


Restricted Investments


Restricted investments consist principally of certificates of deposits. During the three months ended March 31, 2007, the restricted investments which represented
securities held in escrow on the Company’s buildings were redeemed and included in the total cash paid to retire the mortgage loans on the buildings. There were no
gross unrealized holding gains or losses on these restricted investments at December 31, 2006.


Inventory


Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or market. The Company provides estimated inventory allowances for excess, slow moving and obsolete invantory as
well as inventory whose carrying value is in excess ofnct realizable value. Inventories consist of both finished goods and raw materials. The Company had $13.5
million and $17.0 million ofnct inventory at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, which are included in Prepaid and other current assets on the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.


During the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded total inventory write-down charges of $5.2 million and $0, respectively, which
charges are reflected in Cost of merchandise in the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.


Investments


Investments in marketable equity securities of companies in which XM does not have a controlling interest or is unable to exert significant influence are accounted for
at market value if the investments are publicly traded and resale restrictions of less than one year exist ("available-for-sale equity securities"). Unrealized holding gains
and losses on marketable available-for-sale equity securities are earned net of taxes as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income in Stockholders’
deficit in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)


Investments in equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair values and in which XM does not have a controlling interest or is unable to exert significant
influence are recorded at cost, subject to other than temporary impairment ("cost method").


For those investments in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, the equity method of accounting is used. Under this method, the
investment, originally recorded at cost, is adjusted to recognize the Company’s share of net earnings or losses of the affiliate as they occur rather than as dividends or
other distributions are received, limited to the extent of the Company’s investment in, advances to and commitments to the investee. The Company’s share of net
earnings or loss of affiliate is recorded in Other income (expense).


Investments are periodically reviewed for impairment and a write down is recorded whenever declines in fair value below carrying value are determined to be other
than temporary. In making this determination, the Company considers, among other factors, the severity and duration oftbe decrease as well as the likelihood of a
recovery within a reasonable timeframe.


Properly and Equipment


Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Equipment under capital leases and leasehold improvements are stated at the
present value of minimum lease payments. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:


Spacecraft system
Terrestrial repeater network
Spacecraft control and uplink facilities
Broadcast facilities
Computer systems
Building and improvements
Furniture and fi~mes
Equipment under capital leases and leasehold improvements


6.75 - 15 years
5 - 10 years
17.5 years
3 - 7 years
3 - 7 years
20 years
3- 7 years
Lesser of useful life
or remaining lease term


Maintenance and repairs costs are expensed as incurred, whereas expenditures for renewal and betterments are capitalized. The cost of internally developed software is
capitalized in accordance with Statement of Position ("SOP") 98-1, .4ccountingfor the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtainsd for Internal Use, and
amortized over its estimated useful life. Interest costs incurred in connection with the construction of major equipment and facilities are capitalized as part of the asset
cost to which it relates and depreciated over the asset’s useful life. Upon the normal sale or retirement of depreciable property, the net carrying value less any salvage
value is recognized as an operating gain or loss in the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.


In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, long-lived
assets, such as property and equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the canying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset
to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the canying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an
impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.


Net Loss Per Common Share


The Company computes net loss per common share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (’°SAW’) No. 98,
Computations of Earntngs Per Share. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 128 and SAB No. 98, basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss
attributable to common stockholders (after deducting preferred dividend requirements) for the period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average
number of common and dilutive equivalent shares outstanding during the period Options, warrants and convertible instruments outstanding as of March 31, 2007 to
purchase 51 million shares of common stock (47 million of which were vested) were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per common share for the three
months ended March 31,2007 as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Options, warrants and convertible instruments outstanding as of March 31, 2006 to
purchase 90 million shares of
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)


common stock (85 million of which were vested) were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2006
as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Unvasted shares of restricted stock in the amount of 3,441,608 and 2,255,754 as of March 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, are not included in the computation of basic net loss per common share or in diluted net loss per common share because their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive. The Company had a net loss in each of the periods presented, and therefore, basic and diluted net loss per common share are the same.


Comprehensive Income or Loss


Accumulated other comprehensive income or loss is reported on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale
securities (see Note 4, under the heading" WorldSpace ") and foreign currency translation adjustments (see Note 4, under the heading" Canadian Satellite Radio ") are
included in other comprehensive income or loss. However, in the event that an unrealized loss is deemed other than temporary, the loss is recognized in earnings. The
components of Comprehensive income or loss for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows (in thousands):


N~t loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities
Foreign currency translation adjnslment~ net of tax


Total comprehensive loss


Three months ended
March 31)


2007 2006


125 (6,688)


The Company did not recognize a tax expense for the unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities for the three months ended March 31, 2007, as the investment did
not have a cumulative gain. Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities for the three months ended March 31, 2006 is shown net of tax benefit of approximately
$4.2 million. Foreign currency Wanslation adjustment, for the three months ended March 31, 2007, is shown net of tax benefit of approximately $0.1 million. Foreign
currency translation adjustment, for the three months ended March 31, 2006, is shown net of tax expense of approximately $1.4 million. The unrealized loss on
available-for-sale securities relates to the Company’s investment in WorldSpace, while the foreign currency a’anslation adjustment relates to the Company’s investment
in XM Canada (discussed further in Note 4).


Recent Accounting Pronouncements


In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Optton for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Including an Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 115. This Statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve financial
reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently without
having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. This Statement is expected to expand the use of fair value measurement, which is consistent with the Board’s
long-term measurement objectives for accounting for financial instruments. This Statement is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins
after November 15, 2007. The Company will adopt this Statement effective January 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact oftbe adoption of SFAS
No. 159 on its consolidated results of operations and financial position.
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(3) Property and Equipment


Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):


Spacecraft system
Terrestrial repeater network
Spacocmt~ control and uplink facilities
Broadcast facilities
Land
Buildings and improvements
Computer systems, furniture and fixtures, and equipment
Total property and equipment
Aocumiilated depreciation and amortization


Property and equipment, net


March 31, December Sl,
2007 2006


$ 905,535, $ 905,507
264,315 264,223
46,9~ 8 46~181
65,336 65,302
8,788 8,788


73,310 73,252
264,820


1,629,022 1,617,430


$ 814,683 $ 849,662


Spacecraft System


The Company currently operates four in-orbit satellites, all of which are owned, except for the transponders on XM-4, which are leased under a capital lease. The
Company launched its first two satellites, XM-1 and XM-2 in the first half of 2001 prior to the commencement of commercial operations. Depreciation commenced
upon acceptance of the satellites from Boeing Satellite Systems, which occurred during the first half of 200 I. The XM-I and XM-2 satellites suffer from a progressive
solar array power degradation issue and during 2004, the Company recovered from insurers approximately $142 million, of which $134 million was recorded as a
reduction to the carrying values of XM-I and XM-2. In February 2005, XM-3 was successfully launched and moved into the 85° West Longitude orbital location. In
October 2006, XM-4 was successfully launched and moved into the 115° West Longitude orbital location. XM-1 and XM-2 are collocated with XM-4, and are in-orbit
spares. Depreciation of XM-3 and XM-4 commenced upon acceptance of the satellites, which occurred during April 2005 and December 2006, respectively. In
February 2007, the transponders on XM-4 were the subject of a sale-leaseback transaction and are now being depreciated over their nine-year lease term, less the
estimated residual value.


(4) Investments


The Company’s investments consist of an equity method investment, a cost method investment and available-for-sale equity securities as follows (in thousands):


March Sl, December 51,
2007 2006


Equity method investment $ 68,550 $- 74,252
Cost method investment 480 480
Available-for-sale equity securities 5,985 5, .86Q


Total investments $ 75,015 $ 80,592


Equity Method Investment


Canadian Satellite Radio ("XM Canada")


In November 2005, XM entered into a number of agreements ("Agreements") with XM Canada that provide XM Canada with exclusive rights to offer XM satellite
digital radio service in Canada. In December 2005, XM Canada issued to XM 11,077,500 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares representing a 23.33% ownership interest
and 11% voting interest in XM Canada. These shares were determined to have an initial fair value of $152.1 million, based on the XM Canada initial public offering
price of CDN$16.00 per share. The Agreements have an initial term often years and XM Canada has the unilateral option to extend the term of the Agreements for an
additional five years at no additional cost beyond the current financial arrangements. XM Canada has expressed its intent to exercise this option at the end oftbe initial
term of the Agreements.


The various deliverables of these Agreements entered into in November 2005 are considered a single accounting unit in accordance with the EITF No. 00-21, and as
such are accounted for as follows:


The $152. I million fair value of the shares received is recorded as Deferred income on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and
amortized on a straight-line basis into income as Other revenue in the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations over the 15-year
expected term of the Agreements. During each of the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, XM amortized $2.5 million into income as
Other revenue. As of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Deferred income balance related to the fair value of shares received was $136.2
million and $138.6 million, respectively.
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The Company receives a 15% royalty fee for all subscriber fees earned by XM Canada each month for its basic service and a nominal activation fee
for each gross activation of an XM Canada subscriber on the Company’s system. Beginning in 2006, XM began to accrue for, and record as revenue,
royalties and activation fees related to XM Canada’s subscribers. During the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, XM accrued
approximately $0.8 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in subscriber revenue royalty and activation fees. During the three months ended
March 31, 2007 and 2006, recognized revenue was not material. The remaining unrecognized revenue was recorded as Deferred income and will be
amortized on a straight-line basis into income over the remaining expected term of the Agreements in accordance with the EITF No. 00-21. As of
March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Deferred income balance related to the subscriber revenue royalty and activation fees was $2.8 million
and $2.0 million, respectively. In subsequent periods, the Company will recognize the pro-rata portion of the current period’s accrued revenue in
addition to the amortization for each previous periods’ accrued revenue.


XM has also provided XM Canada with a CDN$45 million standby credit facility, which can only be utilized to finance purchases of terrestrial repeaters or for the
payment of subscription fees to XM. The facility matures on December 31,2012 and bears interest at a rate of 9% per annum. XM has the right to convert unpaid
principal amounts into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of XM Canada at the price of CDN$16.00 per share. As of March 31, 2007, XM Canada had not drawn on
this facility.


In addition, XM Canada will pay XM $69.1 million for the rights to broadcast and market National Hockey League ("NHL") games for the 10-year term of XM’s
contract with the NHL. The $69.1 million payment is comprised of $57.0 million in license fees and $12.1 million in advertising costs and is required to be paid in ten
annual installments ranging from $5.25 million to $7.5 million per year. In accordance with EITF No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an
Agent, XM recognizes these payments "gross as a principal" in Other revenue. During each of the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, XM recognized $1.1
million of license fees; advertising cost reimbursements were not material.


During 2006, XM recognized a $4.5 million gain as Other income related to the sale of 78 terrestrial repeaters to XM Canada during 2005. XM Canada purchased these
repeaters from XM at their original cost.


XM accounts for its ownership in XM Canada using the equity method of accounting. XM Canada has a fiscal year end of August 31. Therefore, XM will record its
share of XM Canada’s net income or loss, using the average currency exchange rate for the period, based on XM Canada’s quarterly periods ending on the last day of
February, May, August and November. Summarized financial information for XM Canada is as follows (US$ in thousands):


Current assets
Non-current assets


Non-current liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity


Revenl~s
Net loss
XM’s share of net loss


. Fcbruar~ 2St 2007             November 30~ 2006$ ~ 41,~ "’ $:- :- 50,6~.~
$ 231,478 $ 247,848


$ 102,745      S    101,674
$ 152,542      $    ! 79,0J3
Three montl~ ended Three month~ ended


Februar~ 2~ 2007 Februa!~/ 2~T 2006_
$ ’: 4,177’ $" ~ 99~
$ 23 253 S 38,106
s’- 5,425 S, ¯ 8,Sg4


During the three months ended March 31, 2007, XM recorded a currency translation loss of approximately $0.2 million, as a component of Accumulated other
comprehensive income in Stockholders’ deficit in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The $0.2 million loss is net of a tax benefit of approximately $0.1
million, which is offset by a corresponding $0.1 million
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expense to the Provision for deferred income taxes. During the three months ended March 31, 2006, XM recorded a currency translation gain of approximately $2.3
million, as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income in Stockholders’ deficit in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The $2.3 million gain is
net of a tax expense of approximately $1.4 million, which is offset by a corresponding $1.4 million benefit to the Provision for deferred income taxes.


During 2006, the Company reduced the carrying value of its investment in XM Canada due to a decrease in fair value that was considered to be other than temporary
and recorded an impairment charge of $57.6 million. XM Canada’s shares trade publicly on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol, "XSR.TO." The quoted
market price on February 28, 2007 (the date of XM Canada’s most recent financial statements) was CAD$6.65, or approximately US$5.68. Based on the number of
shares held by the Company on March 31, 2007, the fair value of the Company’s investment in XM Canada was approximately $63.0 million. As of March 31,2007
and December 31, 2006, the carrying value of the Company’s investment in XM Canada was approximately $68.6 million and $74.3 million, respectively. As of
March 31, 2007 and December 3 I, 2006, the amounts due from XM Canada were $3.2 million and $1.6 million, respectively, and are included in Prepaid and other
current assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.


Cost Method Investment and Available-for-Sale Equity Securities


WoridSpace


On July 18, 2005, XM acquired 1,562,500 shares of Class A common stock ofWorldSpace, Inc. ("WSI") and a warrant to purchase at WSI’s initial public offering
price of $21.00 an additional aggregate number of shares equal to $37.5 million, subject to certain operational vesting conditions, in exchange for $25.0 million. XM
allocated its $25.0 million investment between the two financial instruments, $12.9 million to the Class A common stock and $12.1 million to the warrant. XM accounts
for its investment in WSI Class A common stock as available-for-sale securities and accounts for its investment in the warrant under the cost method, subject to other
than temporary impairment. WorldSpace provides XM certain programming in exchange for a fixed monthly fee under an amended programming agreement that
extends through June 7, 2009.


During 2006, the Company reduced the canying values of its investments in WSI common stock and warrant due to decreases in fair values that were considered to be
other than temporary and recorded impairment charges of $7.3 million and $11.6 million, respectively. WorldSpace’s shares trade publicly on the NASDAQ Stock
Exchange under the symbol, "WRSP." The quoted market price on March 31, 2007 was $3.58. Based on the number of shares held by the Company, the fair value of
the Company’s investment in WSI common stock was approximately $5.6 million on March 31, 2007. As of March 31, 2007, the carrying value of the Company’s
investments in WSI common stock and warrant was approximately $5.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of the
Company’s investments in WSI common stock and warrant was approximately $5.5 million (which included $0.1 million of unrealized losses) and $0.5 million,
respectively.


(5) Deferred Financing Fees


Deferred financing fees consist of the following (in thousands):


10% senior secured discount convertible notes due 2009
9.75% senior notes due 2014
Senior floating rate notes due 2013.


1.75% convertible senior notes due 2009
Valuation of warrantsissued to rdated party in conjunction with credit facilities ’
Valuation of warrants issued to related party in conjunction with the issuance of 10% senior secured discount convertible notes


Mortgage
Sale-leaseback transaction of XM-4 satellite
To~al deferred financing fees
Accumulated amortization


Deferred financing fees, net


March 31, D~ember 31,
2007 2006


$ 1,432 $ 1~32
16,091 16,091
5,354


10,066 10,066
25,15! " 25,1~L"


540 540


3 931 --
62,565~ 59,i:~8’~


~) (20,537)
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(6) Long-Term Debt


Certain of the Company’s debt instruments and credit facility contain covenants that include restrictions on indebtedness, mergers, limitations on liens, liquidations and
sale and leaseback transactions, and also require the maintenance of certain financial ratios. The Company was in compliance with all of its covenants as of March 31,
2007. The Company’s debt instruments and credit facilities permit the debt issued thereunder to be accelerated upon certain events, including the failure to pay principal
when due under any of the Company’s other debt instruments or credit facilities subject to materiality thresholds.


The following table presents a summary of the debt activity for the three months ended March 31, 2007 (in thousands):


December 31, l~uanc, e~ / Discount Principal
2006 Additions Amortization ~


9.75% senior notes due2014 $ 600~.00Q. $ -- $ . ~-~ $ --
1.75% convertible senior notes due 2009 400L000 -- -- --
Seni6r floating rate .~tes due 2013 200,000 -- -- --
10% senior secured discount convertible notes due 2009 33,249 -- -- --


~: disc~ ~ - (5,2t3): -- 342 --
Debt of variable interest entity -- 230,800 -- --
Mortgages " ’ " 38;877" -- -- (38,877)
Capital leases 331711 4,387 -- (3,97~


Total debt !,300,624 $235,187 $ 342 ~
Less: current portion 141445
Long-term debt, net of current portion $ 1,286,179


Retirementl /        March 31,
2OO7


~ -- $ 600,000
400,000


--
33,249
(4,87~)


230,800


-
$ -- " 1,493,30i


14,365


Mortgages


1500 Eckington Place


As of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the remaining principal balance of the 1500 Eckington Place Mortgage Loan was $0 and $32.4 million, respectively.
Principal and interest at a fixed rate of 6.015% was payable monthly until the mortgage was scheduled to mature in September 2014. The mortgage loan was secured
by the building and an escrow with a balance of $1.4 million at December 31, 2006. The mortgage loan on this property was retired during February 2007, as further
discussed below under the heading, "Capital Lease - XM-4 Satellite" and the Company recorded a de-leveraging charge of $2.2 million.


60 Florida Avenue


As of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the remaining principal balance of the 60 Florida Avenue Mortgage Loan was $0 and $6.5 million, respectively.
Principal and interest at a fixed rate of 8.26% was payable monthly until the mortgage was scheduled to mature in September 2010. The raortgage loan was secured by
the building, the land, and an escrow with a balance of $0.3 million at December 31, 2006. The mortgage loan on this property was retired during February 2007, as
further discussed below under the heading, "Capital Lease -XM-4 Satellite" and the Company recorded a de-leveraging charge of $0.8 million.


Capital Lease - XM..4 Satellite


On February 13, 2007, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction with respect to the transponders on the XM-4 satellite, which was launched in October
2006 and placed into service during December 2006.


The Company sold the XM-4 transponders to Satellite Leasing (702-4) LLT ("Trust"), a third-party trust formed solely for the purpose of facilitating the sale-
leaseback transaction. The Tn~st pooled the funds used to purchase the transponders from a $57.7 million investment by an equity investor and the $230.8 million in


oproceeds from the issuance of its 10 % senior secured notes due 2013 ("Debt of variable interest entity"). The Company is accounting for
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the sale and leaseback of the transponders under sale-leaseback accounting with a capital lease, pursuant to FASB 13, Accounting for Leases, as amended.
Furthermore, the Company determined that the Trust is a variable interest entity, as that term is defined under FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 46(R), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities- An Interpretation of ARB No. 51, and that the Company is the primary beneficiary of the Trust. Pursuant to FIN No. 46(R), the Company
consolidated the Trust into its unandited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.


Under the terms of the lease, the Company is obligated to make payments that total approximately $437.4 million, of which $126.6 is interest, over the nine-year base
lease term as follows (in millions): $27.9 in 2007, $33.2 in 2008, $28.9 in 2009, $28.4 in 2010, $71.0 in 2011 and $248.0 thereafter.


Summary of the Transaction. Under the sale-leaseback arrangement, the Company sold the XM-4 t~ansponders to the Trust owned by Satellite Leasing (702-4) LLC
("Owner participant") for $288.5 million, representing the fair market value based on an appraisal performed by satellite consulting and lease appraisal firms. XM
Satellite Radio Inc. is leasing the transponders for a term of nine years with an early buy-out option in year five and a buy-out option at the end of the term. These
lease payment obligations, which are unconditional and guaranteed by XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., are senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of
payment with existing and future senior unsecured obligations.


Throughout the term of the lease, at any time when the Company is not investment grade, the Company will provide credit support to Owner Participant. To provide
this credit support, the Company retired the existing mortgages on its headquarters and data center properties in Washington, D.C. and put into place new mortgage
liens on those properties in favor of the Owner participant.


The Company will have full operational control over the transponders for the lease term, absent default. The Company is subject to an obligation to sell the XM-4 Bus,
the remaining component of the XM-4 satellite, to the lessor for a nominal sum in the event that the Company does not repurchase the transponders at the end of the
term°


The Company has an early buyont option in year five and a buy-out right at the end of the lease term, each at prices representing the fair market value based on an
appraisal performed by satellite consulting and lease appraisal firms. The Company has other rights to purchase the transponders or the equity interest in the lessor, all
at prices at or above the appraised fair market value. The Company also has tights to cause the lessor tu effect a refinancing oftbe notes, and any interest savings from
the refinancing would result in reduced lease payments.


The Company can be required to repurchase the transponders upon the occurrence of specified events, including an event of loss of the satellite (subject to the right to
substitute another satellite meeting equivalent or better value and functionality tests), changes in law that impose a material regulatory burden on the Owner
participant, changes of control and events resulting in the absence of another holder (other than the Company and its affiliates) of FCC satellite radio licenses in the
frequency bands that can be served by the XM-4 satellite. The Company has agreed to provide indemnities in the event that certain actions by the Company cause the
Owner participant to lose or not be able to take certain tax positions relating to the transaction.


(7) Financing Transactions


Satellite Sale-leaseback


On February 13, 2007, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction with respect to the transponders on the XM-4 satellite. The Company received net
proceeds of approximately $289 million from the transaction, of which $44 million (inclusive of interest) was used to retire outstanding mortgages on real property and
the remainder of which provides additional liquidity available for working capital and general corporate purposes.


De-leveraging Transactions


In January 2006, the Company exchanged $42.4 million aggregate carrying value, or $52.3 million aggregate fully accretnd face value at maturity, of its 10% Senior
Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009 by issuing approximately 17.1 million shares of Class A common stock. As a result of the exchange, the Company
recorded a de-leveraging charge consisting of a redemption premium of $18.4 million. In addition, the Company wrote-off an unamortized beneficial conversion feature
of $9.9 million to interest expense and unamortized debt issuance costs of $1.4 million to Additional paid-in capital.
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PreferredStock


The Company has authorized 60,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01, of which 15,000,000 shares were designated non-voting Series A convertible
preferred stock, 3,000,000 shares were designated non-voting 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock, and 250,000 shares were designated 8.25% Series
C convertible redeemable preferred stock, all of which are convertible into Class A common stock at the option of the holder. Additionally, 250,000 shares were
designated as non-voting Series D participating preferred stock in connection with the adoption of the Shareholders’ Rights Plan and are junior to all other classes of
preferred stock. The Series A preferred stock receives dividends, if declared, ratably with the common stock. The Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock
contained voting and certain consent rights.


There were 5,393,252 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding with a liquidation preference of $51.4 million as of March 31, 2007 and
December 3 l, 2006, respectively. During 2006, the Company repurchased the Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock and converted the Series C convertible
redeemable preferred stock. There were no shares issued and outstanding of the Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock, Series C convertible redeemable
preferred stock or Series D preferred stock as of March 3 l, 2007 and December 3 l, 2006, respectively.


Common Stock


The Company has authorized 600,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value of $0.01, of which 306,082,407 and 305,781,515 shares were issued and
outstanding as of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respeclively. The Company has authorized 15,000,000 shares of Class C common stock, par value of $0.01,
of which no shares were issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006.


(9) Stock-Based Compensation


The Company has three stock-based compensation plans. R is the prentice of the Company to satisfy awards and options granted under these plans through the issuance
of new shares. During the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company recognized compensation expense of $14.1 million and $12.1 million,
respectively. In each oftbe periods described above, compensation expense was recorded in the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations related to
these plans. For a summarized schedule of the distribution of stock-based compensation expense, see the appended foomote to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations on page 4 of this Form 10-Q. The Company did not capitalize any stock-based compensation cost during the three months ended March 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. The Company did not realize any income tax benefits from stock-based payment plans during the three months ended March 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, as a result of a full valuation allowance that is maintained for substantially all net deferred tax assets.


1998 Shares Award Plan and Yfitl Talent Option Plan


On June 1, 1998, the Company adopted the 1998 Shares Award Plan ("1998 Plan") under which, as amended, employees, consultants and non-employee directors may
be granted stock options and restricted stock for up to 25,000,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. Stock option awards and restricted stock awards
under the 1998 Plan generally vest ratably over three years based on continuous service. Stock option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the
market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant and expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. At March 31, 2007, there were 154,379 shares
available under the 1998 Plan for future grant.


In May 2000, the Company adopted the XM Talent Option Plan ("Talent Plan") under which non-employee programming consultants to the Company may be granted
stock options for up to 500,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, which shares are reserved under the Talent Plan. Stock option awards under the Talent
Plan generally vest ratably over three years based on continuous service. These stock option awards are generally granted with an exercise price’equal to the market
price oftbe Company’s stock at the date of grant and expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. At March 31, 2007, there were 340,000 options available
under the Talent Plan for future grant.
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Stock Options -- The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing modal based on the following
weighted average assumptions:


Three months ended
March 31~


2007 2006
Exp~ctod dividend yield ¯ ¯ :’-’~: 0"-~’%
Expectod volatility(O 46% 42%
Risk-free interest rate(2) 4.54% :    4.78%
Expected term(3) 6 Years 6 Years


(1) Expected volatdities are based on implied volafilitie~ from publicly traded options on the Company’s stock.
(2) The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual term of the sto~k option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant
(3) The expected term t’or 2006 and 2007 is calculated as the average between the vesting term and the contractual texm, weighted by tranche, pursuant to SAB 107.


A summary of the status of the Company’s aggregate stock option awards under the 1998 Plan and the Talent Plan as of March 31, 2007, and activity during the three
months then ended is presented below:


Weighted-
Average
Exercise


Shares Price


Outstanding, Janumy 1, 2007 15,843,884 $ 17.82
Granted 162:200 $ 13.81
Exercised (261,341) $ 5.84
Forfeited, cancelled or expired ~) $ 26.28


Outstanding, March 31, 2007 15,643,062 $ 17.92
Vested and expected to vest, March 31~ 2007 15,369,878 $ 17.93
EX~er¢isab!e, March 31, 2007 12,329,945 $ 17.11


Weighted-Average Aggregate
Remaining Intrinsic


Contractual Term Value


6.46 $ 26,527
6.46 $ 26,064
5.89 $ 26,027


The per share weighted-average fair value of stock option awards granted during the three months ended March 3 !, 2007 and 2006 was $6.99 and $12.70,
respectively, on the date of grant. The total intrinsic value on the date of exercise of stock option awards exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2007 and
2006 was $2.2 million and $3.9 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2007, there was $27.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option
awards granted under the 1998 Plan and Talent Plan. The weighted-average period over which the compensation expense for these awards is expected to be recognized
is 1.64 years as of March 31, 2007.


RestdctedStock-- A summary of the status of the Company’s resUicted stock as of March 31, 2007, and activity during the three months then ended is presented
below:


Weighted-Average
Grant Date


Sharea.. Fair Value


Nonvested, Januaw 1, 2007 -- 3,390,359-- $ ~ - . 19.~
Granted 66,250 $ 14.64
V~Od (10,001) $ 28.75
Forfeited (5,000) $ 15.89


Nonvested, March 31, 2007 3,~8. $ 19.16


The fair value of each restricted stock award is the market value, as determined by the last sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock on The NASDAQ
National Market, of the stock as if it were vested and issued on the grant date. As of March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, there were $43.5 million and $49.3
million, respectively, of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock granted under the 1998 Plan. The weighted-average period over which the
compensation expense for these awards is expected to be recognized is 2.12 years as of March 31, 2007.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan


In 1999, the Company established an employee stock purchase plan (°’ESPP") that, as amended, provides for the issuance of 1,000,000 shares. All employees whose
customary employment is more than 20 hours per week and for more than five months in any calendar year are eligible to participate in the stock purchase plan,
provided that any employee who would own 5% or more of the Company’s total combined voting power immediately after an offering date under the ESPP is not
eligible to participate. Eligible employees must authorize the Company to deduct an amount from their pay during offering periods established by the compensation
committee. The purchase price for shares under the plan will be determined by the compensation committee but may not be less than 85% of the lesser of the market
price of the common stock on the first or last business day of each offering period, a "look-back option."


Under the provisions of SFAS ! 23R, the Company’s ESPP is considered a compensatoq, plan due to the greater than 5% discount and the "look-back option." Effective
January 1, 2006, the Company began recognizing compensation cost related to the ESPP. Compensation expense recognized pursuant to the ESPP is not material to the
unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of March 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had issued a cumulative total of 744,453 and 637,759
shares, respectively, under this plan. The weighted-average grant date fair value for shares issued during the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 was $10.98
and $18.93, respectively, per share. The remaining shares available for issuance under the ESPP at March 31, 2007 were 255,547. Effective April 1, 2007, the Company
suspended the ESPP pursuant to the terms of the Februaxy 19, 2007 merger agreement with Sirius Satellite Radio Inc.


(10) Related Party Transactions


The Company developed strategic relationships with certain companies that were instrumental in the construction and development of its system. In connection with the
Company granting to them large supply contracts, some of these strategic companies have become large investors in XM and have been granted rights to designate
directors or observers to XM’s board of directors. The negotiation of these supply contracts and investments primarily occurred at or prior to the time these companies
became related parties.


The Company is a party to a long-term distribution agreement with General Motors ("GM") that provides for the installation of XM radios in General Motors vehicles,
as further described in Note 12. The Company has an agreement with GM to make available use of the Company’s bandwidth. The Company has arrangements with
American Honda relating to the promotion of the XM Service to new car buyers, the use of bandwidth on the XM System and the development of telematics services
and technologies. As of March 31, 2007, the Company is engaged in activities with GM and Honda to jointly promote new car buyers to subscribe to the XM service.
Subscriber revenues received from GM and Honda for these programs are recorded as related party revenue. GM is one of the Company’s shareholders and Chester A.
Huber, Jr., the President of OnStar Corporation, a subsidiary of Genaral Motors, is a member of the Company’s board of directors. John W. Mendel, a member of the
Company’s board of directors, is Senior Vice President, automobile operations of American Honda Motor Co., Inc.


The Company had the following related par~y balances at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 (in thousands):


Due from Prepaid expense Due to
March 3 December 31, Morch 31, December 31, March 31, December


1, 2006 2007 200~ 2007 200~


GM $ 6,792 $ 8,1~~ ~ $ 227,658 $ 48,056 S. 44,97~
Honda 1,88.___~0 5,842 -- -- 749 ~


The Company earned the following total revenue, primarily consisting of subscriptions, in connection with sales to related parties described above (in thousands):


Three months ended
March 31~


2007     200~


Honda ~    3,617
9ffi 73 
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The Company has relied upon certain related parties for technical, marketing and other services. The Company has incurred the following costs in transactions with the
related parties described above (in thousands):


Research & development
Customer care & billing operations
Revenue share & royalties
Marketing


Total


Three months ended Three mouths ended
March 31r 2007 March 31r 2006


GM llenda GM Honda
*~- $’ "-: $~ .’-- $’" 950
52 -- 89 --


23,730. ’ ".---. 17,799 ~


~ 477 39,01.3 336


GM-- In 1999, the Company established a distribution agreement with GM (see Note 12). Under the terms of the agreement, GM distributes the XM Radio Service in
various models of its vehicles. This agreement was amended in June 2002 and January 2003 and continues to be clarified as XM’s business operations and working
relationship with GM continues to evolve.


Honda -- The Company has arrangements with Honda relating to the promotion of the XM service to new buyers, the use of bandwidth on the XM system and the
development of telematics services and technologies.


In addition to the aforementioned related parties, the Company has transactions with an equity method investee, XM Canada, which are more fully discussed in Note 4.


(11) Supplemental Cash Flows Disclosures


The Company paid $9.1 million and $3.8 million for interest, net of amounts capitalized to System under construction of $2.2 million and $5.3 million, during the three
months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, the Company incurred the following non-cash financing and investing activities (in thousands):


Accrued system construction costs
Conversion of 10% senior secured discount convertible notes due 2009 to Class A common stock
Write-off of deferred trmancing c,c~.s to equity in connection with the conversion o~f 10% Senior second discount, convertible notes


Property acquired through capital leases


Three months ended
March 31~


2007 2006
$ -- $16,340


-- 52,268


4,387 1,078


(12) Commitments and Contingencies


S~tellite System


Satellite Deployment Plan-- The Company currently operates four satellites in-orbit. It launched its first two satellites, XM-1 and XM-2 in the first half of 2001 prior
to the commencement of commercial operations. These satellites suffer from a progressive solar array power degradation issue that is common to the first six Booing
702 class satellites in orbit --XM-2 and XM-I were the fifth and sixth Boeing 702s launched. In February 2005, the Company launched XM-3. XM-3 was placed into
one of the Company’s orbital slots and beginning in April 2005 is being used to transmit the XM service. During the second quarter of 2005, the Company collocated
XM-1 with XM-2 in the other orbital slot. The Company successfully launched its fourth satellite ("XM-4") into geosynchronous transfer orbit on October 30, 2006,
which was handed over to the Company in December 2006 and is being used to transmit the XM service. XM-I and XM-2 now function as in-orbit spares. During the
second quarter of 2005, XM entered into a contract to construct a fifth satellite, ("XM-5"), expected to be completed by late 2007 or early 2008 for use as a ground
spare or to be available for launch as needed.


19







Table of Contents


XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES


NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)


Satellite Contracts and Other Costs: XM-I, XM-2, XM-3, XM-4 andXM.5 ~ As of March 31, 2007, the Company has paid approximately $961.6 million, including
manufacturing and launch costs, financing charges, in-orbit performance incentives and additional costs for collocation, under the satellite contracts related to XM-I,
XM-2, XM-3, XM-4 and XM-5. The Company originally entered into its satellite contract with Boeing Satellite Systems International, Inc. ("BSS") in March 1998, and
has subsequently amended the contract, including most recently in July 2006. Under the satellite contract, BSS has delivered four satellites in-orbit, XM-I, XM-2, XM-
3 and XM-4, supplied ground equipment and software used in the XM Radio system and provided certain launch and operations support services. As of March 31,
2007, XM had paid fully its conffactual obligations to BSS, except for XM-3 and XM-4 performance incentive payments which are earned over the lifetime oftbe
satellites. In August 2003, XM contracted with Sea Launch Company, LLC ("Sea Launch") for the associated launch services for the XM-4 satellite, and in September
2006, the Company exercised an option in the Sea Launch contract for launch services for XM-5. In June 2005, the Company awarded a contract to Space
Systems/Loral ("SS/L") for the design and construction of its fifth satellite, XM-5. Construction of XM-5 is expected to be completed by late 2007 or early 2008.


XM-3 ~ In February 2005, the Company launched its XM-3 satellite. XM=3 was modified to correct the solar array degradation issues experienced by XM-I and XM-
2, as well as to optimize XM-3 for the specific orbital slot into which it has been placed. BSS has the right to earn performance incentive payments of up to $25.9
million, excluding interest, based on the in-orbit performance of XM-3 over its design life of fifteen years. The Company has in-orbit insurance relating to XM-3
through Februa~ 2008.


XM-4 ~ In October 2006, the Company launched its XM-4 satellite. BSS has the right to earn performance incentive payments of up to $12 million, pins interest, over
the first twelve years of in-orbit life, up to $7.5 million for high performance (above baseline specifications) during the first fii~een years of in-orbit life, and up to $10
million for continued high performance across the five year period beyond the fifteen year design life. The Company has launch plus one year of in-orbit insurance for
XM-4 and five years of in-orbit insurance for a portion of XM-4. These policies run concurrently. In February 2007, the Company entered into a saie-leaseback
transaction of the ~.Tansponders on the XM-4 satellite.


XM-5 ~ During the second quarter of 2005, XM entered into a contract with SS/L to construct a spare satellite. Upon the award oftbe contract, SS/L began
construction of the XM-5 satellite. Approximately two years before, on July 15, 2003, SS/L, its parent, Lorai Space & Communications Ltd. and certain other affiliated
entities (collectively, the "Debtors") commenced voluntary Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases under the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of New York (the "Court"), which cases are being jointly administered under lead case number 03-41710. Pursuant to an order entered on July 20,
2005, the Court approved the Company’s contract with SS/L. On August 1, 2005, the Court entered an order confirming the Debtors’ Fourth Amended Joint Plan of
Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (the "Reorganization Plan"). The Reorganization Plan became effective on November 21, 2005. Pursuant to
the terms of the Company’s contract with SS/L, the Company is required to make construction payments on XM-5 into an escrow account until the occurrence of an
"Emergence Date" as defined in the contract. Although the contractually-defined "Emergence Date" has not occurred, XM has authorized the escrow agent to release
certain escrowed funds to SS/L to cover SS/L’s costs incurred as is reasonably necessary for SS/L to continue performing work under the contract. As of March 31,
2007, with respect to XM-5, the Company has paid $119.1 million and accrued costs of $2.1 million, excluding financing charges.


GM Distribution Agreement


The Company has a long-term distribution agreement with General Motors. The agreement had been assigned by GM to its subsidiary OnStar, but was assigned back to
GM in June 2006. During the term of the agreement, which expires twelve years from the commencement date of the Company’s commercial operations in 2001, (JM
has agreed to distribute the service to the exclusion of other S-band satellite digital radio services. The agreement was amended in June 2002 and January 2003 to
clarify certain terms in the agreement, including extending the dates when certain initial payments were due to GM and confirming the date oftbe Company’s
commencement of commercial operations, and to provide that the Company could make certain payments to GM in shares of the Company’s Class A common stock.
The Company’s total cash payment obligations were not increased. Under the distribution agreement, the Company is required to make a subscriber acquisition
payment to GM for each person who becomes and remains an XM subscriber through the purchase ofa GM vehicle.


In April 2006, the Company amended the distribution agreement pursuant to which the Company made a prepayment in May 2006 in the amount of $237 million to GM
to retire at a discount approximately $320 million of the remaining fixed payment obligations that would have come due in 2007, 2008, and 2009. The April 2006
amendments eliminated the Company’s ability to make up to $35 million of subscriber acquisition payments in shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. In
addition, the Company’s credit facility with GM was increased from $100 million to $150 million. The facility will
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terminate, and all draws will become due, upon the earlier of December 31, 2009 and six months after the Company achieves investment grade status. The amendments
also provide that the security arrangements on the GM facility will be unsecured until the first draw under the bank credit facility and then secured on a second priority
basis behind the secured indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the bank credit facility. As of March 3 I, 2007, the Company has $26.0 million of current prepaid
expense to related party and $143.1 million of non-current prepaid expense to related party in connection with the guaranteed fixed payments, as the result of a
prepayment of $237 million to GM in May 2006.


In order to encourage the broad installation of XM radios in GM vehicles, the Company has agreed to subsidize a portion of the cost of XM radios, and to make
incentive payments to GM when the owners of GM vehicles with installed XM radios become subscribers to the Company’s service. The Company must also share
with GM a percentage of the subscription revenue attributable to GM vehicles with installed XM radios, which percentage increases until there are more than eight
million GM vehicles with installed XTI radios (at which point the percentage remains constant). Accordingly, the revenue share expense is recognized as the related
subscription revenue is earned. As of March 3 l, 2007, the Company has $45.0 million of currant prepaid expense to related party and $12.3 million of non-current
prepaid expense to related party in connection with this revenue sharing arrangement. As part of the agreement, GM provides certain call-canter related services directly
to XM subscribers who are also GM customers for which the Company must reimburse GM. The agreement is subject to renegotiation at any time based upon the
installation of radios that are compatible with a common receiver platform or capable of raceiving Sirius Satellite Radio’s service. The agreement was subject to
renegotiation in November 2005, and will be subject to renagotiation at two-year intervals thereafter, if GM did or does not achieve and maintain specified installation
levels of GM vehicles capable of receiving the Company’s service. The specified installation level of 1,240,000 units by November 2005 was achieved in 2004. The
specified installation levels in future years are the lesser of 600,000 units per year or amounts proportionate to targets in the satellite digital radio service industry. There
can be no assurances as to the outcome of any such renegotiations. GM’s exclusivity obligations will discontinue if, by November 2007 and at two-year intervals
thereafter, the Company fails to achieve and maintain specified minimum share levels in the satellite digital radio service industry. The Company was significantly
exceeding the minimum levels at March 3 l, 2007. For the three months ended March 3 l, 2007 and 2006, the Company incurred total costs of $61.3 million and $56.9
million, respectively, under the distribution agreement.


Legal Proceedings


The Company is currently subject to claims, potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or party to legal proceedings, in various matters described below. In addition,
in the ordinary course of business the Company becomes aware from time to time of claims, potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or may become party to legal
proceedings arising out of various matters, such as contract matters, employment related matters, issues relating to its repeater network, product liability issues,
copyright, patent, trademark or other intellectual property matters and other federal regulatory matters.


Litigation and Arbitration


Securities class action -- A consolidated action was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia on behalf of a purported nationwide class of
purchasers of the Company’s common stock between July 28, 2005 and February 16, 2006 against the Company and its chief executive officer. The complaint, as
amended in September 2006, sought an unspecified amount of damages and claimed violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder, alleging various statements made during the putative class period by the Company and its management failed to project accurately or disclose in
a timely manner the amount of higher costs to obtain subscribers during the fomth quarter of 2005. On March 28, 2007, the Company’s motion to dismiss the action
was granted and the case dismissed with prejudice. The court concluded that "plaintiffs have failed to identify any materially misleading statements or omissions that
are actionable under Section 10(b)" of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.


Atlantic Recording Corporation~ BMG Music, Capital Records, Inc., Elektra Entertainment Group Inc., Interscope Records, Motown Record Company, L.P., Sony
BMG Music Entertainment, UMG Recordings, Inc., Virgin Records, Inc and Warner Bros. Records Inc. v. XM Satellite Radio Inc. -- Plaintiffs filed this action in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on May 16, 2006. The complaint seeks monetary damages and equitable relief, alleging that recently
introduced XM radios that also have MP3 functionality infringe upon plaintiffs’ copyrighted sound recordings. The Company’s motion to dismiss this matter was
denied in January 2007.


The Company believes these allegations are without merit and that these products comply with applicable copyright law, including the Audio Home Recording Act, and
intends to vigorously defend the matter. Music publishing companies have filed a lawsuit with similar allegations. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate
outcome of these matters, or the significance, if any, to the Company’s business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.
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Matthew Enderlin v. XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite Radio Inc. -- Plaintiff filed this action in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Arkansas on January 10, 2006 on behalf of a porported nationwide class of all XM subscribers. The complaint alleges that the Company engaged in a
deceptive trade practice under Arkansas and other state laws by representing that its music channels are commereial-free. The Company has filed an answer to the
complaint, and instituted arbiU’ation with the American Arbitration Association pursuant to the compulsory arbi~ation clause in its customer service agreement. The
arbitration has been stayed pending judicial determination of Enderlin’s objections to the arbiuation. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit held on
April 17, 2007 that those objections are to be decided by the trial corot, not the arbitrator. The Company believes the suit is without merit and intends to vigorously
defend the matter. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to the Company’s business, consolidated results
of operations or financial position.


Copyright Royalty Board Arbitration-- The Company is participating in a Cowright Royalty Board (CRB) proceeding in order to set the royalty rate payable by the
Company under the statutory license covering its performance of sound recordings over the XM system for the six year period starting in January 2007. The Company
and Sirius have recently filed their direct cases with the CRB proposing a rate of 0.88% of each of their adjusted gross revenues for this statutory license.
SoundExchange, a collective operated on behalf of owners of copyrighted recordings, such as the major record labels, has filed a direct case proposing a rate increasing
from 10% of adjusted gross revenues for the first year of the license increasing each year to over 23% during the final year of the license term; their requested
guaranteed minimums could result in a rate in excess of the foregoing percentages. The Company is also participating in a concurrent proceeding to set the royalty rate
payable by the Company under the statutory license covering its performance of sound recordings over XM channels transmitted over the DIRECTV satellite television
system. The Company anticipates that hearings in these matters will take place during 2007, and that the CRB will render its decision by the end of 2007. There can be
no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of these matters, or their significance to the Company’s business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


Regulatory Matters and Inquiries


Federal Communications Commission ("FCC")


FCC Receiver Matter -- As the Company has previously disclosed, it has received inquiries from, and responded to, the Federal Communications Commission
regarding FM modulator wireless transmitters in various XM radios not in compliance with permissible emission limits. No health or safety issues have been involved
with these wireless XM radios.


The Company has implemented a series of design and installation modifications, and the Company has obtained new certifications for numerous models of modified
XM radios using its new SureConnect technology. In addition, the Company has implemented a regulatory compliance plan, including the appointment of an FCC
regulatory compliance officer, to monitor FCC regulatory compliance, specifically with reference to the design, verification/certification, and production of XM radio
receivers.


The Company has been submitting documents to the FCC and is in discussions with the FCC to resolve this matter. The Company cannot predict at this time the extent
of any further actions that it will need to undertake or any financial obligations it may incur.


There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to the Company’s business, consolidated results of operations or financial
position.


FCC Repeater Network Matter-- In October 2006, the Company filed for both a 30-day Special Temporary Authority ("STA") and a 180-day STA with respect to its
terrestrial repeater network, seeking authority to continue to operate its entire repeater network despite the fact that the technical characteristics of certain repeaters, as
built, differ from the technical characteristics in the original STAs granted for its repeater network. These differences include some repeaters not being built in the exact
locations, or with the same antenna heights, power levels, or antenna characteristics than set forth in the earlier STAs. Prior to making these recent filings, the Company
reduced the power or discontinued operation of certain repeaters. As a result, the Company believes that service quality in portions of the affected metro areas has been
somewhat reduced, including in terms of more frequent interruptions and/or occasional outages to the service. There has been no impact on the satellite signal. The
Company continues to hold meetings with the staffofthe FCC regarding these matters. In February 2007, the Company received a letter of inquiry from the FCC
relating to these matters, to which the Company has responded. This proceeding may result in the imposition of financial penalties against the Company or adverse
changes to the Company’s repeater network resulting from having repeaters turned offer otherwise modified in a manner that would reduce service quality in the
affected areas. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to the Company’s business, consolidated results of operations
or financial position.
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These recent STA requests are distinct from (and if granted would modify) the STAs originally granted by the FCC relating to the Company’s commencing and
continuing operation of the repeater network. As the Company has been disclosing, the FCC has not yet issued final rules permitting the Company (or Sirius) to deploy
terrestrial repeaters, and the Company has been deploying and operating its repeater network based on those early STAs and requests the Company has filed previously
to extend the time periods of those STAs, which have expired. The Company (and Sirius) and others have been requesting that the FCC establish final rules for repeater
deployment.


Federal Trade Commission ("FTC")


FTC Inquiry ~ On April 25, 2006, the Company received a letter from the Federal Trade Commission stating that they are conducting an inquiry into whether its
activities are in compliance with various acts, including the FTC Act, the Telemarketing Sales Rule, the Truth in Lending Act and the CAN-SPAM Act. This letter
requests information about a variety of the Company’s marketing activities, including free trial periods, rebates, telemarketiag activities, billing and customer
complaints.


The Company has been submitting documents to the agency in response to the letter and is cooperating fully with this inquiry. There can be no assurance regarding the
ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to the Company’s business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC")


SEC Inquiry-- As previously disclosed, the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") has requested that the Company voluntarily provide documents
to the Staff, including information relating to its subscriber targets, costs associated with attempting to reach those targets during the third and fourth quarters of 2005,
the departure of Mr. Roberts from its board of directors, its historic practices regarding stock options and certain other matters. In this connection, the Company retained
outside counsel, who engaged an independent accounting advisor, to conduct a review of its stock option practices. The inquiry did not reveal the existence of material
errors in any prior financial statements.


The Company has been submitting documents to the SEC in response to their requests and is cooperating fully with tlds inquiry, There can be no assurance regarding
the ultimate outcome of these SEC matters, or the significance, if any, to the Company’s business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


In February 2007, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction of the transponders on the XM-4 satellite. For a further discussion, see Note 6, under the
heading, "Capital Lease - XM-4 Satellite".


The Company has noncancelable operating leases for terrestrial repeater sites, office space, and software, and noncancelable capital leases for equipment that expire
over the next fifieen years. Additionally, the Company owns several buildings and leases a portion of the space to other entities.


(13) Condensed Consolidating Financial Information


The Company has certain series of debt securities outstanding that are guaranteed by Holdings and two of the Company’s subsidiaries, XM Equipment Leasing LLC,
which owns certain terrestrial repeaters, and XM Radio Inc. These guarantees are full and unconditional and joint and several. Inc. is owned 100% by Holdings, while
XM Equipment Leasing LLC and XM Radio Inc. are owned 100% by Inc. Satellite Leasing (702-4) LLT is a separate legal entity subject to consolidation by the
Company, pursuant to FIN 46(R). Accordingly, the Company provides the following condensed consolidating financial information.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO INC., SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS


AS OF MARCH 31, 2007


thousands)
Cmrent asse~:


Cash and cash
equivalents


Due from
subsidiarles/fiftH


Related party
prepaid expenses


XM XMSR Satellite
Equipment Nou- Consolidated XM Satellite Leasing


XM Satellite XM Radio Leasing Guarantor XM Satellite Radio (702-4),
Radio Inc. Inc. LLC SubsidJarie* Eliminations Radio Ii¢. Holdiap Inc. LLT


127,630 $ -- $ -- $


54,914 -- --


3,794 305,389 34,271


"8,672 -- m


71,021


--


639:478


(56) $ 127,574 $ 191,022


(982;889) 43 11,072


-- 8,672 " ~


XM
Holdinp Consolidated


Non- XM Satellite
Guarantor Radio


SubsJdiarlel Elimination| HoldJa~ la~


795 $ -- $ 319,391


-- -- 54,914


32,421 (43,536) --


�om’~mt 71,835
Prepaid and other


current assets 41,944
_ Total ~n’rent


assets 379,810
Restricted investments 386
System under


Proper~y and
equipment, net 708,696


Inve~ment in
subsidia~/effiliates 1,083,853


DARS license --
IntanSiblm, ne~ " 4,329
Deferred fmancing fees,


net 34,749


expe~q~. 155,388
Investments --


¯
Total assets


Accounts payable $


Accrued satellite
liability


Accrued i~t~est
Current portion of


lonsoterm debt
Dueto rela~


p~rtie~
Due to


subsidiary/affiliat
Subscdbe~ defened


Deferred income
Total ¢m~nt


liabilities
Lons-term debt, net of


current portion
Subscn"o~r deferred


~eune, n~ of_


305,389 34271


-- 23,799 --


--     71,021 71,021


71,835 71,835


41 944


639,478 (982,94~5) 376,003
-- -- 386


1,241 30,726


203,335 30,726


758 (31~851) 42 818


33,974 (75~87)" 568,651
I0 -- 396


138,760 -- -- 138,760


-- 732,495 51,058


(1,083,8.~)       ~     (373,15~1)
141,387         --


-- 40,077     (8,947)    814,683


34,749 5,524 -- -- -- 40,273


155~ss - - -~. - , _/ ~U~3ss~.
-- 75,015 -- -- -- 75,015


2,369,561 $ 446,77..______~6 $ 58,070:$ 639,478 $ (2,066,798)$ 1,447,08~7 $ 100541 ~$ 75,993 ~ $ ~1,94.3r16~


4~,128 $    -- $    (25) $ -- $     (.56)~ $ 44,047 $     184 °$ 1,152 $     1 $ (I,152~) $ 44232
107     --      --     131,279       ~3"    --     553      (441).. " 131,~4


...... 2,145 -- -- -- 2,145
33205 -- -- -- -- 33,205 2,333 3,026 204 (4,064) 34,704


43,582 .... 43,582 -- -- -- (29,217) 14,365


48,805 .... 48,805 .... 48,805


955,430 245 2,360 25,227 (982,868) 394 -- -- 7,111 (7,505) --


358,974 .... 358,974 .... 358,974
...... 13 338 30,726 -- (34,~149) 9,915


1,615,2~6 245    2,442    25,22"/ (982,924) 660,286 18,073    34,904 7,869 (76,528)~ 644,604


1,081,872 .... 1,081,872 400,000 230,800 -- (233,736) 1,478,936


94,697 " -- -- -- -- 94,697 .... 94,697







Deferred income, net of
current portion


Oflter non-current


Total liabilities


Minority interest
Sto~holdcn’-~cqait~


Capital stoCk


Additional paid-in-
Capital


Rctalacd earaiags


stookholdCrs’
equity
(clef%it)


Total llabilitics


stoo~o1~rs


(dc~oit)


2,837 ....


13497 32,53~ ....
2,808 199 32,781 ~ 25,227


2,837             153,181          213,473               --             (240,417)            129,074


1,88~5~725 604914 4~7~9177 ~ ~ ~


.... 59,397 59,397


3,115


3,126,120 146,271 60,759 286,765
(3,564,75s) 26~,724 ~327,4s6 . .


--          -- 3,545 -- -- -- 3,545


(493,795) 3,126,120 3,109,881 56,547 46,972 (3,229,639) 3,109,881
(590r079) ~ (3,620,914) 1697 22 467 3 540 594 (3t620t914)


(438,638) 413,995 55,62~8 614,251. (1,083 874) ~ ~ 58,244 69,439    310,955    (504,373)
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XM SATELLITE RADIO INC., SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS


AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2006


(m thousands)


Cash and cash
equivalents


Due from
subsidiaries/affifi


Related party
prepaid expenses


Prepaid and other
current assets
Total eurccnt


assets
ResUicted investments


Deferred ~nancing fees,
net


InvesUnents


XM
Equipment


Radio inc.         luc.         LLC


XM
XMSR Sat~lite Holdings Consolidated
Non- Consolidated XM Satellite Leasiu| Non- XM Satellite


Guarantor XM Satellite Radio (702-4)) Guarantor Radio
Sub~ldiartel Eliminations Rodio luc. Holdil~lne. LLT Snbddiarkm Eliminations Holdiu~l


$ 92,445 $


62,293


32 $ -- $ 92,4774~$ 125,593 $ -- $ 146 $ -- $ 218,216


.-- + 62~93" " .... 62,29~ "


3,645 267,724 31,251     624,991 (927,582) 29 -- --    29,235 (29,264) --


-- 13,9~I :--- ~      --" --- 13,991.


66,946 .... 66,946 .... 66,946


28,172 .... 28,172 .... 28,172.


42,288 -- -- -- -- 42 288 1 280 -- 597 (1p125) 43,040


309,780 267,724 31,283 624,991
386 -- -- --


(927,582) 306,196 126,873 -- 29,978 (30~89) 432,658
-- 386 -- -- .1,712 -- 2,098


-- 126,049 -- -- -- 126,049"


475,52! -- 26,895 -- -- 502,4 I6 311,767 --


-- (1,032;642) . :--.- ’ (379,419)
-- -- ,141,387. -- --
-- -- - 4,640 -- " .2-.


40,578 (5,099) 849,662


379~419 ’ "~ .:i"
-- 141,387


Total assets


Accounts payable $ 51,634 $
A~’~’ued ekpouses 146,902
Accrued satellite


liability
Accroed interest
Current portion of


long-term debt
Due to related


pa~tie~
Due to


subsidiaxy/affiliat


revenue
Deferred income


Total current
liabilities


Long-te~m debt, net of
current portion


Subsm’ibe~ d~ferred
revenue, net of
¢unent portion 86,482


32,185 .... 32,185 6,025 -- 391 -- 38,601


~6o,71~- -, - - , - ~o,~n . ’ - ..... . " . -. - "
...... 80,592 -- -- -- 80,592


S 2,018,18~ $ 4~,111 S ~ $ 624,99~ $ (14960,224)$ 1.150237$ 271~ $ -- $ ~563 $ 343931 $ +,840~8


-- $ -- $ -- $ -- $ 51,634 $ 210 $ -- $ -- $ -- $ 51,844
-- 127 -- -- 147,~9~ < 7D -- 2~ (~1)~ 147,~91+


13,883 -- --


46,459 -- --


900,055 245 2,226


340,711 -- --


1,514,921 245 2,353


847,864 -- --


-- 64,875 -- -- -- 64,875
15,277 3,001 -- 204 -- 18,482


-- 13,883 -- -- 562 -- 14,445


--     46,459 46,459


25,062 (927,562)


25,062 (927,562)


26 29,235 -- 112 (29,373) --


340,711 -- -- --, -- 340,711
-- ~ -- -- -- 9~915


615,019 107,949 ~ 1,168 (29,814) 694,322


847,864 400,000 -- 38,315 -- 1,286,179


86,482 .... ~6,;~82







Deferred income, net of
cunent portion


liabilities ¯
Total liabilities


CommitmentSand


Stockholders’ equity
(deficit):


Accumulated other
comprehensive
in.me


Retained earnings
(deficit)
Total


~toc~holden"


Total liabilities
and
stockholders’
equity
(deficit)


2 465 35~    32,20~3    2 353 25,062


2,045 128,735


1,597,411 669 767


--       130,780


...... 3,590


3,002,594 146271    60,759 286,765 " (493,7963 3,002,594 ~093,8~4


(3,449,768) 230,637 ~ 313164 (538,867) ~ (3,498,476)


-- -- 3,590


t0,830 - (3,613,424~-" "’ 3,093,~24


---_ ~ 3,424,202 0,,498,476)


-


$ 2,018,181 $ 409,111 $ 58,178 ~ ~ $ 1,150,23~7 ~ $ -- ~ ~ $ 1,840,618
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XM SATELLITE RADIO INC., SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS


FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2007


Co~ of revenue


Resenr~ &
development


General &
administrative


MaAefing
Depreciation &


XM
XM XMSR Satellite


XM XM Equipment Non- Conmlidated Radio
Satellite Radio Leasing Guarantor XM Satellite Heldings


Radio Inc. Inc~ LLC Subsidiaries Elimination._.._.__.~ Radio lnc_._..._.__~ lnc.


$    261,614 $ 37,665 $ 2,741 $ -- $ (40,405) $    261,615$ 2,498    $


172,608 -- 7 -- 114     172,729


7,310 .... 7,310


32,807 .... 32,807
92,671 .... 92~71


amortization 41 652
Total


ng
347L048


Operating
income (loss)


(85,434)


(expense):
Interest


income
Interest


expenSe
Loss from de-


leveraging
transaction


loss of
afl’fliate


3,096


(362)


136


-- 44,748 2604


114 350r265 2,740


(88,650)


Coosolidate
d


XMSatellite Holdio~s
SatelliteLeasing Non-


Radio(7024), Guarantor
LLT Subsidiaries Eliminations Holdings


4,723 $ 2,522    $ (7,246) $ 264~112


268 (1,887) 171,110


7,310


1,367 (125) 34,185
-- -- 92,671


502     ~ 46 882


37,665 --    00,519) (242)    4,723 385    (4,262) (88,046)


1,518 -- 165 14,487


(41,762) -- ~ (165)


(14,652)    1,518     2,026     -- -- -- 3,544


14,6~2 ’ (27~75)’    (855) ~" (3~026) "(5i7) 4,064 (27,609)


-- (2,965) -- (2,965)


(5,425)     --      --      ~    (5,425)’
Minority


interest ......... (1,697) (1,697)


(expense) , "~


Net income
(loss) before
income taxes ~ 37,665 (197)    14,32~2 (51~12)(114,412)(121,754) 1697 (3,097) 115,81~2 ~


Benefit fi, om
(provision
for) deferred
in~ome taxes -- (578) ~ ~ -- (578) (684) ~ -- 578 (6~)


Net income
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(expense):
Interest


income
Inter~t.


Loss from de-
leveraging
transaction


Equity in net
loss of


Other income
(expense)


Net income
(1o~) before
income taxe~


Benefit from ¯
(provision
for) deferred
income taxes


Net income
(loss)
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XM SATELLITE RADIO INC., SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS


FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2006


XlVl
Satellite


Radio In~
$ 205,619 $


Consolidote
XM              XM               d


XM XMSR Satellite Satellite Holding~ XM
SatelliteXM Equipment Noa- Consolidated Radio Leasing Noa-


Radio Leasing Guarontor XM Satellite Holding~ (702-4), Guarantor Radio
HoldingsInc. LLC Subsidiorie~ Eliminatio..___._._~ Radio Inc. Inc. LLT Subsidiorie~ Elimioatioag ~


29,559 $ 2,730 $    -~ $~ .(32,282)$ 205,6"--’~$: 234~0 $ ~-- $- 2,542 $ (2,542) $ 207,966


135,184 -- 8 -- 126    1.35,318      -- -- 106     (1.,913). 133,511


17,687 .... 17,687 95
106,758 -- ’ -- ~ ~: .... ~. 106,758" ¯ -~ ~ ~


~ (28)     (124) 17,630


35,142 -- 3,272 -- -- --     38,41~4 966


305,752 -- 3_.,280 -- 126 309 158 - 1 061 ; --


(100,133) 29,559 (550) -- (32,408) (103,532) 1,279 -- 1,962 (505) (100,7%)


301 -- 223    14,487 (14,653)     358     6,062


(47,165) -- -- (166) 14,653~ (32,678)’ (560)


153 -- 6,573


2 - -- (33,236)


(18,380) (18,380)


-- -- 1475914,757 -- 4,192 . ~ . 4,190


(150,620) 29~59 3,865 14,321 ~ ~


-- (578)     -- -- -- (578) __1,446      -- -- -- 868
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XM SATELLITE RADIO INC., SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS


FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2007


(m thousands)
Net cash (used in) provided by


operating actlvitie~
Cash flows from investing activities.


Purdm~ of prope~y and equipmeat


$ (45,409) $    -- $ 3,943 $    -- $    (56) $ (41,522) $ (42,39~) $    -- $ 40,789 $    -- $ (43,132)


(24,872)     --      --
Additions to system under


construction __ __ __
Ptoceed~ from sale of a,~ett ....
Net maturity (purchase) of restricted


investments
Net cash (u~ed in) wovided 5y


Cash flows from financing a~vities:


and ~ optlon~                  --
Capital contributions from HoldinBs


-- 1,857 -- -- --


109,397 .... 109,397 (109,397) -- -- --


..... " -- 57,70g -- (57,70~)


(230,800)


2~s,~o~


-- ~ -- -- 101 491 (107.540) 288 500 (41.84~ --


-- (32) -- (56) 35,097    65,429 -- 649 --


92445 -- 32 -- -- 92 477 125 593 -- 146 --
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XM SATELLITE RADIO INC., SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS


FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2006


(in thons~mds)
Net cash (used


in) provided
by operating
activities


Cash flows from
investing
activities:


XlVl
Sotdlite


__Radio Inc.


$ (160,751) $


Purdhase of
property
and
equipment (14,952)


Additions to
system
under
constructio


~r~eds
from sale
of assets


Net maturity
(purchase)
of
restricted
investment


Net cash
(used
in)
provide
dby
investin
g
a~dvitie


Cash flows from
financing
activities:


Proceeds
from
exercise of
warrants
and stock
options


Capital
contributio
ns from
Holdings     130,715


XlVl
XM Satellite Satdlite


XM Equipment XMSR Non- Consolidated Radio Leasing
Radio Leasing Guarantor XM Satellite Holdings (702-4),
Inc. LLC Subsidiaries Eliminations Radio Inc. Inc. LLT


S (6,855)$ -- $~ - --- $ (167,606)S 4,625 S


XM Holding Consolidated
s XM Satellite


Non- Radio
Guarantor Holdings


Subsidiaries Eliminations Inc.


$ 1,847 $ ---$ (161,1_34)


(14,952)     -- (14,952)


(22,225)     -- (22,225)


6,997 6,997 6,997


20 -- 20


20 -- ~


3,135 3,135


130,715 (130,715) -- --







Payment of-
premiums
on do-
leveraging
transaction


Pa~men~ on
other
borrowin~


financing


(1,829)


Net cash
provide
d by
(used
in)
finan¢in
g
aetivitie 128,88~6


Net increase
(decrease) in
cash .~l..cash
equivalents


Cash and cash
equivalents at
beginning of
period


Cash and cash
equivalents at
end of period


(1,829)     -- --     (183)     --    (2,012)


(46,817)     --     142


--     -- 128,88~


(46,675), (145,180) 1,684 -- 09o,171)


57,598 -- 6 -- --     5~ 604 638L246


$ 10,781 $_.. --- $ 148 $ ~ $ -- $ 10,._.~9 $ 493066 $
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--    15,141 -- 710~991


-- $ 16,825 $ -- $520~820.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS


The following discussion and a~alysis should be read together with our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes in Item 1. to
Part I of this Form I O-Q, and with our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and audited Consolidated Financial
Statements, included in our Annual Report on Form l O-K for the year ended December 31, 2006filed with the SEC on March 1, 2007.


Proposed Merger


On February 19, 2007, XM and Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. ("Sirius") entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which XM
and Sirius will combine our businesses through a merger of XM and a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of Sirius (the "Merger").


Each of XM and Sirius has made customary representations and warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement. The completion of the Merger is subject to various
closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of XM’s and Sirius’ stockholders and receiving certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (including from the
Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") and under the Hart-Scott-Rodin� Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended).


We filed a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodin� Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended ("the HSR Act"), with respect to the
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement between XM and Sirius. On April 12, 2007, both we and Sirius received from the Department of Justice requests
for additional information and documentary material relating to the merger, generally referred to as a "Second Request." The effect of the Second Request is to extend
the waiting period imposed by the HSR Act until 30 days after we and Sirius have substantially complied with the Second Request.


On March 20, 2007, we and Sirius filed a Consolidated Application for Authority to Transfer Control with the FCC with respect to the Merger Agreement. We
anticipate that the FCC will issue a pubhc notice in the near future that sets a schedule to comment on the Merger. The public notice will trigger a comment period
followed by a reply period.


Executive Summary


We are America’s leading satellite radio service company, providing music, news, talk, information, entertainment and sports programming for reception by vehicle,
home and portable radios nationwide and over the Intemet to over 8 million subscribers to date. Our basic monthly subscription fee is $12.95. We believe XM Radio
appeals to consumers because of our innovative and diverse programming, nationwide coverage, many commarcial-free music channels and digital sound quality.


Our channel lineup includes more than 170 digital channels of choice from coast to coast. We broadcast from our studios in Washington, DC, New York City, including
Jazz at Lincoln Center, Chicago and the CounaT Music Hall of Fame in Nashville. We have added new and innovative programming to our core channel categories of
music, sports, news, talk and entertainment. Also included in the XM Radio service, at no additional charge, are the XM customizable sports and stock tickers available
to users of certain receivers and other online services.


Our target market includes the more than 240 million registered vehicles including the 16.5 million new cars sold each year as well as the over 110 million households
in the United States. In addition, some of our recent and upcoming product offerings focus on the portable and wearable audio markets. Broad distribution of XM Radio
through new automobiles and through mass market retailers is central to our business strategy. We are the leader in satellite-delivered entertainment and data services
for new automobiles through partnerships with General Motors, HondaJAcura, ToyotsYLexus/Scion, Hyundai, Nissanflnfiniti, Pots�he, Suzuki and Isuzu and available
in more than 140 different vehicle models for model year 2007. XM radios are available under the Delphi, Pioneer, Samsung, Alpine, Audio��x, Sony, Polk and other
brand names at national consumer electronics retailers, such as Best Buy, Circuit City, Wal-Mart, Target and other national and regional retailers. These mass market
retailers support our expanded line of car stereo, home stereo, plug and play and portable handheld products.


Operational Highlights


We summari�e our business growth and operational results through the metrics of subscriber growth, revenue growth, ARPU, SAC, CPGA and Adjusted operating loss
(formerly referred to as Adjusted EBITDA).
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¯       Ending subscribers increased from 6,501,859 at the end oftbe first quarter of 2006 to 7,913,728 at the end of the first quarter of 2007.


Total revenue increased from $208.0 million in the first quarter of 2006 to $264.1 million in the first quarter of 2007, a 27% quarter over quarter
increase.


Average monthly subscription revenue per subscriber (ARPU) increased from $10.07 in the first quarter of 2006 to $10.15 in the first quarter of
2007.


Subscriber Acquisition Costs (SAC) increased from $59 in the first quarter of 2006 to $65 in the first quarter of 2007, which included inventory
charges that represented approximately $6 per gross connect.


Cost Per Gross Acquisition (CPGA) increased from $93 in the first quarter of 2006 to $103 in the first quarter of 2007, which included inventory
charges that represented approximately $6 per gross connect.


Adjusted operating loss decreased from $48.9 million in the first quarter of 2006 to $27.0 million in the first quarter of 2007.


Other Highlights


Sale-leaseback - We entered into a sale-leaseback transaction of the transponders on the XM-4 satellite, which provided us with an additional net
$245 million in liquidity.


Southeastern Conference - In March 2007, we entered into an agreement that gives us exclusive national satellite radio rights for the Southeastern
Conference Championships and various other sports programming from certain Southeastern Conference universities.
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We summarize our business growth and operational results through the metrics of subscriber data, revenue data, SAC, CPGA and Adjusted Operating Loss. Greater
detail regarding these key metrics we use to monitor our business growth and our operational results are as follows:


Subscriber Data:                       ~
OEM and Rental Car Company Gross Subscriber Additions
Aflermarket and Data Gross Subscriber Additions


Total Gross Subscriber Additious0)
OEM and Rental Car Company Net Subscriber Additions
Aflermarket and Data Net Subscriber Additions


Total Net Subscriber Additiorm(2)
Conversion Rate(3)
Churn Rate(4)


Aflermarket Subscribers
OEM Subscribers
Subscribers in OEM Promotional Periods
XM Avtivated Vehicles with Rental Car Companies
Data Services Subscribers


Total Ending Subscribers(5)
Percentage of Ending Subscribers on Annual and Multi-Year Plans(6)
Percentage of Ending Subscribers on Family Plans(6).


Revenue Data (monthly average):
Subscription Revenue per Aflermanket, OEM & Other subscriber
Subscription Revenue per Subscriber in OEM Promotional Periods
Subscription_Revenue per XM Activated Vehicle with Rental Car Companies
Subscription Revenue per Subscriber of Data Services
Average Monthly Subscription Revenue per Subscriber ("ARPU"X~)
Net Ad Sales Revenue per Subscriber(s)
Activation, Equipment and Other Revenue per Subscriber


Total Revenue per Subscriber
Expense Dat~


Subscriber Acquisition Costs (°’SAC"X9)


Cost Per Gross Addition ("CPGA")(Io)
Adjusted operating loss (in thousands)o I)


Three months ended
Maeeh SIt


2007 2006


537,175 490,890
330,892 516,4t~.
868,067 1,007,306
224,830 265,280_
60~346 303,622


285,176 568,902"
51.5% 54.3%
138% 1.64%


4,437,593 3,882,324
2,853,028 2,012,050


564,844 548,027
22,938 37,!84
35,325 22~274


7,913,728 6,501,859
44.0% 41.6%
23.2% 19.9%


$ 10.34 $ 10.35
$ 6.39 $ 6.11
$- 7.51 $ 8.27
$ 33.72 $ 29.74
$ ¯ 10.15 $ 10,07
$ 0.32 $ 0.35
$- 0,87- $ 0.71
$ 11.34 $ 11.13


$ 65 $ 59
$ 103 $ 93
$ (27,033) $ (48,853)
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(l) Gross Subscriber Additions are paying subscribers newly setivated in the reporting period. GEM subscribers include both newly activated promotional and non-promotional subscribers.


(2) Net Subscriber Additions represent the total net incremental paying subscribers added during the period (Gross Subscriber Additions less Disconnects)
O) Conversion Rate-- See deflni~on sad further discussion ’,ruder OEM Promotional SubserJbers on page 37.
(4) Chum Rate represents the percentage of self-paying Aftermarket, OEM & Other Subscribers who discontinued service during the period divided by the monthly weighted average ending subsenbers.


Chum Rate does not include OEM promotional period deactivations or deactivations resulting from the change-out of XM-enabled rental car activity
(5) Subscribers -- See definition sad t’urther discussion under Subscribers on page 36.
(6) XM receives a range of $9.99-- $11.87 per month for annual sad multi-year plsus sad $6 99 per month for a faintly plan
(7) Subsenption Revenue includes monthly subscription revenues for our satellite audio svrdce and data services, net of any promotions or dlseounts
(8) Net Ad Sales Revenue includes sales of’advertisements and program sponsorships on the XM system, net of agency commissions.
(9) SAC -- See definition and further discossion under Subscrtber,4cqulsition Costs on pege 40 Theprevi~us~yreportedamcontunderthepri~rde~ni~~nf~rthethreemonthseodedMarch3~~2~~6was


$62.
(10) C~GA-Seede~niti~andfurtherdiscussionuoderC~PerG~s~4dditi~n~npege4~. Theprevi~uslyrep~r~edam~untunderthepri~rde~niti~nfurthethreem~nthsendedMarch3~2~6was


$94
(11 ) Adjusted operating loss -- See Reconcdta~on of Net Loss to Adjusted operating loss on page 42.
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Results of Operations


(in thousands, except percentages)
Revenue:


Subscription
Activation
Merchandise
Net ad sales
Other


Total revenue
Variable costs of revenue(0:


l~venue shara & royalties
Customer care & billing operations
Cost of me~handis~
Ad sales


ToM.variable cost of r~venue "
Non-variable costs of revenue(2):


Sa~llite & terr~sttial
Broadcast & operations:


B~oadcast~
Operations


ToM broadcast & operations
Programming & content


Total non-variable cost of revenue
Total cost of revenue
Other operating expenses:


Research & development
C-eneral & administrative . -
Retention & support
Sub,sidies & distribution             -.
Advertising & marketing
Am6rt~atinn of GM liability
Depreciation & amortization


Total other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):


Interest income
Interest expense
Loss from de-leveraging transactions
Equity in net loss of affiliate
Minority interest
Other income


Net loss hefore incon~ tax~s
(Provision for) benefit from deferred income taxes


Net loss
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Three months ended
March 31~ 2007 - 2006


2007 2006 $ %


$ 236,486 $ 188,102 $ 48,384 26%
4,654 3,579 1,075" 30%
5,297 3,551 1,746 49%
7,478 6,518 960 15%


~ ~ ~398~ 6~4%
264,1l~ 207,966 56:46 2.__2%


47,426 34,276 13,150 38%
27,928 22,455 5,473 24%
18,277 7,993 10,284 129%


~ 3,356 29 1%
97,016 68,080 28,936 43%-


13,882 13,049 833


6;544- 5,g52 692    12%
~ s,ss7 82____2 ___~9%


16,260 14~739 1,52| !0%
~ 37,64~3 ~ 1.._.~7%


171,110 133,511 37,599 28%


~,3i0
34,185
9,756


43,602-
32,809
6,504-


10,981 (3,671) -33%
17,630 16,555 94%
8,047 1,709 21%


55,473, (11,871).
33,925 (1,116) -3%
9~313-, (2,s~) -30y~


46,882 39,882 7,00~0 1__.~8%
181048 175,251 5,797 3%


352,15~8 308762 43,396 14-%
(88~046) (100,796) 12,750 -13%


3,544 6,573 (3,029) -46%
(27,609) (33,236) 5,627 -17%
(2,965) (18,380) 15,415 -84%
(5,425) (8,884) 3,459 -39%
(1,697) -- (1,697)


444 4634 (4,190) -9._~0%
(121,754) (150,089) 28,335 -19%


~(684) 868 (1,552) -17._..~9%
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(in Ihousand~, except percentages)
Re~onci|iation of Net loss to Adjusted operating loss:


Net loss as reported
Add back N~ loss i~tems excluded from Adjusted operating loss:


Interest income


Provision for (benefit from) deferred income taxes
Loss from de-leveraging tr~nsactio~
Equity in net loss of affiliate
Minofit~ interest    ’:
Other income


opera~tii~g toss
Depreciation & amortization
Sto~k-based ~ompensation


Adjusted operating loss(3)


Three montl~ ended
March 31T


2007__ 2006
2007-2006


$ (122,438) $ (149,221) $ 26,783 -18%


(3,544) (6,573) 3,029 -46%
27,609 33,236 (5,627)- -!7%


684 (868) 1,552 -179%
2,965 18,380 05,41~) ,84°,6
5,425 8,884 (3,459) -39%


¯
~ 1,697:. .- 1,697


_.___.~) ~ 4,190 -90%
- (88,o46) (loo3~) m,75~


46,882 39,882 7,000 18%


~ ~ ’ 2,o7o"
~ (27,033) ~) ~ 21,820 -45%


(1) Variable costs of revenue are costs that vary with fluctuations in revenue generating activity such as changes in the number of subscribers, the number of advertising spots sold, the quantity of
merchandise sold or changes in rates.


(2) Non-variable costs of revenue are costs of revenue that generally do not vary with fluctuations in revenue generating actwity such as obenges in the number of subscribers, the number of advertising
spots sold, the quantity of merchandise sold or changes m rates.


(3) Adjusted operating I~ (formerly Adjusted EBI’I’DA) is net loss before interest income, interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, loss from de-leveraging transactions, loss from
impairment of investments, equity in net loss of affiliate, minonW interest, other income (expense) and stock-based compensation This non-GAAP measure should be used in addition to, but not as a
substitute for, the analysis provided m the statement of operations. We believe Adjusted operating loss is a useful measure of our operating performance and improves comperabdity betwcen periods
Adjusted operating loss is a significant bas*s used by management to measure our success in acquiring, retaining and servicing subscribers because we believe this measure provides insight into our
ability to grow revenues in a cost-effective manner. We believe Adjusted operating loss is a calculation used as a basis for investors, analysts and credit rating agencies to evaluate and compare the
periodic and future operating performances and value of our company and similar companies in our industry


Because we have funded the build-cot of our system through the raising and expenditure of large amounts of capital, our results of operations reflect sigmficant charges for depreciation, amortization
and interest expense We heheve Adiusted operating loss provides helpful information about the operating performance of our business apart from the expenses associated with our physical plant or
capital structure. We believe it is appropriate to exclude depreciation, amortization and interest expense due to the variability of the timing of capital expenditures, estimated useful lives and fluctuation
in interest rates. We exclude income taxes due to our tax losses and timing differences, so that certain periods will reflect a tax benefit, whale others an expense, neither of which is reflective of our
operating results. Because of the varlet3, of equity awards used by companies, the va.~ing methodologies for determining stock-based compensation expense and the subjeoave assumptions involved in
those determinations, we believe excluding stock-based compensaaon expense enhances the ability of management and investors to compare our core operating results with those of similar companies
in our industry.


Equity in net loss of affiliate represents our shave of losses in a non-US affiliate in a similar business and over which we exercise significant influence, but do not control. Management believes it is
appropriate to exclude this loss when evaluating the performance of our own operations. Additionally, we exclude loss from de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investments, minority
raterest and other income (expense) because these items represent activity outside of our core business operations and can distort period to period coraparlsous of operating performance.


There are limitations associated with the use of Adjusted operating loss in evaluating our company compared with net loss, which reflects overall finandal performance Adjusted operating loss does
not reflect the impact on our financial results of(l) interest income, (2) interest expense, 0) income taxes, (4) depreciation and amortization, (5) loss from de-leveraging transactions, (6) loss from
impairment of investments, (7) equity in net loss of affiliate, (8) minority interest, (9) other income (expanse) and (1 O) stock-based compensation, which are included in the computation of net loss.
Users that wish to compare and evaluate our company based on our net less should refer to our ouaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operadous. Adjusted operating less does not purport to
represent operating loss or cash flow from operating activiUes, as those terms am defined under United States generally accepted accounting pdnciplex, and should nut be considered as an alternative to
those measurements as an indicator of our performance. In addition, our measure of Adjusted operating loss may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other compauies.
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The following table sets forth select performanoe measures on an average subscriber basis and as a percentage of total revenue:


Monthly nmcun( per Amounls as It Percentage
Average Subscriber (1) of Total Revenue


Three Months Ended March 317 Three Montbs Ended Mereh
zoo.~_2_~ ~oo~ zoo.~2.~ zoo~


$11.34 $ I I. 13 Total revenue (2) 100% -~%
I 0.15 10.07 Subscription revenue(3) 90 90
0.32 0,35 Net ad sales (4). 3 3
7.34 7.16 Total cos~ of revenue 65 64
2.03 1,84 Revem~e share & royalties 18 16
1.20 1.20 Customer care & billing operations 11 11
0.60 0.70 Satellite ~ terres~al. 5 6
0.70 0.79 Broadcast & operations 6 7
~.89 2.02 Programming & content 17 18
0.31 0.59 Research & de~velopment 3 5
1.47 0,95~ Gene~r~i & administr~ve’, 13~, 8
3.98 5.72 Total m.arketing, 35 51
0.42 0.43 Reten4Jon & suppo~ 4 ~ ’ 4
1.87 2.97 Subsidies & distribution 17 27
1.41 1.82’ Adv~ing& ~kc.fihg ~ 12
1.16 2.62 Adjusted operating loss(5) 10 23


(1) Average subscriber is calculated as the average of the beginning and ending subscriber balances for each period presented.
(2) Monthly average total revenue per subscriber is derived from the total of earned subscription revenue (net of promotions and rebates), net ad sales revenue, activation, equipment and other revenue


divided by the monthly weighted average subscriber


(3) Average monthly subscription revenue per subscriber ("AP~U")--See definition and further discussion under Average Monthly SubscrtpOon Revenue Per Subscriber on page 37.


(4) Net ad sales revenue per subscriber is calculated as net ad sales revenue divided by the monthly weighted average subscriber.
(5) Adjusted operating loss--See definition and further discussion under Adjusted Opera~ng Loss on page 42


Subscribers


Subscribers -- Subscribers are those who are receiving and have agreed to pay for our service, including those who are currently in promotional periods paid in part by
vehicle manufacturers, as well as XM activated radios in vehicles for which we have a contractual right to receive payment for the use of our service. Radios that are
revenue generating are counted individually as subscribers. Aftermarket subscribers consist primarily of subscribers who purchased their radio at retail outlets,
distributors, or through XM’s direct sales efforts. OEM subscribers are self-paying subscribers whose XM radio was installed by an OEM and are not currently in OEM
promotional programs. OEM promotional subscribers are subscribers who receive a fixed period of XM service where XM receives revenue from the OEM for the trial
period following the initial purchase or lease oftbe vehicle. In situations where XM receives no revenue from the OEM during the trial period, the subscriber is not
included in XM’s subscriber count. At the time of sale, some vehicle owners receive a three month prepaid trial subscription. Promotional periods generally include the
period of trial service plus 30 days to handle the receipt and processing of payments. The automated activation program provides activated XM radios on dealer lots for
test drives but XM does not include these vehicles in their subscriber count. XM’s OEM partners generally indicate the inclusion of three months free of XM service on
the window sticker of XM-enabled vehicles. XM, historically and including the 2006 model year, receives a negotiated rate for providing audio service to rental car
companies. Beginning with the 2007 model year, XM has entered into marketing arrangements which govern the rate which XM receives for providing audio service on
certain rental fleet vehicles. Data services subscribers are those subscribers that are receiving services that include stand-alone XM WX Satellite Weather service, stand-
alone XM Radio Online service and stand-alone NavTraffic service. Stand-alone XM WX Satellite Weather service packages range in price from $29.99 to $99.99 per
month. Stand-alone XM Radio Online service is $7.99 per month. Stand-alone NavTraffic service is $9.95 per month.


Subscribers are the prima~y source of our revenues. We target the over 240 million registered vehicles and over 110 million households in the United States. As of
March 31, 2007, we had over 7.9 million subscribers, which includes 7,325,946 self-paying subscribers, 564,844 subscribers in OEM promotion periods (typically
ranging from three months to one year in
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duration) paid in part by the vehicle manufacturers and 22,938 paying XM activated vehicles with rental car companies. The rate of growth of our aflarmarket
subscriber base fluctuates with our promotional activities as well as the impact of seasonality. OEM subscriber growth is driven primarily by the number of XM-
enabled vehicles manufactured and with OEM promotional activity.


OEM Promotional Subscribers -- OEM promotional subscribers are subscribers who receive a fixed period of XM service where XM receives revenue from the OEM
for the trial period following the initial purchase or lease of the vehicle. In situations where XM receives no revenue from the OEM during the trial period, the
subscriber is not included in XM’s subscriber count. At the time of sale, some vehicle owners receive a three month prepaid trial subscription. Promotional periods
generally include the period of trial service plus 30 days to handle the receipt and processing of payments. We measure the success of these promotional programs
included in our OEM promotional subscriber count based on the percentage of new promotional subscribers that elect to receive the XM service and convert to self-
paying subscribers after the initial promotion period. We refer to this as the "conversion rate." V/e measure conversion rate three months after the period in which the
trial service ends. Based on our experience it may take up to 90 days after the trial service ends for subscribers to respond to our marketing communications and become
self-paying subscribers. As of March 31, 2007, XM was available on over 140 vehicle models, with over 50 of those as standard equipment and over 100 of those
offered as OEM factory-installed options. At March 3l, 2007, XM’s OEM partners represented approximately 60% of the U.S. auto market.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. Gross subscriber additions for the three months ended March 31, 2007 were 868,067
compared to 1,007,306 for the same period in 2006. Net subscriber additions for the three months ended March 31, 2007 were 285,176 compared to
568,902 for the same period in 2006. The chum rate increased to 1.78% from 1.64%.


Retail Subscribers -- Gross retail subscriber additions for the three months ended March 31, 2007 were 330,892 compared to 516,416 for the same period in 2006.
Gross additions were negatively impacted by a general weakening demand for satellite radio and competitive pressures. Net retail subscriber additions for the three
months ended March 31, 2007 were 60,346 compared to 303,622 for the same period in 2006. We attribute the decrease in net retail subscriber additions to fewer
gross retail subscriber additions, chum on a larger subscriber base and a higher chum rate.


OEMSubscribers -- Gross OEM subscriber additions for the three months ended March 31, 2007 were 537,175 compared to 490,890 for the same period in 2006.
Net OEM subscriber additions for the three months ended March 31, 2007 were 224,830 compared to 265,280 for the same period in 2006. We ata’ibute the decrease
in net OEM subscriber additions primarily to chum on a larger subscriber base. The conversion rate for the three months ended March 31, 2007 was 51.5% compared
to 54.3% for the same period in 2006.


Rental Car Subscribers -- Starting in the third quarter of 2006, we no longer include certain rental car fleets in our subscription total. This change is a result of a new
marketing program that we implemented with certain rental fleet partners for 2007 model year vehicles. The goal of this program is to increase the number of rental
cars equipped with XM Satellite Radio and expose more potential customers to our service.


Revenue and Variable Cost of Revenue


Subscription Revenue -- Subscription revenue consists primarily of our monthly subscription fees for our satellite audio service and data services charged to
consumers, commercial establishments and fleets, which are recognized as the service is provided. Revenues received for promotional service programs are included in
Subscription revenue. Our subscriber arrangements are generally cancelable without penalty. Subscription revenue growth Is predominantly driven by the growth in our
subscriber base and to a lesser extent by our overall increase in ARPU.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. Subscription revenue increased $48.4 million or 26% during the three months ended
March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This increase was due primarily to the 22% increase in ending subscribers. During the three
months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, Subscription revenue included $10.6 million and $9.1 million, respectively, from related parties for
subscription fees paid under OEM promotional agreements.


Average Monthly Subscription Revenue Per Subscriber ("ARPU") -- Average monthly subscription revenue per subscriber is derived from the total of earned
subscription revenue (net of promotions and rebates) divided by the monthly weighted average number of subscribers for the period reported. Average monthly
subscription revenue per subscriber will fluctuate based on promotions, changes in our rates, as well as the proportion of subscribers on annual and multi-year
prepayment plans, multi-radio discount plans (such as the family plan) and premium services.
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¯        Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. ARPU increased as a result of the addition of new subscribers at higher rates as well as


the effect of the transition of existing subscribers to higher rates. An increase in the basic monthly subscription price became effective for all billing
cyclas on or after April 2, 2005, and therefore, is being implemented over time. The impact oftbe April 2005 basic plan rate increase was offset
partially by an increase in the percentage of subseribers on discount plans (annual, multi-year and family) as well as the revenue impact of certain
marketing campaigns, which costs are treated as a reduction to revenue. The percentage of subscribers at March 31, 2007 on ’annual and multi-year
plans’ and family plans increased to 44.0% and 23.2% from 41.6% and 19.9%, respectively, compared to March 31, 2006.


Revenue Share & Royalties -- Revenue share & royalties includes performance rights obligations to composers, artists, and copyright owners for public performances
of tbeir creative works broadcast on XM, and royalties paid to radio technology providers and revenue share expenses associated with manufacturing and distribution
partners and content providers. These costs are driven primarily by the growth in our subscriber revenue and net ad sales and subscriber base and to a lesser extent by
other contracts with various partners. We expect these costs to continue to increase with the growth in subscription and net ad sales revenue and the growth in overall
subscribers, but may fluctuate throughout the year based on new agreements, the renegotiation of existing contracts and the resolution of the pending CRB proceedings.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $13.2 million or 38%, and have increased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar
increase was primarily driven by an increase in shared revenue with distribution partners and an increase in performance rights royalties due to an
increase in subscribers, suhscfiption revenue and net ad sales revenue.


Customer Care & Billing Operations-- Customer care & billing operations includes expenses from customer care functions as well as internal information technology
costs associated with subscriber management applications. These costs are primarily driven by the growth of our suhscfiber base.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $5.5 million or 24%, but have remained relatively flat as a
percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period
in 2006. This dollar increase was driven primarily by our subscriber growth that resulted in increased support costs and payment processing fees. In
addition, personnel costs increased compared to the same period in 2006.


Gross profit on merchandise revenue-- We calculate gross profit on merchandise revenue as Merchandise revenue less Cost of merchandise. For the three months
ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, gross profit on merchandise revenue was ($13.0) million and ($4.4) million, respectively. We consider gross profit on merchandise
revenue a cost of acquiring subscribers through our direct sales channel and include it as a component of SAC.


Merchandise Revenue -- We record Merchandise revenue from direct sales to consumers through XM’s online store, XM’s direct-to-consumer programs and XM
kiosks.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. Merchandise revenue increased $1.7 million or 49% during the three months ended
March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 which was driven primarily by an increase in the volume of radios sold.


Cost of Merchandise -- Cost of merehandise consists primarily of the cost of radios and accessories related to XM’s direct-to-consumer sales efforts, including
hardware manufacturer subsidies, and related fulfillment costs. These costs are primarily driven by the volume of radius sold, which are affected by promotional
programs. We expect these costs to fluctuate throughout the year based on the volume, price and model mix of radios sold.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $10.3 million or 129%. The increase was primarily the result of a
$5.2 million inventory charge and an increase in the volume of radios seld.


Gross profit on net adsales revenue -- We calculate gross profit on net ad sales revenue as Net ad sales revenue less Ad sales expense. For the three months ended
March 31, 2007 and 2006, gross profit on net ad sales revenue was $4.1 million, and $3.2 million, respectively. Gross profit on net ad sales revenue continued to
improve due to increases in the number of advertisers and advertising rates related to a larger subscriber base as well as controlling the related costs, which have not
increased in proportion to the revenue. For the three months ended March 31,2007 and 2006, gross margin on Net ad sales revenue was 54.7% and 4g.5%, respectively.
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Net Ad Sales Revenue ~ Net ad sales revenue consists of sales of advertisements and program sponsorships on the XM network that are recognized in the period in
which they are broadcast. Net ad sales revenue includes advertising aired in exchange for goods and services (barter), which is recorded at fair value. Net ad sales
revenue is presented net of agency commissions.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. Net ad sales revenue increased $1.0 million or 15% during the three months ended
March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar increase was driven by increased spending by existing advertisers as well as the
addition of new advertisers and increased rates driven by a larger subscriber base.


AdSales Expense -- Ad sales expense consists of direct costs associated with the generation of Net ad sales revenue, including production, staffing and marketing.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs remained relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2007
compared to the same period in 2006.


Other Revenue ~ Other revenue consists primarily of revenue related to various agreements with XM Canada, as well as other miscellaneous revenue that includes
content licensing fees and billing fees.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. Other revenue increased $4.0 million or 64% during the three months ended March 31,
2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This increase was primarily driven by an increase in content licensing fees and barter revenue.


Non-variable Cost of Revenue


Satellite & Terrestrial-- Satellite & terrestrial includes costs related to: telemetry, tracking and control of our satellites, in-orbit satellite insurance and incentive
payments, satellite uplink, and all costs associated with operating our terrestrial repeater network such as power, maintenance and operating lease payments. We do not
expect these costs to change substantially since we have completed the build out of our in-orbit satellite network.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $0.8 million or 6%, but have decreased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar
increase was primarily driven by insurance, operating and performance incentives of XM-4, offset partially by the decrease in insurance costs related
to XM-3 and the absence of insurance on XM-1 and XM-2.


Broadcast & Operations-- Broadcast and operations include costs associated with the management and maintenance of systems and facilities as well as information
technology expense. Broadcast expenses include costs associated with the management and maintenance of the systems, software, hardware, production and
performance studios used in the creation and distribution of XM-original and third party content via satellite broadcast, web, wireless and other new distribution
platforms. The advertising trafficking (scheduling and insertion) functions are also included. Operations expense includes facilities and information technology expense.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $1.5 million or 10%, but have decreased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The $0.7
million increase in Broadcast expenses was driven primarily by increased costs associated with new content initiatives and enhancements to and
maintenance oftbe broadcast systems infrastructure. The $0.8 million increase in Operations expenses was driven primarily by an increase in the
general operating costs associated with expanded facilities and accompanying infrastructure.


Programming & Content-- Programming & content includes the creative, production and licensing costs associated with our over 170 channels of XM-original and
third party content. We view Programming & content expenses as a cost of attracting and retaining subscribers. Programming & content includes staffing costs and
fixed payments for third party content, which are primarily driven by programming initiatives. These expenses have increased over time and have varied on a per
subscriber basis. We expect these costs to continue to increase, but by lesser amounts, as we have substantially completed our channel lineup.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $6.3 million or 17%, but have decreased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar
increase was driven primarily by costs in support of new programming initiatives. In addition, personnel costs increased compared to the same period
in 2006.
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Other Operatin~ Exp~nscs


Research & Development -- Research & development expense primarily includes the cost of new product development, chipset design, software development and
engineering. We expect these costs to continue to fluctuate based on the nature and timing of research and development activities.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs decreased $3.7 million or 33%, and have decreased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per suhscnber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar
decrease was driven primarily by lower engineering builds during the first quarter of 2007 as compared to the first quarter of 2006, which included
the design costs for the new products launched during 2006.


General & Administrative -- General & administrative expense primarily includes management’s salaries and benefits, professional fees, general business insurance, as
well as other corporate expenses. The growth in these costs has been predominantly driven by personnel costs, professional fees and infrastructure expenses to support
our growing subscriber base. We expect these costs to increase due in part to merger-reLated activities, various legal proceedings and regulatory inquiries (see "Legal
Proceedings" in Item 1. to Part II of this Form 10-Q).


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $16.6 million or 94%, and have increased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar
increase was driven primarily by an increase in consulting fees and legal fees associated with various legal proceedings, regulatory inquiries and
transactions, such as the pending merger with Sirius.


Retention & Support -- Retention & support expense primarily includes payroll and payroll related costs of our sales and marketing employees.
¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $1.7 million or 21%, but have remained relatively flat as a


percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period
in 2006. This dollar increase was driven primarily by an increase in personnel costs.


Subsidies & Distribution -- These direct costs include the subsidization of radios manufactured, commissions for the sale and activation of radios and certain
promotional costs. These costs are primarily driven by the volume of XM-enabled vehicles manufactured, the sales and activations of radios through our retail channel
as well as promotional activity associated with the sale of XM radios. We expect these costs to increase during 2007 as we add gross subscribers, but may fluctuate
throughout the year, with changes in the volume of the manufacture, sale and activation of radios, which historically has been significant during the fourth quarter.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs decreased $11.9 million or 21%, and have decreased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar
decrease was driven primarily by a reduction in the number of retail radios sold and activated, and retail promotions; offset partially by an increase in
the number of OEM radios sold and activated under our automotive contracts.


Subscriber Acquisition Costs-- As noted in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, we have revised our calculation of SAC to allow for the direct
calculation of this metric using certain line items from our Results of Operations and Key Metrics tables within this Item 2. of this Form 10-Q. Subscriber acquisition
costs include Subsidies & distribution and the negative gross profit on merchandise revenue. Subscriber acquisition costs are divided by gross additions to calculate
what we refer to as "SAC."


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. During the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, we incurred subscriber
acquisition costs of $56.6 million and $59.9 million, respectively. SAC for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 was $65 and $59,
respectively, using the revised calculation. The increase in SAC is primarily attributable to inventory charges, which represented
approximately $6 per gross connect.


Advertising & Marketing -- Advertising & marketing includes advertising, media and other discretionary marketing expenses. These activities drive our sales, establish
our brand recognition, and facilitate our growth. We achieve success in
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these areas through coordinated marketing campaigns that include retail advertising through various media, cooperative advertising with our retail and OEM partners,
sponsorships and ongoing market research. We expect these costs to fluctuate throughout 2007 based on the timing of our spending on consumer media advertising,
which historically has been significant during the fourth quarter.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs decreased $1.1 million or 3%, and have decreased as a percentage of total
revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar
decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in advertising.


Cost Per Gross Addition ("CPGA ") ~ As noted in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, we have revised our calculation of CPGA to allow for the
direct calculation of this metric using certain line items from our Results of Operations and Key Metrics tables within this Item 2. of this Form 10-Q. CPGA costs
include the amounts in SAC, as well as Advertising & marketing. These costs are divided by the gross additions for the period to calculate CPGA. CPGA costs do
not include marketing staff(included in Retention & support) or the amortization of the GM guaranteed payments (included in Amortization of GM liability).


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. During the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, we incurred CPGA
expenses of $89.4 million and $93.8 million, respectively. CPGA for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 was $103 and $93,
respectively, using the revised calculation. The increase in CPGA is primarily the result of the increase in SAC and a decrease in gross
subscriber additions.


Depreciation & Amortization -- Depreciation and amortization expense primarily relates to our satellites, ground support systems that include our terrestrial repeater
network, broadcast facilities, computer hardware and sofhvare. We expect these costs to continue to increase, but by lesser amounts, primarily as a result of the
inclusion of XM-4, which was placed into service in December 2006.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. These costs increased $7.0 million or 18% during the three months ended March 31, 2007
compared to the same period in 2006. This dollar increase was primarily due to a higher depreeiable asset base, reflecting a full quarter of
depreciation on XM-4, which was placed into service in December 2006, higher capital spending for system developmem, computer hardware,
sol’~ware and leased equipment.


Provision for Deferred Income Taxes-- In 2004, we recorded a deferred tax liability related to indefinite lived assets that are amortized and deducted for tax purposes
but are not amortized under United States generally accepted accounting principles. We will continue to incur approximately $2.3 million in annual tax expense as the
indefinite lived assets are amortized for tax purposes over the next 11 years.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, we recognized a deferred tax
benefit related to the cumulative translation adjustment on our investment in XM Canada, which offset the deferred tax expense for 2006 related to
our indefinite lived assets. The net tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2007 was $0.7 million.


Non-operating Income and Expenses


Non-operating Income and Expense -- Non-operating income and expense consists primarily of net costs associated with financing and cash management activities,
loss from impairment of investments and equity in net loss of affiliate. Net costs associated with financing and cash management activities include Interest income,
Interest expense and Loss from de-leveraging transactions.


Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. Interest expense decreased $5.6 million, de-leveraging charges decreased $15.4 million
and our equity in net loss of XM Canada decreased $3.5 million, which was partially offset by a $3.0 million decrease in interest income, a $4.2
million decrease in other income and a $1.7 million increase in the minority interest of our variable interest entity subject to consolidation. The
decrease in Interest expense during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 was primarily the result of $9.9
million decrease in de-leveraging related costs recognized as Interest expense. The decrease in Interest income was primarily the result of lower
average cash balances during the three months ended March 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we
began recognizing our 23.33% proportional share of XM Canada’s results, which for the three months ended March 31, 2007, resulted in the
recognition of a $5.4 million net loss.
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Adjusted Operating Loss


Adjusted Operating Loss -- Adjusted operating loss (formerly Adjusted EBITDA) is net loss before interest income, interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization, loss from de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investments, equity in net loss of affiliate, minority interest, other income (expense) and
stock-based compensation. This non-GAAP measure should be used in addition to, but not as a substitute for, the analysis provided in the statement of operations. We
believe Adjusted operating loss is a useful measure of our operating performance and improves comparability between periods. Adjusted operating loss is a significant
basis used by management to measure our success in acquiring, retaining and servicing subscribers because we believe this measure provides insight into our ability to
grow revenues in a cost-effective manner. We believe Adjusted operating loss is a calculation used as a basis for investors, analysts and credit rating agencies to
evaluate and compare the periodic and future operating performances and value of our company and similar companies in our industry.


Because we have funded the build-out of our system through the raising and expenditure of large amounts of capital, our results of operations reflect significant charges
for depreciation, amortization and interest expense. We believe Adjusted operating loss provides helpful information about the operating performance of our business
apart from the expenses associated with our physical plant or capital structure. We believe it is appropriate to exclude depreciation, amortization and interest expense
due to the variability oftbe timing of capital expenditures, estimated useful lives and fluctuation in interest rates. We exclude income taxes due to our tax losses and
timing differences, so that certain periods will reflect a tax benefit, while others an expense, neither of which is reflective of our operating results. Because of the variety
of equity awards used by companies, the varying methodologies for determining stock-based compensation expense and the subjective assumptions involved in those
determinations, we believe excluding stock-based compensation expense enhances the ability of managemant and investors to compare our core operating results with
those of similar companies in our industry.


Equity in net loss of affiliate represents our share of losses in a non-US affiliate in a similar business and over which we exercise significant influence, but do not
con~’oL Management believes it is appropriate to exclude this loss when evaluating the performance of our own operations. Additionally, we exclude loss from d¢-
leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investments, minority interest and other income (expense) because these items represent activity outside of our core
business operations and can distort period to period comparisons of operating performance.


There are limitations associated with the use of Adjusted operating loss in evaluating our company compared with net loss, which reflects overall financial performance.
Adjusted operating loss does not reflect the impact on our financial results of (1) interest income, (2) interest expense, (3) income taxes, (4) depreciation and
amortization, (5) loss from de-leveraging transactions, (6) loss from impairment of investments, (7) equity in net loss of affiliate, (8) minority interest, (9) other income
(expense) and (10) stock-based compensation, which are included in the computation of net loss. Users that wish to compare and evaluate our company based on our net
loss should refer to our unandited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Adjusted operating loss does not purport to represent operating loss or cash flow
from operating activities, as those terms are defined under United States generally accepted accounting principles, and should not be considered as an alternative to
those measurements as an indicator of our performance. In addition, our measure of Adjusted operating loss may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies. Adjusted operating loss is continuing to decrease as a percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis.


¯ Three Months Ended: March 31, 2007 vs. March 31, 2006. Adjusted operating loss decreased by $21.8 million or 45%, and has decreased as a
percentage of total revenue to 10% from 23% during the three months ended March 3 l, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The decrease as a
percentage of total revenue reflects our ability te leverage greater revenue across our fixed cost base. The decrease in Adjusted operating loss is
primarily related to the $48.4 million increase in Subscription revenue, $1.1 million increase in Activation revenue, $4.0 million increase in Other
revenue, $1.0 million increase in Net ad sales revenue, $2.8 million decrease in Amortization of GM liability, $11.9 million decrease in Subsidies &
distribution and $3.7 million decrease in Research & development. The overall decrease was offset partially by a $37.6 million increase in Cost of
revenue (less $0.5 million related to Stock-based compensation) and $16.6 million increase in General & administrative (less $1.0 million related to
Stock-based compensation).


Liquidity and Capital Resources


Overview


The growth in demand for our products and services has required and will continue to require us to invest significant amounts in our business. Since inception through
March 31, 2007, we have raised proceeds of $4.6 billion, net of offering costs,
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through equity and debt offerings. Our ability to become profitable depends upon many factors, some of which are identified below under the caption entitled "Future
Operating Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements. "Our principal sources of liquidity are our existing cash and cash equivalents and cash receipts for pre-paid
subscriptions. We also have access to significant liquidity through our bank revolving credit facility and our GM credit facility, as amended in April 2006. We also have
significant outstanding contracts and commercial commitments that need to be paid in cash or through credit facilities over the next several years. These contractual
commitments are comprised of subsidies and distribution costs, rights and royalty fees, revenue share arrangements, programming costs, repayment of long-term debt,
satellite related costs, lease payments and service payments. Our ability to become profitable also depends upon other factors identified below under the caption entitled
"Future Operating Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements. "


The following table presents a summa~ of our cash flows, beginning and ending cash balances for three months ended March 3 !, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands, except
percentages):


Cash flows used in operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities
Cash fl~ws provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash e, quivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period


Not Meaningful


Three months ended
March 31~ 2007 - 2006


2007 2006 $ %
$ (43,132)~ $ (161,134) $ llg,O02 -73%


(96,302) (30,160) (66,142) 219%
240,609 1.a.123 239~.486 NM~,’


101,175 (190,171) 291,346 -153%


$ 319,391. $ 520,820 ~) -3.._~9%


Operating.4ctivities -- Operating activities primarily consist of net loss adjusted for certain non-cash items including depreciation, amortization, net non-cash loss on
conversion of notes, non-cash loss on equity-based investments, stock-based compensation and the effect of changes in working capital.


¯ For the three months ended March 31, 2007, net cash used in operating activities was $43.1 million, consisting of a net loss of $122.4 million
adjusted for net non-cash expenses of $75.1 million and $4.3 million provided by working capital as well as other operating activities. Included in
cash provided by working capital is a $26.5 million increase in Subscriber deferred revenue, as a result of subscribers signing up for discounted
annual and multi-year pre-payment plans and a $16.2 million increase in Accrued interest; offset by a $43.7 million increase in Prepaid programming
content due primarily to the $60 million prepayment of our obligation to MLB for the 2007 season.


For the three months ended March 31, 2006, cash used in operating activities was $16 I. 1 million, consisting of a net loss of $149.2 million adjusted
for net non-cash expenses of $93.8 million, $4.4 million gain on sale of fixed assets and $101.4 million used in working capital as well as other
operating activities. Included in cash used in working capital is a $113.8 million decrease in Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
due primarily to the effort to reduce our previous year’s balance to more normative levels, offset partially by a $22.5 million increase in Subscriber
deferred revenue, as a result of subscribers signing up for discounted annual and multi-year pre-payment plans and a $14.7 million increase in
Accrued interest.


Investing Activities-- Investing activities primarily consist of capital expenditures and proceeds from the sale of equipment.


¯ For the three months ended March 31, 2007, net cash used in investing activities was $96.3 million, consisting of $98.0 million in capital
expenditures for the construction of XM-5, computer systems infrastructure and building improvements, offset partially by $1.7 million in proceeds
received from the maturity of restricted investments.


For the three months ended March 31, 2006, cash used in investing activities was $30.2 million, primarily consisting of $37.2 million in capital
expenditures for the construction of XM-4, computer systems infrastructure and building improvements, offset by $7.0 million in proceeds received
from the sale of terrestrial repeaters to XM Canada.
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Financing Activities ~ Financing activities primarily consist of proceeds from debt and equity financings, issuance of common stock pursuant to stock option exercises,
and repayments of debt.


¯ For the three months ended March 3 l, 2007, net cash provided by financing activities was $240.6 million; consisting of $288.5 million of proceeds
received in conjunction with the sale-leaseback of the transponders on the XM-4 satellite and $1.9 million in proceeds from the exercise of warrunts
and stock options; offset partially by the repayment of $38.9 million related to our corporate headquarters mortgages and $3.0 million in premiums
associated with the above-mentioned retired mortgages, as well as $4.0 mi]liun in capital lease payments and $3.9 million in deferred financing costs.


For the three months ended March 31, 2006, cash provided by financing activities was $1. l million, consisting of $3.1 million in proceeds from the
exercise of warrants and stock options, offset partially by the repayment of $2.0 million of miscellaneous debt.


Future Operating Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements


Our projected funding requirements are based on our current business plan, which in turn is based on our operating experience to date and our available resources. We
are pursuing a business plan designed to increase subscribers and revenues while maintaining reasonable subscriber acquisition costs in the long-term. Our plan
contemplates our focusing on the new automobile market where we have relationships with automobile manufacturers, the continuing introduction of iunovative yet
affordable technology in the retail aftermarket and the use of our more productive distribution channels.


Provided that we meet the revenue, expense and cash flow projections of our business plan, we expect to be fully funded and will not need to add additional liquidity to
continue operations. Our business plan is based on estimates regarding expected future costs and expected future revenue. Our costs may exceed or our revenues may
fall short of our estimates, our estimates may change, and future developments may affect our estimates. Any oftbese factors may increase our need for funds, which
would require us to seek additional financing to continue implementing our current business plan. In addition, we may seek additional financing, such as the sale of
additional equity and debt securities, to undertake initiatives not contemplated by our current business plan or for other business reasons.


In the event of unfavorable future developments we may not be able to raise additional funds on favorable terms or at all. Our ability to obtain additional financing
depends on several factors; including future market conditions, our success or lack of success in developing, implementing and marketing our satellite audio service and
data services, our future creditworthiness and restrictions contained in agreements with our investors or lenders. If we fail to obtain necessary financing on a timely
basis, a number of adverse effects could occur, or we may have to revise our business plan.


Our merger agreement with Sirius Satellite Radio restricts our ability to incur additional debt financing beyond existing credit facilities (or equivalent funding) and
limits the amount of new equity we can issue, in each case without approval from Sirius. Sirius is under similar restrictions not to incur new debt or issue additional
equity beyond agreed limits without our approval.


On February 13, 2007, we entered into a sale-leaseback transaction with respect to the transponders on the XM-4 satellite, which was launched in October 2006 and
placed into service during December 2006. We received net proceeds of $28g.5 million from the transaction, of which $44 million (inclusive of interest) was used to
retire outstanding mortgages on real property and the remainder of which provides additional liquidity available for working capital and general corporate purposes. For
a further discussion, see Note 6, to the Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. to Part I of this Form 10-Q under the heading
"Capital Lease - XM-4 Satellite."


Commitments and Contingencies -- We are obligated to make significant payments under a variety of contracts and other commercial arrangements, including the
following:


¯ XM-4 Satellite Lease obligation -- In February 2007, we entered into a sale-leaseback transaction of the transponders on the XM-4 satellite. Under
the terms of the lease, we are obligated to make payments that total $437.4 million over the nine year base lease term, For a further discussion, see
Note 6, to the Notes to the unandited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. to Part I of this Form 10-Q under the heading,
"Capital Lease - XM-4 Satellite ".


Programming and Marketing Agreements-- We have entered into certain programming and marketing agreements that broaden our content offering
and increase brand awareness. Under the terms of these agreements, we are obligated to make payments that total $85.2 rmllion in the remaining nine
months of 2007, $96.5 million in 2008, $71.3 million in 2009, $41.3 million in 2010, $38.5 million in 2011 and $72.9 million in 2012 and beyond.
These payments include fixed payments, advertising commitments and revenue sharing arrangements.
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¯       Major League Baseball* -- We have a multi-year agreement with Major League Baseball" ("MLB") to broadcast MLB games live nationwide. In the


first quarter of 2007, we made a payment in the amount of $60 million for the 2007 season and will pay $60 million per year thereafter through 2012.
MLB has the option to extend the agreement for the 2013, 2014 and 2015 seasons at the same $60 million annual compensation rate. We will also
make incentive payments to MLB for XM subscribers obtained through MLB and baseball club verifiable promotional programs. No stock or
warrants were included in this agreement. The agreement requires us to deposit $120 million into escrow or furnish other credit support in such
amount. In July 2006, we furnished a $120 million surety bond to MLB as part of an amendment to the agreement with MLB that permitted us to
provide various typas of credit support in lieu of its $ ! 20 million escrow deposit requirement.


Satellite Contracts -- We successfully launched our fourth satellite ("XM-4") into geosynchronous transfer orbit on October 30, 2006. Following
positioning in geostationary orbit and extensive in-orbit testing, the handover of XM-4 occurred in December 2006. We entered into a sale leaseback
transaction for the transponders on XM-4 in February 2007. Under our existing satellite construction and launch contracts, remaining costs for the
cons~raction and launch of XM-5 are expected to be approximately $37 million in 2007 and $31 million in 2008. These costs exclude financing
charges on certain amounts deferred prior to launch, in-orbit performance incentives and launch insurance. Our contractual agreements for our
satellites are more fully described in Note 12 of the Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. to Part I of this
Form 10-Q under the heading" Satellite System ."


General Motors Distribution Agreement-- We have a long-term distribution agreement with General Motors ("GM"). The agreement had been
assigned by GM to its subsidiary OnStar, but was assigned back to GM in June 2006. During the term of the agreement, which expires twelve years
from the commencement date of our commercial operations in 2001, GM has agreed to distribute the service to the exclusion of other S-band satellite
digital radio services. The agreement was amended in June 2002 and January 2003 to clarify certain terms in the agreement, including extending the
dates when certain initial payments were due to GM and confirming the date of our commencement of commeroial operations, and to provide that we
could make certain payments to GM in shares of our Class A common stock. Our total cash payment obligations were not increased. Under the
distribution agreement, we are required to make a subscriber acquisition payment to GM for each person who becomes and remains an XM
subscriber through the purchase of a GM vehicle.


In April 2006, we amended the distribution agreement pursuant to which we made a prepayment in May 2006 in the amount of $237 million to GM to retire at a
discount approximately $320 nullion of the remaining fixed payment obligations that would have come due in 2007, 2008, and 2009. The April 2006 amendments
eliminated our ability to make up to $35 million of subscriber acquisition payments in shares of our Class A common stock. In addition, our credit facility with GM
was increased from $100 million to $150 million. The facility will terminate, and all draws will become due, upon the earlier of December 31, 2009 and six months
after we achieve investment grade status. The amendments also provide that the security arrangements on the GM facility will be unsecured until the first draw under
the bank credit facility and then secured on a second priority basis behind the secured indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the bank credit facility. As of
March 31, 2007, we have $26.0 million of current prepaid expense to related party and $143.1 million of non-current prepaid expense to related party in connection
with the guaranteed fixed payments, as the result era prepayment of $237 million to GM in May 2006.


In order to encourage the broad installation of XM radios in GM vehicles, we have agreed to subsidize a portion of the cost of XM radios, and to make incentive
payments to GM when the owners of GM vehicles with installed XM radios become subscribers to our service. We must also share with GM a percentage oftbe
subscription revenue attributable to GM vehicles with installed XM radios, which percentage increases until there are more than eight million GM vehicles with
installed XM radios (at which point the percentage remains constant). Accordingly, the revenue share expense is recognized as the related subscription revenue is
earned. As of Maroh 31, 2007, we have $45.0 million of current prepaid expense to related party and $12.3 million of non-current prepaid expense to related party in
connection with this revenue sharing arrangement. As part of the agreement, GM provides certain call-center related services directly to XM subscribers who am also
GM customers for which we must reimburse GM. The agreement is subject to renegotiation at any time based upon the installation of radios that are compatible with
a common receiver platform or capable of receiving Sirius Satellite Radio’s service. The agreement was subject to renegotiation in November 2005, and will be
subject to renegotiation at two-year intervals thereafter, if GM did or does not achieve and maintain specified installation levels of GM vehicles capable of receiving
our service. The specified installation level of 1,240,000 units by November 2005 was achieved in 2004. The specified installation levels in future years are the lesser
of 600,000 units per year or amounts proportionate to target market
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shares in the satellite digital radio service market. There can be no assurances as to the outcome of any such renegotiations. GM’s exclusivity obligations will
discontinue if, by November 2007 and at two-year intervals thereafter, we fail to achieve and maintain specified minimum market share levels in the satellite digital
radio service market. We were significantly exceeding the minimum levels at March 31, 2007. For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, we incurred
total costs of $61.3 million and $56.9 million, respectively, under the distribution agreement.


Long-term debt -- For a further discussion of long-term debt, see Note 6 of the Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements in Item 1.
to Part I of this Form 10-Q. Based on the various terms of our long-term debt, our ability to redeem any long-term debt is limited. We have and may
continue to take advantage of opportunities to reduce our level of indebtedness in exchange for issuing equity securities, if these transactions can be
completed on favorable terms.


Related Party Transactions


For a discussion of related party transactions, see Note 10 of the Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. of this Form 10-Q.


Recent Accounting Pronouncements


For a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 of the Notes to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. of
this Form 10-Q.


ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK


Fair Value of Financial Instruments-- The carrying value of the following financial instruments approximates fair value because of their short maturities: cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from related parties, accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued satellite liability, due to related parties and restricted
investments.


The estimated fair value of our long-term debt is determined by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently offered to the Company for
similar debt instruments of comparable maturities by the Company’s bankers or quoted market prices at the reporting date for the Iraded debt securities. As of
March 31, 2007, the carrying value of our long-term debt was $1,493 million, compared to an estimated fair value of $1,539 million. The estimated fair value of our
long-term debt is not necessarily indicative of the amount which could be realized in a current market exchange.


Interest Rate Risk ~ At March 31, 2007, we had approximately $1,493 million of total debt, of which $1,293 million was fixed-rate debt and $200 million was
variable-rate debt. Under our current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate fluctuations. An increase of 100
basis points in the interest rate applicable to the $200 million of variable-rate debt at March 31, 2007 would result in an increase of approximately $2 million in our
annual interest expense. We believe that our exposure to interest rate risk is not material to our results of operations.


ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES


Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the
end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls
and procedures are effective. During the three months ended March 31, 2007, no changes were made in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II: OTHER INFORMATION


ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS


We are currently subject to claims, potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or party to legal proceedings, in various matters described below. In addition, in the
ordinary course of business we become aware from time to time of claims, potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or may become party to legal proceedings
arising out of various matters, such as contract matters, employment related matters, issues relating to our repeater network, product liability issues, copyright, patent,
trademark or other intellectual property matters and other federal regulatory matters.


Litigation and Arbitration


Securities class action -- A consolidated action was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia on behalfofa purported nationwide class of
purchasers of XM’s common stock between July 28, 2005 and February 16, 2006 against XM and its chief executive officer. The complaint, as amended in September
2006, sought an unspecified amount of damages and claimed violations of Sections l 0(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule l 0b-5 thereunder,
alleging various statements made during the putative class period by us and our management failed to project accurately or disclose in a timely manner the amount of
higher costs to obtain subscribers during the fourth quarter of 2005. On March 28, 2007, our motion to dismiss the action was granted and the case dismissed with
prejudice. The court concluded that "plaintiffs have failed to identify any materially misleading statements or omissions that are actionable under Section 10(b)" of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.


Atlantic Recording Corporation, B MG Music, Capital Records, Inc., Elektra Entertainment Group Inc., Interscope Records, Motown Record Company, L.P., Sony
BMG Music Entertainment, UMG Recordings, Inc., Virgin Records, lnc and Warner Bros. Records Inc. v. XM Satellite Radio Inc. -- Plaintiffs filed this action in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on May 16, 2006. The complaint seeks monetary damages and equitable relief, alleging that recently
introduced XM radios that also have MP3 functionality infringe upon plaintiffs’ copyrighted sound recordings. Our motion to dismiss this matter was denied in January
2007.


We believe these allegations are without merit and that these products comply with applicable copyright law, including the Audio Home Recording Act, and we intend
to vigorously defend the matter. Music publishing companies have filed a lawsuit with similar allegations. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of
these matters, or the significance, if any, to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


Matthew Enderlin v. XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite Radio Inc. -- Plaintiff filed this action in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Arkansas on Januaq, 10, 2006 on behalf of a purported nationwide class of all XM subscribers. The complaint alleges that we engaged in a deceptive trade
practice under Arkansas and other state laws by representing that our music channels are commercial-free. We have filed an answer to the complaint, and instituted
arbitration with the American Arbitration Association pursuant to the compulsory arbitration clause in our customer service agreement. The arbitration has been stayed
pending judicial determination of Enderlin’s objections to the arbitration. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit held on April 17, 2007 that those
objections are to be decided by the trial court, not the arbitrator .We believe the suit is without merit and intend to vigorously defend the matter. There can be no
assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to our business, consolidated resalts of operations or financial position.


Copyright Royalty Board Arbitration-- We are participating in a Copyright Royalty Board (CRB) proceeding in order to set the royalty rate payable by XM under the
statutory license covering our performance of sound recordings over the XM system for the six year period starting in January 2007. XM and Sirius have recently filed
their direct cases with the CRB proposing a rate of 0.88% of each of their adjusted gross revenues for this statutory license. SoundExchange, a collective operated on
behalf of owners of copyrighted recordings, such as the major record labels, has filed a direct case proposing a rate increasing from 10% of adjusted gross revenues for
the first year of the license increasing each year to over 23% during the final year of the license term; their requested guaranteed minimums could result in a rate in
excess of the foregoing percentages. We are also participating in a concurrent proceeding to set the royalty rate payable by XM under the statutory license covering our
performance of sound recordings over XM channels transmitted over the DIRECTV satellite television system. We anticipate that hearings in these matters will lake
place in early 2007, and that the CRB will render its decision by the end of 2007. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of these matters, or their
significance to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.
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Regulatory Matters and Inquiries


Federal Communication Commission ("FCC")


FCC Receiver Matter -- As we have previously disclosed, we have received inquiries from, and responded to, the Federal Communications Commission regarding FM
modulator wireless transmitters in various XM radios not in compliance with permissible emission limits. No health or safety issues have been involved with these
wireless XM radios.


We have implemented a series of design and’installation modifications and we have obtained new certifications for numerous models of modified XM radios using our
new SureConnect technology. In addition, we have implemented a regulatory compliance plan, including the appointment of an FCC regulatory compliance officer, to
monitor FCC regulatory compliance, specifically with reference to the design, verification/certification, and production of XM radio receivers.


We have been submitting documents to the FCC and are in discussions with the FCC to resolve this matter. We cannot predict at this time the extent of any ftulher
actions that we will need to undertake or any financial obligations we may incur.


There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


FCC Repeater Network Matter-- In October 2006, we filed for both a 30-day Special Temporary Authority ("STA") and a 1 g0-day STA with respect to our terrestrial
repeater network, seeking authority to continue to operate our entire repeater network despite the fact that the technical characteristics of certain repeaters, as built,
differ from the technical characteristics in the original STAs granted for our repeater network. These differences include some repeaters not being built in the exact
locations, or with the same antenna heights, power levels, or antenna characteristics than set forth in the earlier STAs. Prior to making these recem filings, we reduced
the power or discontinued operation of certain repeaters. As a result, we believe that service quality in portions of the affected metro areas has been somewhat reduced,
including in terms of more frequent interruptions and/or occasional outages to the service. There has been no impact on the satellite signal. We continue to hold
meetings with the staff of the FCC regarding these matters. In February 2007, we received a letter of inquiry from the FCC relating to these matters, to which we have
responded. This proceeding may result in the imposition of financial penalties against us or adverse changes to our repeater network resulting from having repeaters
turned offer otherwise modified in a manner that would reduce service quality in the affected areas. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this
matter, or its significance to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


These recent STA requests are distinct from (and if granted would modify) the STAs originally granted by the FCC relating to our commencing and continuing
operation of the repeater network. As we have been disclosing for many years, the FCC has not yet issued final rules permitting us (or Sirius) to deploy terrestrial
repeaters, and we have been deploying and operating our repeater network based on those early STAs and requests we have filed previously to extend the time periods
of those STAs, which have expired. We (and Sirius) and others have been requesting that the FCC establish final rules for repeater deployment.


Federal Trade Commission ("FTC")


FTC Inquiry-- On April 25, 2006, we received a letter from the Federal Trade Commission stating that they are conducting an inquiry into whether our activities are in
compliance with various acts, including the FTC Act, the Telemarketing Sales Rule, the Truth in Lending Act and the CAN-SPAM Act. This letter requests information
about a variety of our marketing activities, including free trial periods, rebates, telemarketing activities, billing and customer complaints.


We have been submitting documents to the agency in response to the letter and are cooperating fully with this inquiry. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate
outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC")


SEC Inquiry -- As previously disclosed, the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") has requested that we voluntarily provide documents to the
Staff, including information relating to our subscriber targets, costs associated with attempting to reach those targets during the third and fourth quarters of 2005, the
departure of Mr. Roberts from our board of directors, our historic practices regarding stock options and certain other matters. In this connection we retained outside
counsel, who engaged an independent accounting advisor, to conduct a review of our stock option practices. The inquiry did not reveal the existence of material errors
in any prior financial statements.
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We have been submitting documents to the SEC in response to their requests and are cooperating fully with this inquiry. There can be no assurance regarding the
ultimate outcome of these SEC matters, or the significance, if any, to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.


ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS


Purchases of Equity Securities


The following purchases of the Company’s Class A common stock were completed during the three months ended March 31, 2007.


January 1, 2007 - Januaw 3t, 2007
February 1, 2007 - February 28, 2007
March 1,2007 - March 31, 2007


Total Number of Average Price
Shares Purchased (1) Paid per Share


1,281 $ 13.47


Total Number of Maximum Number
Shares Purchased (or Approximate Dollar Value)
as Part of Publidy of Shores that May Yet Be
Anounced Plans or Purchased Under the


Programs Plans or Pro[grams


(1) Represents the number of shares acquired as payment by employees of applicable statutory minimum withholdtng taxes owed upon vesting of res~cted stock granted under the Company’s 1998 Shares
Award Plan.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS


Exhibit
No~


2.1


4.1


10.1


10.2


De~criptlon
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 19, 2007, by and among Sirius Satellite Radio Inc., Vernon Merger Corporation and XM Satellite
Radio Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2007).
Amendment No. 3, dated as of February 19, 2007, to the Rights Agreement, dated as of Augast 2, 2002, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and
Computershare Investor Services, LLC, as successor rights agent to Equiserve Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2007).
Lease Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2007, by and between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, as Owner Trustee, and XM Satellite Radio Inc.
(incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2007).
Participation Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2007, among XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Satellite Radio Inc., Satellite Leasing (702-4),
LLC, as Owner Participant, Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, as Owner Trustee and Lessor, and The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, and the note
purchasers named therein (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2007).


10.3


10.4


10.5


10.6
10.7


10.8


10.9


10.10


31.1
31.2
31.3
31.4
32.1


32.2


Transponder Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2007, by and between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank Northwest in
its capacity as Owner Trustee (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2007).
Guaranty, dated as of February 13, 2007, made by XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Equipment Leasing LLC and XM Radio Inc. (incorporated by
reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2007).
Indenture, dated as of February 13, 2007, between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, as Owner Trustee, and The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee
(incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February t4, 2007).
Form of 10% senior secured note (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2007).
Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of April 4, 2007, between Gary Parsons and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite
Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 10, 2007).
Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of April 4, 2007, between Hugh Panero and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite
Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 10, 2007).
Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of April 4, 2007, between Nathaniel Davis and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM
Satellite Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 10, 2007).
Form of Severance Agreement for executive officers other than Chairman, CEO and President and CO0 (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed April 10, 2007).
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 oftbe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section
1350).
Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section
1350).


5O







Table of Contents


SIGNATURES


Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.


Date: May 2, 2007


Date: May 2, 2007


Date: May 2, 2007


Date: May 2, 2007


XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC.


(Registrant)
/S/HUGH PANERO


Hugh Panero
Chief Executive Officer


(principal executive officer)


/S/JOSEPH J. Etrm~u~
Joseph J. Euteneuer


Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)


XM SATELLITE RADIO INC.


(RegistranO
/S/HUOH PA~RO


Hugh Panero
Chief Executive Officer


(principal executive officer)


/s/JOSEPH J.
Joseph J. Euteneuer


Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)







Exhibit 31.1


CERTIFICATIONS


I, Hugh Panero, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:


1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10=Q of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.;


2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;


Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a- 15(e) and 15d- 15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(0 and 15d-15(0) for the registrant and
have:


b)


c)


d)


Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;


Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;


Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and


Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):


a)


h)


All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and


Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.


Date: May 2, 2007 Is/HUOH PAN, gO


Hugh Panero
Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 31,2


CERTIFICATIONS


I, Hugh Panero, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:


1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of XM Satellite Radio Inc.;


2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light oftbe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;


Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d~l 5(0) for the registrant and
have:


a)


b)


c)


d)


Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;


Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;


Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and


Disclosed in this report any change in the regislrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registmnt’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):


a)


b)


All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and


Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.


Date: May 2, 2007 15[ HUGH PA~ZO
Hugh Panero
Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.3


CERTIFICATIONS


I, Joseph Euteneuer, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:


1.    I have reviewed this quar~rly report on Form 10-Q of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.;


2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light oftbe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;


Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-I 5(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(0) for the registrant and
have:


c)


d)


Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;


Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extamal purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;


Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure conl~-ols and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and


Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):


a)


b)


All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and


Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.


Date: May 2, 2007 /sl JOSEPH J. E~
Joseph J. Euteneuer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer







Exhibit 31.4


CERTIFICATIONS


I, Joseph Euteneuer, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:


1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of XM Satellite Radio Inc.;


2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;


Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-I 5(e) and 15d-15(0)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(0) for the regislrant and
have:


a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;


b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;


Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and


d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regist~mt’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.


The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee oftbe registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):


a)


b)


All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and


Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.


Date; May 2, 2007 /s/JosEpu J. EUT~S~a


Joseph J. Euteneuer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial OITlcer







Exhibit 32.1


Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002


The certification set forth below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission solely for the purpose of complying with Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code. This certification is not deemed to be filed pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and does not constitute a part of the
Quarterly Report on Form l 0-Q accompanying this statement.


The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice Presidem and Chief Financial Officer of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., each hereby certifies
that, to his knowledge on the date hereof:


(a) the Form 10-Q of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. for the period ended March 31, 2007 filed on the date hereof with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and


(b) information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.


/S/HU~H PANERO
Hugh Panero
Chief Executive Ofl’~er
May 2, 2007


/S/JOSEPH J. Etrm~ztr~
Joseph J. Euteneuer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 2, 2007


A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and will be retained by XM Satellite Radio
Holdings Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.







Exhibit 32.2


Writteu Statement of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002


The certification set forth below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission solely for the purpose of complying with Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code. This certification is not deemed to be flied pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and does not constitute a part of the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q accompanying this statement.


The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of XM Satellite Radio Inc., each hereby certifies that, to his
knowledge on the date hereof:


(a) the Form 10-Q of XM Satellite Radio Inc. for the period ended March 31,2007 filed on the date hereof with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
"Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and


(b) information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of XM Satellite Radio Inc.


/s/Hu~u PRimo
Hugh Panero
Chief Executive Officer
May 2, 2007


IS/JOSEPH J. EUTENEUI~
Joseph J. Euteneuer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 2, 2007


A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to XM Satellite Radio Inc. and will be retained by XM Satellite Radio Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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